
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 26 February 2019

Council
Wednesday 6 March 2019, 7.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor John Crouch (Chair) Councillor Neil Schofield (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Mary Bainbridge Councillor Peter Bales
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor John Colhoun Councillor John Cook
Councillor Joseph Cowell Councillor Len Davies
Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Bill Finlay
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Mark Fryer
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Konrad Hansen
Councillor Hilary Harrington Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor Alan Hedworth Councillor Vaughan Hodgson
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Mark Jenkinson Councillor Frank Johnston
Councillor Angela Kendall Councillor Peter Kendall
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Tony Lywood
Councillor Patricia Macdonald Councillor Louise Maguire
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Eric Nicholson
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Martin Pugmire
Councillor Joe Sandwith Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Christine Smith Councillor Stephen Stoddart
Councillor Celia Tibble Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson Councillor Janice Wood
Councillor Martin Wood

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Page 1



Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 14)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting held on 30 
January 2019.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and 
public should be excluded.

5. Questions and Petitions  
To answer questions under Procedural Rule No. 4.16 from members of the 
public and from Councillors under Procedural Rule No. 4.17.2 and to receive 
Petitions under Access to Information Rules.

6. Notices of Motion  
Councillor B Miskelly submitted the following Motion – 

‘I call upon Allerdale Borough Council to reaffirm and further develop its position 
of responsibility to provide an environment free from unfair treatment, 
harassment, bullying, victimisation or other forms of illegal discrimination against 
all disabled persons and to ensure that we treat disabled persons with the 
utmost dignity and respect’. 

7. Councillor Speeches  
To hear speeches (not exceeding 5 minutes each), for up to a specified period of 
15 minutes, from individual members on a local issue in the Member’s Ward, of 
which 24 hours’ notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

8. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  (Pages 
15 - 16)

9. Portfolio Holder Reports  (Pages 17 - 26)
To consider reports from Members of the Executive.

10. Executive Minutes  (Pages 27 - 32)
To note the contents of the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 16 
January 2019.

11. Reference from Executive 25 February 2019 - Budget 2019-20 - Revenue 
and Capital  (Pages 33 - 108)

12. Council Tax Resolution Report 2019/20  (Pages 109 - 122)

13. Reference from Audit Committee 25 February 2019 - Treasury Management 

Page 2



Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement 2019-20  (Pages 123 - 172)

14. Pay Policy Statement 2019/2020  (Pages 173 - 182)

15. Reference from Executive 25 February 2019 - Council Plan 2019-23  (Pages 
183 - 220)

16. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 221 - 224)

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 22 May 2019, 6.30 pm

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



At a meeting of the Council held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington on 
Wednesday 30 January 2019 at 7.00 pm

Members

Councillor John Crouch (Chair) Councillor Neil Schofield (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Mary Bainbridge Councillor Peter Bales
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor John Colhoun Councillor John Cook
Councillor Joseph Cowell Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Bill Finlay
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Alan Hedworth
Councillor Vaughan Hodgson Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Mark Jenkinson Councillor Frank Johnston
Councillor Angela Kendall Councillor Peter Kendall
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Tony Lywood
Councillor Louise Maguire Councillor Anthony Markley
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes Councillor Billy Miskelly
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Christine Smith Councillor Stephen Stoddart
Councillor Celia Tibble Councillor Philip Tibble

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Tony Annison, Councillor Carole 
Armstrong, Councillor Len Davies, Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston, Councillor Mark 
Fryer, Councillor Joe Holliday, Councillor Patricia Macdonald, Councillor Jacqueline 
Mounsey, Councillor Ron Munby MBE, Councillor Eric Nicholson, Councillor Martin 
Pugmire, Councillor Joe Sandwith, Councillor David Wilson, Councillor Janice Wood 
and Councillor Martin Wood

Staff Present

B Carlin, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, L Jardine, K Magnay, C Nicholson, 
G Roach, A Seekings, S Sewell, P Wood and P Young

Minute Silence 

Council held a minute silence in memory of former Councillor Sam Standage 
and Councillor Denis Robertson. 

330. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

331. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



332. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

There were no items on the agenda for which the press and public should be 
excluded.

333. Questions and Petitions 

None received.

334. Notices of Motion 

1. Councillor A Smith moved the following Motion – 

‘Councillors express their concern for the recent rise in homelessness cases in 
the borough. This Council alone has dealt with 362 cases in 2018/19 which is 
a 40% increase over the year before, with still three months of the year to go. 
 
There are many reasons why people become homeless - often very personal 
ones. 
However, Allerdale Borough Council has noticed the negative impact of the 
government’s reform of benefits in Universal Credit (UC), with people losing 
tenancies and landlords unwilling to take on UC tenants, due to delays in 
payments. Officers also find the UC system, through the Job Centre, has made 
it harder to work with case officers to help those facing homelessness. 
 
Councillors also believe that homelessness cases have also increased due to 
cuts to social services as a result of the government’s austerity measures, 
meaning more people are not receiving the support they need. 
 
Therefore this Council calls on the government to make further reforms to 
Universal Credit so that it no longer contributes to people facing losing their 
home. This Council also calls on the government to reverse the devastating 
cuts in social services so that the most vulnerable people in our communities 
receive the help they need’.

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes seconded the motion.
 
Councillor M Jenkinson said the Government had recognised the faults in 
Universal Credit but that changes would take time. He said it had been 30 
months now that Universal Credit had been in the Borough and that this was the 
first debate had by Council and which appeared to be an attack on the job 
centre, who were only doing the job they were paid to do. Councillor Jenkinson 
said if Councillor A Smith had brought a solution for debate he would have been 
more likely to support it.

Councillor B Finlay moved an amendment to include the following as part of 
Councillor Smith’s motion;

‘For its part and in recognition of the fact that 357 dwellings in the borough have 
stood empty for 2 or more years, this Council resolves to establish with urgency 
a programme to approach all owners of these empty properties to encourage 
them to bring them back into beneficial use, and in cases where owners prefer 

Page 6



to sell their properties, to use the Council's own capital resources to acquire and 
as necessary renovate those dwellings, reserving a sufficient number to 
accommodate homeless cases, and releasing the remainder back into the 
general rental and home ownership markets’.

This was seconded by Councillor S Stoddart.

Councillor C Tibble said this authority had a good record of trying to help around 
the subject of empty homes. Policies had been put in place and money and 
advice had been offered to homeowners in the past but people were still 
reluctant to bring empty homes back in to use, it seemed they did not want the 
burden of tenants.

Councillor M Jenkinson said he was not against the Council gaining properties 
but said ‘we have the stick but where is the carrot’. 

A vote was taken on Councillor B Finlay’s amendment becoming the 
substantive motion, 28 in Favour, 0 against and 9 abstentions. The motion was 
carried.

Councillor T Lywood said the reasons for homelessness were always complex. 
Since 2010 the national figures had tripled, a direct result of austerity. He said it 
was time it stopped and that public services were funded. 

Councillor B Miskelly said that Universal Credit was a cruel system.

Councillor P Bales said the problem was exasperated because of cuts to the 
Police and the bedroom tax.

Councillor B Cannon said that Council needed to find a common ground, if 
everyone was now saying that Universal Credit hadn’t worked then the Council 
could only do so much. It was the system that had been broken. Council should 
stand shoulder to shoulder to speak to Government and ask that they fix it. 

Councillor P Kendall said he was horrified at the increase in the need for 
foodbanks and that it was the system of Government that had caused it. 

Councillor M Bainbridge said as the Ward member for St Michaels she saw first-
hand on a daily basis the effects of Universal Credit, and as a Council we 
should be doing all that we can.

Councillor A Pitcher said he was in support in principle but moved an 
amendment to include the addition moved by Councillor B Finlay and to remove 
the following;

‘However, Allerdale Borough Council has noticed the negative impact of the 
government’s reform of benefits in Universal Credit (UC), with people losing 
tenancies and landlords unwilling to take on UC tenants, due to delays in 
payments. Officers also find the UC system, through the Job Centre, has made 
it harder to work with case officers to help those facing homelessness. 
 

Page 7



Councillors also believe that homelessness cases have also increased due to 
cuts to social services as a result of the government’s austerity measures, 
meaning more people are not receiving the support they need. 
 
Therefore this Council calls on the government to make further reforms to 
Universal Credit so that it no longer contributes to people facing losing their 
home. This Council also calls on the government to reverse the devastating 
cuts in social services so that the most vulnerable people in our communities 
receive the help they need’.

This was seconded by Councillor M Jenkinson.

Councillor T Lywood was opposed to the amended motion saying it deleted 
everything that was raised about austerity and what was happening in this 
Country.

Councillor A Smith was also against the amendment.

A vote was taken on the amended motion, 13 in favour, 25 against and 0 
abstentions. The motion was lost.

Councillor A Smith said in his right of reply, that it was children who were being 
hit the most, Universal Credit was evil. He said it was not right to expect a family 
of 4 to live with nothing for 6 weeks. Councillor Smith said the main point was 
that the Council was a frontline Council and it was not standing by letting things 
drift into the ether.

A vote was taken on the substantive motion which now read;

‘Councillors express their concern for the recent rise in homelessness cases in 
the borough. This Council alone has dealt with 362 cases in 2018/19 which is 
a 40% increase over the year before, with still three months of the year to go. 
 
There are many reasons why people become homeless - often very personal 
ones. 
For its part and in recognition of the fact that 357 dwellings in the borough have 
stood empty for 2 or more years, this Council resolves to establish with urgency 
a programme to approach all owners of these empty properties to encourage 
them to bring them back into beneficial use, and in cases where owners prefer 
to sell their properties, to use the Council's own capital resources to acquire and 
as necessary renovate those dwellings, reserving a sufficient number to 
accommodate homeless cases, and releasing the remainder back into the 
general rental and home ownership markets.
However, Allerdale Borough Council has noticed the negative impact of the 
government’s reform of benefits in Universal Credit (UC), with people losing 
tenancies and landlords unwilling to take on UC tenants, due to delays in 
payments. Officers also find the UC system, through the Job Centre, has made 
it harder to work with case officers to help those facing homelessness. 
 

Page 8



Councillors also believe that homelessness cases have also increased due to 
cuts to social services as a result of the government’s austerity measures, 
meaning more people are not receiving the support they need. 
 
Therefore this Council calls on the government to make further reforms to 
Universal Credit so that it no longer contributes to people facing losing their 
home. This Council also calls on the government to reverse the devastating 
cuts in social services so that the most vulnerable people in our communities 
receive the help they need’.

38 voted in favour. The motion was carried.

2. Councillor P Kendall moved the following Motion – 

‘That this Council supports the cancellation of the sale of Flimby Great wood.
That an investigation is made by the planning department of Allerdale Borough 
Council to check that there are no tree’s that require Tree Preservation Order 
registration.
That we register a query with the Environment Agency whether they have 
issues with the potential harvesting of some 200+ acres of old woodland, and 
the impact of this on flooding to Flimby settlement.
That the same questions be asked of the Forestry Commission.
That the flood resilience group and concerns of the population of Flimby be 
addressed’.

This was seconded by Councillor A Kendall.

Councillor B Finlay suggested an amendment to the motion to reword the last 
sentence as follows;
‘That the concerns of the flood resilience group and the population of Flimby be 
addressed’.
Councillor P Kendall agreed to the amendment.

Councillor J Lister said the Council didn’t have the authority to say who could 
buy and sell and felt it was ‘a step too far’ if it were to try and take those 
controls.

Councillor M Jenkinson said he was unsure as to what the motion was asking, 
in particular when some of it was already in place and some the Council had no 
control over. 

A vote was taken, 27 in favour, 8 against and 3 abstentions. The motion was 
carried.

335. Councillor Speeches 

Councillor P Bales spoke for 5 minutes on the activities that had been achieved 
in the Moorclose and Westfield areas of Workington in the last financial year.

Page 9



336. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service 

The Mayor made reference to the engagements he and the Deputy Mayor had 
undertaken since the last meeting held on 5 December 2018.
He reminded everyone that his Civic Dinner would be held on Friday 1 March at 
the Greenhill Hotel in Wigton and encouraged all Councillors to attend.

The Leader of the Council made reference to the successful bid announcement 
made this week that Workington would play host to games at the 2021 RL 
World Cup. 
Councillor A Smith said ‘this will really put us on the map and it will also bring 
money into the area through hospitality and people visiting for the games. 
It is a huge accomplishment to win this bid and there have been a lot of people 
working hard behind the scenes to make it possible, I thank all those involved. 
These games will be shown all around the world’.

337. Portfolio Holder Reports 

Councillor A Smith, Leader of the Council presented his report.

Councillor A Smith moved the report on behalf of Councillor M Fryer, Deputy 
Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth.

Councillor W Jefferson, Portfolio Holder for Tourism and Culture presented his 
report.

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health and 
Wellbeing presented her report.

Councillor B Cannon, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Resources (Finance and 
Property) presented her report.

Councillor M Jenkinson reported he felt there were some small basic 
cleanliness and maintenance issues at the multi storey car park and agreed to 
forward the details on.

Councillor J Ellis, Portfolio Holder for Governance and People Resources 
presented her report.

Councillor K Hansen, Portfolio Holder for Transformation presented his report.

Councillor M Heaslip, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Quality presented his 
report.

338. Executive Minutes 

Members noted the minutes of the Executive meeting held on 21 November 
2018.

Page 10



339. Reference from Executive 16 January 2019 - Council Tax Empty Homes 
Premium 

This report was considered at Executive on 16 January 2019.  Members 
considered the report and the recommendations.

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendations. This was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. 

Councillor B Finlay raised his concerns on the figures showing under paragraph 
2.4 of the report on the steady increase in the number of long term empty 
properties within the Borough since 2013. Councillor B Finlay felt a new 
approach may be needed and moved an addition to the motion as follows;

‘That any additional income resulting from the adoption of this proposal be ring-
fenced and used to support two specific housing market interventions, namely:

 To extend the Councils own provision of temporary or permanent 
accommodation suitable for homeless families

 To develop and implement pilot projects aimed at addressing the 
fundamental causes behind surplus housing, including the overprovision 
of new housing in areas with surpluses’.

This was seconded by Councillor M Fitzgerald.

Councillor B Cannon advised that the suggestions be directed to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee as part of the budget setting process and the March 
2019 Council meeting when the budget would be discussed and agreed.

Councillor B Finlay agreed to withdraw his amendment but asked that his 
comments be considered as part of the budget setting.

Councillor J Lister asked how dangerous/uninhabitable did a property have to 
be that the premium would not apply.
Councillor B Cannon agreed a response would be provided following the 
meeting.

A vote was taken on the original motion, 38 in favour, the vote was unanimous. 
The motion was carried.

Resolved – That –

The recommendation to set the higher amount of Council Tax payable for 
prescribed dwelling ‘Class C’ (or equivalent as amended by the Local 
Government Finance Act 2012) be approved, i.e. standard empty and 
unfurnished properties that have remained so for a continuous period of:

a) least 2 years, at a level of 100% with effect from 1 April 2019
b) at least 5 years, at a level of 200% with effect from 1 April 2020
c) at least 10 years, at a level of 300% with effect from 1 April 2021.

Page 11



340. Calculation of Council Tax Base 2019/20 

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendations. This was seconded by 
Councillor A Smith. 

A vote was taken, 38 in favour, the vote was unanimous. The motion was 
carried.

Resolved – That –

a) The report for the calculation of the council’s tax base for the year 2019-20 
as set out in the Appendices, be approved

b) Pursuant to the report and in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the amount calculated 
by Allerdale Borough Council as its tax base for the whole area for 2019-20 
shall be 30,662.47

c) The major precepting authorities (Cumbria County Council and the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria) be notified for the purpose of 
calculating the basic amount of its council tax

d) The tax base be used by Allerdale Borough Council for calculating the basic 
amount of council tax as required by the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 as amended.

341. Capital Budget 2018-19 to 2020-21 - Re-profiling of existing budget 

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendations. This was seconded by 
Councillor M Heaslip. 

A vote was taken, 38 in favour, the vote was unanimous. The motion was 
carried.

Resolved – That the proposed transfer of the existing capital budget of 
£620,000 from 2019/20 to 2018/19 (increasing the 2018/19 capital budget from 
£3,271,251 to £3,891,251) be approved.

342. Members Allowances 2019/20 

Councillor J Ellis moved the recommendations in the report. This was seconded 
by Councillor A Smith.

Councillor M Jenkinson moved an amendment to the motion that no increase to 
allowances be approved and that the Members Allowances Scheme remains as 
that in 2018/19. 
This was seconded by Councillor A Pitcher.

A vote was taken on the amendment, 14 in favour, 24 against and 0 
abstentions. The motion was lost.

Page 12



A vote was taken on the original motion, 26 in favour, 12 against and 0 
abstentions. The motion was carried.

Resolved – That –

1. The report and recommendations of the Independent Panel be endorsed 
as Appendix 1

2. The Member’s Allowance Scheme 2019/20 be approved as Appendix 2

3. The allowances paid to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of Allerdale 
remains set at £7,071 and £507 respectively

4. The Independent Panel reconvenes in June 2019 to further review 
2019/20 Members Allowances, once the Members Committee structure 
for the new term has been decided.

343. Polling Districts and Polling Places Review 

Councillor J Ellis informed members that since the report was published a 
request had been submitted to include an additional amendment, to move 47 
properties and 77 electors at numbers 1-26 Whinlatter Gardens and numbers 1-
21 Kirkstone Close, Workington, from polling district CW1 to CW2.

Councillor J Ellis moved the recommendations including the additional polling 
district amendment, to be included in the Schedule set out at Appendix A, and 
with an additional recommendation that the Electoral Registration Officer be 
given delegated authority to make any further minor amendments to polling 
districts where anomalies are identified during the process of amending the 
mapping system.

This was seconded by Councillor A Smith.

A vote was taken, 38 in favour, the vote was unanimous. The motion was 
carried.

Resolved – That –

1. The amendments to the polling districts as set out in Appendix A to the 
report be approved

2. The polling scheme as set out in Appendix B to the report be approved

3. The Electoral Registration Officer be given delegated authority to make 
any further minor amendments to polling districts where anomalies are 
identified during the process of amending the mapping system.

Page 13



344. Chief Executive Urgent Action - Workington Community Governance 
Review 

Councillor J Ellis presented a report for Council to note the Urgent Action 
decision taken by the Chief Executive on 18 December 2018 on amendments to 
the new Workington Town Council boundaries following the Council decision 
made on 5 December 2018.

Resolved – That the Urgent Action decision taken by the Chief Executive on 18 
December 2018 be noted.

345. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Councillor A Pitcher presented a summary report from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for Council to note.

Resolved – That the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.48 pm

Page 14



The Mayor, Councillor John Crouch
Engagements since the last Council meeting on 

30 January 2019 to 06 March 2019

12 February 2019
Terrace Café and Restaurant Launch – Dunmail Park, 
Workington

15 February 2019 Valentines Ball - Shepherds Inn, Carlisle

17 February 2019 Culture Bizarre - Carlisle

25 February 2019
The Parishes of Lorton and Loweswater with Buttermere 
Derwent Deanery - Diocese of Carlisle - Loweswater

27 February 2019
Consecration of the Revd Dr Emma Ineson as Bishop of 
Penrith – York Minster

1 March 2019 Allerdale Civic Dinner – Greenhill Hotel, Wigton

2 March 2019
Miss Cumbria 2019 Finalist Charity Evening – St John’s 
Church, Workington

3 March 2019
London College of Music Concert – Victoria Junior School, 
Workington

5 March 2019 Visit to Sealy Factory – Sealy, Aspatria

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 6 March 2019

Portfolio Holder Updates

The Reason for the Decision To update Council on the activities and
decisions of Portfolio Holders since the last
meeting

Summary of options considered N/a

Recommendations That Members note the content of the report

Financial /  Resource Implications None arising directly from this report

Legal / Governance Implications None arising directly from this report

Community Safety Implications None arising directly from this report

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None arising directly from this report

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Not considered applicable to this report

Wards Affected As indicated in the main body of the report

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Portfolio Holder activity relates to the
development and delivery of the Council’s key 
priority themes

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith – Leader of the Council 

Lead Officer Senior Management Team 

Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Page 17

Agenda Item 9



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide full Council with an update and 
overview of the activities of individual portfolio holders.

2.0 Content

The activities of the Portfolio Holders are as follows:

2.1 Leader of the Council: Cllr Alan Smith

Social Infrastructure Investment Programme (SIIF) and Loans Fund
The full £500,000 for the current financial year has now been allocated to a 
wide range of businesses and projects. The Loans Fund established with 
Enterprise Answers utilising the SIIF funding is performing well. The Fund has 
approved six loans to date and has attracted significant interest from other 
businesses. It is expected that the current level of funding will be exhausted 
by the end of the financial year. The Council aims to augment this year’s 
funding with a further £250,000 in the next financial year. 
 
Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership
Cumbria LEP has recently completed its third and final round of consultation 
in the development of a Local Industrial Strategy for the county. The 
document will now be submitted to government for discussion on Cumbria’s 
economic priorities. The LEP has been working with businesses and the 
public and voluntary and community sectors to develop the new strategy, 
which highlights Cumbria’s strengths and makes a case to Government and 
the private sector for investment up to 2030.
The LEP has also been recruiting to the new governance structure. A number 
of Sector Panels and Strategy Groups have been formed in line with the new 
Assurance Framework. These new groups will be responsible for ensuring 
that Cumbria LEP’s strategic priorities are aligned, taking forward the new 
Local Industrial Strategy and exploiting any funding opportunities which may 
arise.  Allerdale Borough Council officers are playing a full and active part in a 
number of these new groups.  
Cumbria LEP has also appointed three leading local business representatives 
to the Board. Emma Porter and Sarah Swindley join the LEP as private sector 
board members, whilst Professor Patricia Livsey, the Chief Executive of Eden 
Valley Hospice and Jigsaw Children’s Hospice, joins as CLEP’s first 
representative from the Voluntary and Community Sector.

The Local Plan
The Secretary of State has appointed David Troy BSc (Hons) MA MRTPI to 
conduct the Examination of the Local Plan. He is currently reviewing all the 
documentation and will shortly publish the issues to be discussed at the 
hearing sessions. The next step in this process will be to confirm the dates 
and timetable for the hearings.

Page 18



Rugby League World Cup 2021
Further to the success of the Council’s bid to host the Rugby League World 
Cup in 2021 the Council have been in ongoing discussions with the Rugby 
League World Cup on the development of the hosting agreement. This 
process will be finalised in the coming months. The Council has received a 
positive response from the wider community to the success of the bid with 
many people delighted to see that Cumbria will be represented at this 
international event. Our Communications and Marketing Team has been 
making the most of social media and helped the Rugby League World Cup top 
the trending Twitter hashtags on the day of the host announcements.

2.2 Deputy Leader: Economic Growth Portfolio: Cllr Mark Fryer

Hadrian’s Wall Cycleway
A planning application has been submitted on behalf of the Silloth Coastal 
Community Team to create a dedicated cycle path, largely off road, along the 
route of Hadrian’s Wall Cycleway, from Allonby to Silloth. It will complement 
the existing stretch from Maryport to Allonby.

Business Engagement - Hadrian’s Wall Cycleway
We are holding drop in sessions in March for businesses in the Solway area 
to alert them to the business opportunities that the updating of signage to the 
cycleway offers. We are partnering with Sustrans and Solway Coast AONB to 
offer this service.

Maryport Regeneration 
January saw the appointment of Paul Taylor as Programme Manager for 
Maryport. Paul has a wealth of experience in delivering area improvement 
projects and has most recently worked for Allerdale on the successful 
Community Housing Scheme. 
This month the team has established a base in Maryport Town Hall which is 
currently benefiting from a programme of improvement works. A ‘drop-in day’ 
is currently being organised to give staff, councillors, residents and partners 
the opportunity to support the programme. 
December saw the launch of the Future High Streets Fund by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government. This is currently being 
reviewed in relation to Maryport and we are working with partners to ensure 
an expression of interest is submitted by the March deadline.  The application, 
if successful, will assist us in reversing the decline of the town centre and 
provide funding to support the redesign of the town centre, bring new 
businesses into the area and ensure empty buildings are dealt with.  
In addition, the Council has provisionally earmarked funding to create a 
‘container village’ on the harbour side in the next financial year. Elsewhere in 
the country such developments have provided a major boost to local 
economies by offering a mix of retail and leisure based activities resulting in 
increased visitor numbers. 

Page 19



Business Engagement Manager
A change to the roles of our two Town Centre Managers has seen one post 
re-designated as Business Engagement Manager. This post will 
help businesses in the seven towns grow, encourage start-ups, facilitate 
productivity improvements and champion the upskilling of employees 
delivered by partnership work with a range of organisations. 

2.3 Environmental Quality Portfolio: Cllr Michael Heaslip 

Environment Heritage Initiatives
The Siddick Pond education centre is complete and there will be an official 
opening in mid-April with Mrs Bacon unveiling a plaque in memory of the late 
Councillor Bill Bacon who championed Siddick Pond over many years. 
There has been a public consultation on possible designs for brightening up 
the dank tunnel which leads from Central Way Workington towards the new 
Leisure Centre, and improving it as a route for pedestrians and cyclists; 
officers are reviewing the feedback.

Council Sport and Play Facilities
Refurbishment of the gym and lavatories at Keswick Spa costing £180,000 
and funded through the management contract, and provision of a completely 
new gym at Maryport Wave costing £106,000 with investment from Allerdale 
of £87,000. This is increasing participation and membership, which now 
stands at 97 (from nothing) at Maryport, and 513 (up from 430) at Keswick.

Sport Development
ABC in partnership with Cumbria ICC and GLL have been successful in being 
awarded a Sport England Grant to deliver a new GP referral pilot scheme in 
Allerdale. The new Physical Activity Referral Scheme (PARS) will be 
overhauling the current exercise on referral scheme (GP referral scheme) to 
offer support to individuals to commence active lifestyle by offering access to 
a range of exercise opportunities. 
The project offers various activities that are tailored to make sure they keep 
the people involved. Each patient is given options, such as walking groups, 
circuit classes, mindfulness / yoga or gym based sessions. Since the launch 
of the programme in November last year the PARS now has 41 active people 
on the scheme. The programme is now also being developed and delivered in 
Wigton with eight referrals receiving a gym based programme. We aim to roll 
out the programme to Cockermouth and Keswick later on in the year.

Parking
Lakeside Car Park works start on 25 February and will provide over 20 new 
much-needed car parking spaces for Keswick.

Page 20



Waste and Recycling
Delivery of new bins for paper recycling has started ready for the roll-out of 
new collection arrangements from 1 April. New vehicle deliveries are now 
under way.

2.4 Tourism and Culture Portfolio: Cllr William Jefferson 

Encouraging growth in the visitor economy
The roles of our Town Centre Managers, have changed to support delivery of 
our Business Growth Strategy. One post has been re-designated Tourism 
Development Manager to work with businesses and partner organisations to 
grow the value of the visitor economy in our borough. The sector supports 
over 6,500 jobs and brings £475 million into our local economy every year.

Visitor Website
Work continues to add new content to www.visitallerdale.co.uk including 
additional information for visitors with disabilities. This has been carried out in 
partnership with the charity Lake District Disability. Since September 2018 we 
have had over 23,000 engagements on the web and social media.

Chinese tourism market
As a founding member of the private-public partnership, the North Lakes 
China Forum, we are working with partners to grow the number of Chinese 
visitors to Allerdale. The other Allerdale members of the Forum are Honister, 
Lake District Hotels Ltd and Keswick Tourism Association. The Forum will be 
launched at an event at Theatre by the Lake on 19 March 2019. In attendance 
will be the Chinese Consul General Mr Zheng Xiyuan and Consul Amalia Lyu.

2.5 Housing, Health and Wellbeing Portfolio: Cllr Carni McCarron-
Holmes

Housing Company
A report outlining the proposal to establish a new housing company and 
seeking approval to progress to the development of a full business case was 
approved by Executive in February. Work is now being undertaken to prepare 
a full business case following which approval will be sought from Executive to 
establish the company.

Homelessness
The team have successfully secured Supporting People funding for the fourth 
year (of a four year contract with CCC) - this funding is used to employ an 
officer to deliver additional support to help our homelessness customers. 
All district councils in Cumbria have been working together to submit a 
funding bid for the Rough Sleepers Initiative support from MHCLG.  This 
money, if the bid is successful, will provide additional support for rough 
sleepers within the borough.

Page 21

http://www.visitallerdale.co.uk/


All district councils within Cumbria have also jointly applied for the PRS 
(Private Rented Sector) bid, this is to provide additional resources to work with 
private landlords to enable them to accept applications from people who are 
homeless. 
During the recent period of severe weather conditions Allerdale provided 
accommodation to one homeless person under the Severe Weather 
Emergency Policy.
Members of the Housing Options team who deal with our homeless 
customers have recently completed Homeless Reduction Act training.

Community Led Housing Enabling Hub
Allerdale and representatives from neighbouring local authorities (South 
Lakeland, Eden, Copeland, Carlisle and Lancaster) have engaged in 
discussions about setting up a Community Led Housing (CLH) Hub initiative. 
The Hub will:

 be a single point of contact across the geographically defined region; 
 have a dedicated website;
 encompass a promotional role in respect of CLH - raising awareness, 

engaging more individuals and groups, supporting capacity building 
within communities and growth of numbers of homes within the sector;

 offer a signposting, advice and support role and be able to assist 
through sharing experience and good practice. It would also provide 
links to appropriate, individuals, partnerships, services, consultants and 
contractors as required.

A tendering process has taken place and the successful contractor was Action 
for Communities in Cumbria (ACT). The service will commence at the 
beginning of the new financial year. The plan is for the Hub to run indefinitely, 
but is funded initially for a 12 month period.
It is anticipated that in future further guidance and funding may be made 
available to support the development of CLH Enabling Hub initiatives across 
the UK. At this point, there is no final definition on the requirements or 
timescales for future funding for such initiatives, although local authorities are 
being encouraged to support this methodology.

2.6 Corporate Resources (Finance and Property) Portfolio: Cllr 
Barbara Cannon 

Making our towns attractive and welcoming
Maryport Groyne Refurbishment – works have started to repair and refurbish 
the timber groyne south of the harbour. The groyne has been identified as 
providing crucial protection to the harbour. Once the works are complete, the 
structure will help maintain beach levels and prevent further areas of scouring 
taking place. The work is being funded through a grant from the Environment 
Agency.

Page 22



Allerdale House
Twelve workstations have been provided on the first floor of Allerdale House 
to accommodate the ‘Police Hub’, which currently operates from 
Cockermouth. This will allow a closer and more efficient working relationship 
with existing council services and reinforces the Council’s commitment for 
working with partner agencies.  

Finance Team 
Allerdale Borough Council’s finance department has been short-listed for a 
national award. The team are one of six nominees for the Finance Training 
and Development Initiative category in the CIPFA Public Finance Awards. 
They are up against the likes of Transport for London, the Ministry of Justice 
and NHS Wales Finance Academy. The nomination recognises the work they 
have been doing to educate colleagues on budget and finance issues. In the 
past few years this has included regular budget updates for staff and 
‘knowledge college’ events to help answer any tricky questions. 
The team will find out if they have won the top spot at the prestigious awards 
ceremony in London on 1 May 2019.

2.7 Governance and People Resources Portfolio: Cllr Joan Ellis 

Legal Services
The Legal Services Team continues to support the Council in the delivery of 
the Council’s priorities and objectives.  A number of property matters are 
ongoing and recent planning enforcement work led to a successful 
prosecution at the Magistrates’ Court in respect of an untidy site.  
The Investigatory Powers Commissioner and his office (IPCO), have a 
statutory responsibility for ensuring public authorities that may employ 
investigatory powers under the Investigatory Powers Act (2016) and the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (2000) act in compliance with this 
legislation, all associated Codes of Practice and guidance previously issued 
by the OSC.  This oversight includes the conduct of routine inspection of 
public authorities by IPCO. The IPCO has advised that an inspection will be 
carried out on 6 March 2019. I will update you following the inspection. 

Assurance Risk and Audit
The team continue to deliver the planned audit work and support the 
facilitation of risk management with the Audit Committee and officers. They 
have undertaken the self-assessment for the Public Sector Internal Auditing 
Standards compliance and have found no significant issues. 

Licensing
The Licensing Team has now appointed a provider for the practical taxi 
driving test following a successful procurement, and tests are underway.  This, 
in conjunction with the knowledge test, will improve the quality of the service 
provided in the Borough.  The Team are now concentrating on reviewing and 

Page 23



updating a number of policies and procedures which will be presented to the 
Licensing Committee in due course.

People Resources
There have been a number of excellent training initiatives taking place at 
Allerdale BC, such as 100 staff participating in free Excel Training after the 
HR team managed to secure EU funding.  A package of training has also 
been developed for our Customer Service staff.  And, by working in 
partnership with other authorities to deliver training in-house, we have 
managed to half the cost by selling training places to other organisations. We 
have also secured training locally by offering our facilities free of charge to 
large training companies based in the South to deliver training in the North. 
They do all the advertising and coordinating and we get free places on their 
events by allowing them to use our Council Chamber.
In addition to all of the excellent training initiatives, the HR team are working 
on designing a careers fair to help young individuals within Allerdale.  This will 
allow us to provide advice on writing a CV and interview tips whilst at the 
same time, promoting Allerdale as an excellent place to work.  

Electoral Services
Preparations are well under way for the Allerdale and parish elections on 2 
May. Candidate briefings were held in February 2019 and were well attended. 
The Notice of Election is due to be published on 18 March and this will trigger 
the start of the nomination process and the start of the Pre-Election Publicity 
Protocol period (Purdah). 
The new Allerdale wards, parish changes and polling district boundaries have 
all been set up and a new register of electors based on the new wards was 
published on 1 March. 

Democratic Services
The team continues to support the Member Development Group in developing 
a comprehensive Induction Programme for newly and re-elected Councillors.
All Councillors will have received an invitation to review their PDP and are 
encouraged to respond accordingly. 
There will be training sessions in Allerdale House on ‘Safe and confident use 
of Social Media’ and ‘Managing challenging people and difficult situations’ on 
Thursday 4 April. Contact the team for details and to book your place.

West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership
I'm pleased to report that the Allerdale multi agency Local Focus Hub will be 
moving from Cockermouth Police Station into Allerdale House next week.  

Page 24



2.8 Transformation Portfolio: Cllr Konrad Hansen 

Message from the Portfolio Holder
As this is my final Portfolio Holder report I want to take this opportunity to 
thank all the staff in my current portfolio, as well as those I have previously 
worked with, who have worked extremely hard and have delivered fantastic 
results. I would also like to thank the Democratic Services team and the PAs 
who have been incredibly supportive.
To my colleagues, fellow councillors, from all parties and none, thank you for 
your trust, support and advice over the years. I am incredibly honoured to 
have served the people of Allerdale alongside you all.

Programmes and Projects
The Programme Office has put in place a range of resources to support 
programme and project managers across the Council involved in the delivery 
of our four key programmes. This includes a Programme and Project 
Management Framework, which is a practical ‘tool kit’ for all programme and 
project managers comprising guidance and templates for each stage of the 
project lifecycle from project initiation through to project planning, project 
execution and finally project closure. 

Procurement
Our Procurement Officer attended the Allerdale Expo in January to network 
with local groups that support sole traders and small and medium enterprises 
(SMEs) to learn about how we can link our opportunities and ensure SMEs 
don’t miss out on potential public sector contracts. The inclusion of 
procurement in this event was very well received. Since the Expo, we have 
circulated details of our internet supplier database among local businesses 
and we have updated the Council’s webpage to make it easier for local 
suppliers to register their interest in doing business with the Council.  

Customer Operations
Earlier this month we received the national Housing Benefits processing times 
for Q2 2018/19, the figures are collated by the DWP and I'm pleased to be 
able to announce that the Allerdale Customer Operations team are delivering 
powerful results as can be seen in the table below. 

National 
Average

Allerdale 
Actual

Regional 
ranking

National 
ranking

(of 379 LAs)
New claims 22 days 12 days 2nd 24th 
Change of 

Circumstances 8 days 4 days 1st 23rd 

Page 25



Customer Service
January saw an increase in customer contact with over 5,500 telephone calls, 
4,800 face to face visitors and over 600 on-line service reports submitted by 
customers taking advantage of being able to contact the Council 24/7 through 
the myAllerdale on-line reporting service. 
Customer satisfaction remains high with 98% of customers surveyed in the 
rating the service received from the customer service team as satisfied or 
highly satisfied, and over the last 3 months 90% of on-line customers rated 
the experience of using myAllerdale as very satisfied. 

IT
Our IT team continue to manage network security with recent cyber security 
enhancements installed onto the network to increase security levels. The 
team are also delivering new ways of working training to all staff and the 
feedback from those who have attended the initial sessions has been positive.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 That Members note the content of the report.

Page 26



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Wednesday 16 January 2019 at 10.00 am

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor William Jefferson

Staff Present

B Carlin, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, L Jardine, K Kerrigan, C Nicholson, 
G Roach, A Seekings, S Sewell, G Wilson and P Wood

298. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2018 were signed as a 
correct record.

299. Declaration of Interests 

7. Consideration of proposals for the development of a new community 
stadium for Workington.
Councillor Alan Smith; Interest; Due to him being a shareholder of 
Workington Association Football Club, Councillor Smith made it clear that 
it was not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, the total nominal value of the 
shares being under the threshold of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
and explained that he had an open mind and was interested in the 
project as a whole, the football club being only a small part of a much 
wider regeneration project with jobs and longer term sustainability for the 
Council as set out in more detail in the report.

7. Consideration of proposals for the development of a new community 
stadium for Workington.
Councillor Mark Fryer; Interest; Due to him being a shareholder of 
Workington Town R.L.F.C. Councillor Fryer made it clear that it was not a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, the total nominal value of the shares 
being under the threshold of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, and 
explained that he had an open mind and was interested in the project as 
a whole, the rugby club being only a small part of a much wider 
regeneration project with jobs and longer term sustainability for the 
Council as set out in more detail in the report.

8. Future plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park.
Councillor Alan Smith; Interest; Due to him being a shareholder of 
Workington Association Football Club, Councillor Smith made it clear that 
it was not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, the total nominal value of the 
shares being under the threshold of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 

Page 27

Agenda Item 10



and explained that he had an open mind and was interested in the 
project as a whole, the football club being only a small part of a much 
wider regeneration project with jobs and longer term sustainability for the 
Council as set out in more detail in the report.

8. Future plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park.
Councillor Mark Fryer; Interest; Due to him being a shareholder of 
Workington Town R.L.F.C. Councillor Fryer made it clear that it was not a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, the total nominal value of the shares 
being under the threshold of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, and 
explained that he had an open mind and was interested in the project as 
a whole, the rugby club being only a small part of a much wider 
regeneration project with jobs and longer term sustainability for the 
Council as set out in more detail in the report.

300. Questions 

None received.

301. Members' Announcements 

None received.

302. Council Tax Empty Homes Premium 

The subject of the decision

The Customer Operations Manager submitted a report which sought members 
to agree a level of premium on the council tax payable in respect of a long-term 
empty dwelling. 

In 2013 Allerdale Borough Council introduced a premium for all long-term empty 
dwellings, which meant that a 50% premium would be applied to the council tax 
payable in respect of all dwellings which had been empty for more than 2 years. 
The introduction of Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 allowed local billing authorities the discretion to 
increase the percentage by which a billing authority in England may increase 
the council tax payable in respect of a long-term empty dwelling. 

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendation as set out in the report. This 
was seconded by Councillor A Smith. The recommendation was unanimously 
agreed.

Alternative options considered

1. Not to increase the premium above the existing 50% as agreed in 2013
2. To increase the premium to 100% for 2019/20 onwards 
3. To apply all 3 of the increased premiums

Page 28



The reason for the decision

To agree a proposal which would provide an incentive to owners to bring empty 
properties in to occupation therefore increasing the availability of 
accommodation either to buy and/or rent.

The decision

Recommended – That Council are requested to agree to set the higher amount 
of Council Tax payable for prescribed dwelling ‘Class C’ (or equivalent as 
amended by the Local Government Finance Act 2012), i.e. standard empty and 
unfurnished properties that have remained so for a continuous period of:

a) least 2 years, at a level of 100% with effect from 1 April 2019
b) at least 5 years, at a level of 200% with effect from 1 April 2020
c) at least 10 years, at a level of 300% with effect from 1 April 2021.

303. Consideration of proposals for the development of a new community 
stadium for Workington 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought members to 
consider the outline business case for the development of a new community 
stadium in Workington and agree further work required in relation to the delivery 
of that project.

In early 2018 the Council was approached by Workington Town Rugby League 
Club and Workington Reds AFC to seek support in the consideration of 
proposals to develop a new community stadium for the clubs. A Project Board 
was established to identify a preferred site and explore key parameters and 
options for the development of a new stadium.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendations set out in the report. This was 
seconded by Councillor A Smith. The recommendations were unanimously 
agreed.

Alternative options considered

As detailed in the report.

The reason for the decision

To consider the outline business case for the development of a new community 
stadium in Workington and agree further work required in relation to the delivery 
of that project.

The decision

Resolved

That - 

Page 29



1. Members agree to proceed with proposals to develop a new community 
stadium for Workington on the site of Borough Park / Lonsdale Park, 
Workington subject to:

- Subsequent approval of the full business case including the 
financial business case, operating arrangements and funding 
arrangements:

- The grant of planning permission.
2. The approval of heads of terms with Workington Town and Workington 

Reds in relation to the commercial terms for the use of the stadium be 
delegated to the Corporate Director.

3. The approval of heads of terms with the NHS and Sellafield Ltd in 
relation to the rental of office space within the development be delegated 
to the Head of Place Development.

4. The extension of the appointment of the design team and other related 
appointments required to develop the design to the end of RIBA Stage 3 
be agreed

5. That members agree to the appointment of consultants to undertake 
intrusive grounds investigation works and radon assessment to inform 
future design development work.

6. A total spend of £373,955 be approved from the Strategic Priorities 
budget made up as follows:
• £228,603 for Design fees and related appointments
• £101,602 for Ground investigation works
• £26,000 for planning fees
• £17,750 design and planning of 3G pitch

Resolved - 

“That under Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they may involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12 (a) of the Act.”

304. Future plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought members to 
agree on the future plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park, Workington.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendations set out in the report. This was 
seconded by Councillor A Smith. The recommendations were unanimously 
agreed.

Alternative options considered

Not to endorse the proposed course of action.

Page 30



The reason for the decision

To approve a decision on the future plans for Borough Park and Derwent Park.

The decision

Resolved

That the recommendations as set out in the report be agreed.

The meeting closed at 11.05 am

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 6 March 2019

Recommendations Referred to Council

 Budget 2019-20 – Revenue and Capital

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Executive 
held on the 25 February 2019. It is for Council to consider its response.

Recommended - That - 

1. The total planned revenue expenditure be £15,398,082 including parish 
precepts of £2,197,940 

2. £15,002,631 be approved as the Council’s net Budget requirement for 
2019-20 

3. An increase in Council Tax of £5 on band D Properties, with 
proportionate increases being applied to properties, in other council tax 
bands be approved 

4. No changes be made to the Council’s Council Tax Reduction discount 
scheme and that the current scheme remains in place for 2019-20 

5. The revenue estimates as approved be used in the calculation of the 
basic amount of tax under Section 31 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 

6. The minimum level of non-earmarked general fund balances be set at 
£2.7m and that no maximum level be set 

7. The capital budget of £32,178,305 (comprising £9,928,305 in 2019-20, 
£21,180,000 in 2020-21 and £1,070,000 in 2021-22) be approved 

8. The proposed capital budget for 2019-20 be financed as follows: 
 grants and contributions ……..£3,045,919
 borrowing………………...…….£6,502,386
 capital receipts …………………..£380,000

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 33

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 25 February 2019
Council – 6 March 2019

Budget 2019-20 – Revenue and Capital

The Reason for the Decision To present the Council’s draft revenue and capital 
budget and the formal advice of the chief financial 
officer on the robustness of the estimates included in 
the budget and the adequacy of the reserves which 
support the Council’s budgetary plans.

Summary of options considered The Council has a statutory requirement to approve a 
balanced budget.   
The draft budget proposes an increase in Council Tax 
of £5 on band D properties with proportionate increases 
being applied to properties in other council tax bands. 
A number of growth bids and savings bids have been 
submitted and are considered in this report.
A public consultation exercise relating to options 
included in the Council’s draft budget proposals was 
carried out between December 2018 and January 2019.

Recommendations It is recommended that:
1. The total planned revenue expenditure is 

£15,398,082 including parish precepts of 
£2,197,940. 

2. £15,002,631 is approved as the Council’s net 
Budget requirement for 2019-20.

3. An increase in Council Tax of £5 on band D 
Properties, with proportionate increases being 
applied to properties, in other council tax bands is 
approved.

4. No changes are made to the Council’s Council Tax 
Reduction discount scheme and that the current 
scheme remains in place for 2019-20. 

5. The revenue estimates as approved are used in the 
calculation of the basic amount of tax under Section 
31 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

6. The minimum level of non-earmarked general fund 
balances is set at £2.7m and that no maximum 
level is set.  

Page 35



7. That the capital budget of £32,178,305 (comprising 
£9,928,305 in 2019-20, £21,180,000 in 2020-21 
and £1,070,000 in 2021-22) is approved.

8. That the proposed capital budget for 2019-20 is 
financed as follows:

 grants and contributions ……..£3,045,919 
 borrowing………………...…….£6,502,386
 capital receipts …………………..£380,000

Financial / Resource Implications As set out in the report.  The revenue estimates will 
form part of the calculation of the overall council tax 
level to be set.

Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set a balanced budget.

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The budget contains provision for the Council to 
discharge its obligations under health and safety 
legislation, and to maintain a reserve in order to 
manage risks.
There are also risks that the Council will not be able 
to operate within agreed budgetary provisions but 
this can be minimised by the financial monitoring 
process and by the prudent policy on the level of 
reserves and balances.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

As part of the budget growth bids and savings bids 
process.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

The revenue budget is set to support the Council in 
achieving priorities through the Council Plan and to 
facilitate control of expenditure on its activities.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Barbara Cannon

Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson 
Head of Financial Services
01900 702503
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 36



Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) Y

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Council has a statutory responsibility to set a balanced budget for each 
financial year. In short, this means the Council’s expenditure on services must 
be contained within the available funding envelope. 

1.2 This report sets out the: 

 outcome of the 2019-20 Budget Consultation exercise 

 proposed revenue budget for 2019-20, and

 proposed capital budget for the three year period 2019-20 to 2021-22.

1.3 This report also sets out the chief finance officer’s report to the Council (made 
under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003) on:

(a) the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the 
Council’s budget calculations, and

(b) the adequacy (or otherwise) of the Council’s financial reserves.

1.4 Members are required to have regard to the report made under s25 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 when making decisions about the Council’s 
budget calculations.

Page 37



2. Budget Consultation

2.1 Consultation with the public and other key stakeholders is essential to 
informing the Councils priorities and the financial plans which underpin 
delivery of those priorities, including the Councils annual budget. 
Consultations informing the 2019-20 budget process comprised:

 the survey of residents undertaken during June and July 2018 

 a budget consultation focusing on specific budget issues carried out  
during December 2018 and January 2019.

Survey of Residents

2.2 The Council commissioned NWA Social and Market Research to undertake a 
general survey of residents seeking their views on satisfaction with services, 
with their quality of life and their local area. During the survey exercise a total 
of 12,063 questionnaires were posted out to randomly selected addresses 
across the Council’s area. A total of 1,996 surveys were completed (17%).

2.3 The headlines from the survey were broadly similar to those from the previous 
survey conducted in 2016. They included:

 very high levels of satisfaction (82%) with their locality as a place to live 
and with the way Allerdale Borough Council provides services (71%)

 very high levels of satisfaction with key services for example, 
household waste recycling sites (83%), refuse collection (93%) and 
doorstep recycling 78%

 around half of respondents expressed satisfaction with public car 
parking (52%), public sport/leisure facilities (49%), theatres/concert 
halls (46%) and keeping public land clear of litter and refuse (45%). 
Lower levels of satisfaction were recorded for museums/galleries 
(37%), and public toilets (30%)  

 around half of respondents (49%) indicating they would like to see 
more street cleaning and public places (49%) and preparation for 
flooding events (39%); Between a third and quarter of respondents said 
public toilets (31%), dealing with fly-tipping (30%), local markets (26%) 
public car parking (24%) and economic development’(23%), were 
services they would like to see more of 

 services respondents would like to see less of included festivals/ 
cultural events and activities’ (25%), tourism development (25%) and 
museums/galleries (24%)  

 services deemed to be of key importance included Cleaning streets and 
public places (21%) followed by refuse collection (13%), preparing for 
flooding events (10%), and economic development (8%)  

 Agreement by around two-fifths of all respondents (40%) that the 
Council provides value for money, whilst 37% gave neutral responses 
and 23% disagreed

Page 38



 support from the majority of respondents, for a rise in Council Tax to 
protect key services. 

Budget Consultation

2.4 The 2019-20 Budget consultation was held between 12 December 2018 and 
17 January 2019. The consultation was accessible via the Council’s website. 
Hard-copy versions of the consultation were also made available at Council 
offices. The consultation document was sent out to numerous partner 
organisations such as town and parish councils and other local bodies and 
was actively promoted through the local press, the Council’s website and 
social media. Responses could be submitted on-line using the Cumbria-wide 
consultation portal, by email or in hard copy format. 

2.5 The consultation document summarised the financial challenges facing the 
Council and the steps being taken by the Council to bridge the financial gap 
arising from the year on year reductions in central government grants. To 
supplement the feedback received from the residents’ survey the budget 
consultation sought views on proposals related to: 

 setting next year’s Council Tax 
 increasing fees and charges in line with inflation.

2.6 The budget consultation also provided residents with the opportunity to 
comment on the Councils overall approach to meeting the financial challenge 
and its priorities for the period 2019-23. 

2.7 The majority of the responses to the budget consultation were in favour of the 
proposals put forward in the consultation document with approximately 60% of 
respondents in favour of increasing: 

 Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D properties 
(with proportionate increases to properties in other council tax 
bands) 

 fees and charges in line with inflation.

2.8 A summary of consultation responses can be found in Appendix J. 

3.       National and Local Context

2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement

3.1 Local authorities have taken the biggest hit in terms of central government 
cuts since 2010. The scale of reduction, along with a degree of volatility 
around the phasing and timing of these cuts has made it very difficult for 
authorities to plan their spending priorities strategically. The need for effective 
medium term planning has never been stronger.

3.2 The government’s response to these concerns was the offer of a four year 
settlement guarantee, paid to councils for the four year period covering 
financial years 2016-17 to 2019-20. It covers Revenue Support Grant, 

Page 39



transitional funding and Rural Services Delivery Grant. 97% of councils 
accepted the multi-year settlement offer for 2016-17 to 2019-20. 

3.3 This Council chose to take advantage of this offer and published, in line with 
terms of the multi-year offer, its Efficiency Plan in October 2016. DCLG 
(MHCLG) duly confirmed that we were to receive the multi-year settlement.

3.4 However 2019-20 marks the end of the current spending review period and 
the final year of the multi-year settlement offer. Beyond 2019-20, considerable 
uncertainty exists over the funding of local government, both at national and 
local level. This hampers meaningful financial planning at a time when central 
government grant funding is the lowest it has been for decades and demand 
pressures are increasing. The outcome of the Government’s Fair Funding 
Review, reset of business rates baselines, changes to the business rates 
retention system and any reform of the New Homes Bonus scheme, all have 
critical implications for the distribution of funding across local government. At 
the same time, the results of the Spending Review 2019 (expected Autumn 
2019) will affect the total level of funding available to the local government 
sector from April 2020.

Spring Statement 2018

3.5 The 2018 Spring Statement was presented to the House of Commons on 13 
March 2018. This was the first Spring Statement since the Chancellor moved 
the annual Budget from March to November. However, as trailed in advance, 
the Spring Statement is primarily an opportunity to present updated economic 
forecasts for the UK economy and as such contained few specific new tax or 
spending announcements.

Autumn Budget 2018

3.6 The 2018 Autumn Budget presented to the House of Commons on 29 October 
2018 contained a number of announcements relevant to local government. 
These included:

 confirmation that the additional adult social care funding of £240m 
previously announced on October 2 for 2018-19 will also be provided in 
2019-20 

 a further £410m of funding in 2019-20 for adults and children’s social 
care plus £84m of further funding over 4 years for up to 20 local 
authorities, with £45m initially in 2019-20, to help more children to stay 
at home safely with their families

 providing councils with an additional £55m in 2018-19 for the Disabled 
Facilities Grant to provide home aids and adaptations for disabled 
children and adults on low incomes 

 £400m of additional funding in 2018-19 for schools across England with 
to spend on equipment and facilities

 additional £420m to local authorities in 2018-19 to tackle potholes, 
repair damaged roads and invest in keeping bridges open. In addition, 
the government will also be making £150m of funding from the National 

Page 40



Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) available to local authorities for 
small improvement projects such as roundabouts

 creation of a Future High Streets Fund to invest £675m in England to 
support local areas fund plans to redevelop their high streets and town 
centres. This will invest in town centre infrastructure, including to 
increase access to high streets and support redevelopment and 
densification around high streets. Although spread across the whole 
period up to 2023-24, 90% of this funding is only to be made available 
after 2021-22. The Fund will also establish a new High Streets 
Taskforce to disseminate best practice among local leaders.

 a number of changes to business rates, including: 
 reducing bills by one-third for retail properties including shops, 

cafes and restaurants with a rateable value below £51,000, 
benefiting up to 90% of retail properties, for 2 years from April 
2019, subject to state aid limits 

 introducing 100% business rates relief for all public lavatories 
from 2020/21

 continuing with the £1,500 business rates discount for office 
space occupied by local newspapers in 2019-20.  

 two further reforms to Universal Credit, i.e. 
 an increase of £1,000 from April 2019 in the amount that 

households with children, and people with disabilities can earn 
before their Universal Credit award begins to be withdrawn,

and 
 a package of additional support for transition worth 

approximately £1bn over 6 years.

3.7 The government indicated at the 2018 Spring Statement that it would outline 
control totals for the Spending Review to be carried out in 2019 (Spending 
Review 2019). This is assumed to be for the four year period 2020-21 to 
2023-24. Departmental resource budgets (RDEL) for the period of the 
spending review were not provided. The government did, however, provide 
aggregate departmental resource budgets split between NHS England and all 
other Departmental spending. This shows overall funding increase from 
£327bn in 2019-20 to £371.6bn in 2023-24; which represents a cash increase 
of 13.6%. The Government has also indicated that for 2019-20 to 2023-24, 
RDEL spending, including the NHS settlement, will grow at an average of 
1.2% per year in real terms. This is based on CPI inflation (forecast at 2.1% 
per annum, rather than RPI inflation (forecast at 3.1% per annum).

3.8 This means that, after excluding the increases for NHS England, resources 
across the rest of government Departments will increase in cash terms by just 
8.4% over the period 2019-20 to 2023-24, which is roughly in line with the 
increases in CPI for the period set out by the Office for Budget Responsibility.

3.9 This would, therefore, suggest that outside of NHS England, all other 
Departments combined will not see any real terms increase in their funding for 
the period 2019-20 to 2023-24. In addition, the 8.4% would be the average 

Page 41



across the departments; with individual departments likely to be above or 
below this mark. However, the government states that the figures provided do 
not represent the final envelope for the 2019 Spending Review, which it 
indicates will be set in due course, which may mean at the Spring Statement 
in 2019.  

Local Government finance report and provisional settlement 2019-20

3.10 The provisional local government finance settlement for 2019-20 was issued 
on 13 December 2018 and sets out the distribution of centrally allocated 
resources for local authorities in England. The final settlement was issued on 
29 January 2019. The final settlement included no changes to the funding 
included in the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2019-20. 
The figures included in the provisional (and final) local government finance 
settlement for 2019-20 are broadly in line with the indicative figures published 
in February of last year with the following changes:

 additional social care funding comprising £240m Winter Pressures 
Grant for Adult Social Care (to alleviate winter pressures on the 
NHS) and £410m Social Care Support Grant, for adult and 
children’s social care, announced in the Budget in October 2018, 
have been incorporated into Core Spending Power

 £180m of surplus on the levy account will be distributed to all 
councils, based on the 2013-14 Settlement Funding Assessment

 revisions to New Homes Bonus allocations to reflect actual housing 
growth; additional funding (of up to 320m) means there was no 
increase to the deadweight threshold (0.4%) for 2019-20

 an additional £16m in Rural Services Delivery Grant funding in 
2019-20 increasing the total allocation from £65m to £81m 

 an additional £153m in funding to those authorities that were due to 
pay negative RSG for 2019-20

 selection of 15 local authority areas, following a competitive 
process, to pilot 75% Business Rates Retention in 2019-20, as well 
as all London boroughs and the City of London Corporation 
(previously 100% in 2018-19). The five 100% business rates pilots 
which started in 2017-18 will continue at 100% in 2019-20; The bid 
submitted by Cumbria was not successful

 updating Council tax figures to reflect decisions local authorities 
made in 2018-19, revised tax base growth assumptions, and 
assumptions on council tax increases 

3.11 The provisional settlement also included the announcement that MHCLG is 
considering, in conjunction with HM Treasury, what interventions may be 
needed in relation to the few authorities that it is aware of, that are continuing 
to undertake significant borrowing for commercial purposes. 

Page 42



3.12 In addition to the announcements affecting 2019-20, the government 
published two consultations alongside the provisional local government 
finance settlement: 

 A review of local authorities’ relative needs and resources; a 
technical consultation on the assessment of local authorities’ 
relative needs, relative resources and transitional arrangements”

 “Business Rates Retention Reform - Sharing risk and reward, 
managing volatility and setting up the reformed system”; a 
consultation on the proposed 2020-21 Redesign and Reset of the 
Business Rates Retention (BRR) scheme.  

3.13 The Settlement outlines the [provisional] Settlement Funding Assessment 
(SFA) (comprising Revenue Support Grant and retained business rates 
income (baseline funding)) for local authorities and the impact on the core 
spending power of local authorities. Core Spending Power is the 
Governments measure of the core components of local government funding. It 
comprises the aggregate of the Settlement Funding Assessment, assumed 
income from council tax, New Homes Bonus, Improved Better Care Fund 
funding and Rural Services Delivery Grant.

3.14 A summary of the Council’s provisional Settlement Funding Assessment and 
Core Spending Power – over the spending review period - is set out in table 1.

Table 1: Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) & Core Spending Power
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue Support Grant 2,523 1,700 1,061 652 196
Baseline funding 3,284 3,346 3,414 3,517 3,597
Total – SFA 5,807 5,046 4,475 4,169 3,793
Assumed Council tax 4,537 4,714 4,920 5,100 5,338
New Homes Bonus 1,079 1,533 1,612 1,004 838
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant 63 324 261 326 326

Other grants1 48 48 51 80 117
Core spending power 11,534 11,665 11,319 10,679 10,412
Annual change - 1.1% -3.0% -5.7% -2.5%
Cumulative change - 1.1% -1.9% -7.4% -9.7%

1Compensation for under-indexing the business rates multiplier

3.15 Nationally, the government’s figures indicate that Core Spending Power will 
increase by an average of +2.8% in 2019-20. This is based on the assumption 
that every council raises their council tax by the maximum permitted without a 
referendum, and that the annual growth in the council tax base remains 
consistent with the growth achieved by each local authority between 2013-14 
and 2018-19. For the local government sector as a whole, the change in Core 
Spending Power over the whole Spending Review period is +3.8% in cash 
terms.  

Page 43



3.16 For Allerdale the figures highlight a projected reduction in the Council’s core 
spending power by around 9.7% in cash terms, from £11.53m to £10.41m 
between 2015-16 and 2019-20. This includes a reduction of approximately 
£2m (35%) in the Settlement Funding Assessment, offset by a projected 
increase of approximately £0.8m (19%) in council tax income (including base 
growth and levels increasing by CPI) and £0.1m (10%) in the levels of New 
Homes Bonus, Rural Services Delivery Grant and other grants over the 
spending review period. The revenue grant funding element of the Council’s 
Settlement Funding Assessment has fallen from £2.523m in 2015-16 to 
£0.196m in 2019-20.Since the implementation of Business Rates retention in 
2013-14 baseline funding amounts have increased in line with inflation.

3.17 The reductions in RSG, which underpin the reduction in the Settlement 
Funding Assessment over the spending review period, were timetabled to 
coincide with the planned transition to 100% local rates retention in 2019-20. 
However, following the snap 2017 General Election and the subsequent fall of 
the Local Government Finance Bill 2016-17, this policy was paused. The 
Finance Bill would, amongst other things, have provided the legislative 
framework for the introduction of 100% Business Rates Retention (BRR). 
Without a change to primary legislation a move to 100% BRR is not possible. 
Therefore whilst the Government has used the 2019-20 settlement to reaffirm 
its intention to move to 75% local retention in 2020-21 any further move to 
100% local retention is unlikely to be implemented before 2022-23 (if at all).

3.18 The Council tax referendum principles have also been announced, with the 
basic referendum limit for Council Tax set at 3% (as in 2018-19). For district 
councils increases of less than 3% or up to and including £5 (on a band D 
property), whichever is higher can be made without triggering a referendum. 

3.19 As previously announced social care authorities will be able to increase their 
council tax by up to 2% (over the existing basic referendum threshold of 3% 
referred to above) provided the additional (social care) precept increases do 
not exceed 6% over the 3 year period 2017-18 to 2019-20. This means if a 
council had elected to use the higher 3% threshold in 2017-18 and 2018-19, 
the social care precept cannot be applied in 2019-20. For Police and Crime 
Commissioners, the limit for 2018-19 is £24 (up from £12 in 2018-19) on a 
Band D property. No referendum limits apply to town and parish councils and 
the government has announced that it will continue to defer the setting of 
referendum principles subject to town and parish demonstrating restraint in 
setting their local precept.

4. Local Government funding - resources available to support the 2019-20 
Revenue Budget

4.1 Following introduction of the Business Rate Retention Scheme (BRRS) in 
April 2013, central government support for local government (the Settlement 
Funding Assessment) now comprises two main funding streams: 

i. Revenue Support Grant (RSG), and
ii. amounts funded through the Business Rates Retention scheme (the 

(NNDR) baseline funding level). 

Page 44



4.2 The Settlement Funding Assessment represents the Authority’s share of 
central government’s local government spending control total. In addition to 
the Settlement Funding Assessment, there are also various specific grants 
(sometimes called targeted grants) distributed outside the settlement. The 
basis on which these grants are distributed varies from grant to grant. They 
include non-ringfenced grants, which have no accompanying restrictions on 
what councils can spend the money on, and ring-fenced grants where the 
expenditure is controlled to fund a particular service that is a national priority.

4.3 The Council’s net revenue budget is funded from the following:
 Central Government grants
 the Business Rate Retention Scheme (non-domestic rates)
 Council Tax
 Income from fees and charges
 Interest and investment income.

Revenue Support Grant 

4.4 Revenue Support Grant is a non-ringfenced central government grant that can 
be used to finance revenue expenditure on any service. The amount of 
Revenue Support Grant to be provided to local authorities is established 
through the local government finance settlement. 

4.5 The Council’s RSG settlement for 2019-20, included in the Provisional 
Finance Settlement for 2019-20, is £196k. This represents a reduction of 
£0.456m (70%) on the amount (£0.652m) awarded in 2018-19 and a 
cumulative reduction of £4.61m (96%) on the amount received in 2013-14 
(£4.8m). The Council’s RSG allocation for 2019-20 is unchanged from the 
amount included in multi-year settlement announced in 2016-17.

Table 2: Provisional local government settlement 2019-20
2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20Settlement Funding 

Assessment £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue Support Grant 1,700 1,061 652 196
Baseline funding 3,346 3,414 3,517 3,597
Total 5,046 4,475 4,169 3,793

Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG)

4.6 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) is a non-ringfenced section 31 grant 
paid by central government to rural authorities in recognition of the extra costs 
of delivering public services in sparsely populated areas. The grant is paid to 
the upper quartile of authorities based on the super-sparsity indicator, a proxy 
for rurality which ranks authorities by the proportion of the population which is 
scattered widely using census data and weighted towards the authorities with 
the sparsest populations. 

4.7 The Authority’s RSDG allocation for 2019-20 is £325,556. This includes the 
funding increase, announced as part of the provisional 2019-20 settlement, 

Page 45



which increased the indicative amount included in four year settlement to 
match the 2018-19 funding level. 

Levy Account Surplus Allocation 

4.8 As part of the operation of the business rates retention system, some 
authorities pay a levy on the growth in their business rates. This levy is 
designed to meet the cost of safety net payments for those authorities that 
have seen a decline in their income below 92.5% of their individual baseline 
funding level in a single financial year. Levy income and safety net payments 
are credited and charged to the levy account, which is managed by MHCLG 
on behalf of local government.  

4.9 National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR3) data published on 21 November 2018 
confirmed that, as a result of growth in business rates collected by authorities 
in 2017-18 and the associated levy payments, there is a surplus of £195m in 
the 2018-19 levy account. The Government intends to distribute the majority 
of the surplus, £180m, to all local authorities on the basis of the 2013-14 
settlement funding assessment allocations, i.e. the sum of each authority’s 
Revenue Support Grant and Baseline Funding Level allocations. This reflects 
the fact that in previous years Revenue Support Grant was top-sliced from the 
settlement to fund safety net payments.

4.10 The Authority’s share of this allocation (which is excluded from the Core 
Spending Power) is £55,184.The Final Settlement, published at the end of 
January 2019, indicates that this allocation will be distributed to Authorities in 
2018-19. 

Other Government Grants – New Homes Bonus

4.11 The New Homes Bonus was introduced in 2011 to provide an incentive for 
local authorities to encourage housing growth in their areas. It match funds 
the council tax raised on the net number of additional new homes and long 
term empty properties brought back into use and is based on data included in 
the Council Tax Base Return (CTB1) submitted in October each year. In two-
tier areas the bonus is split 80:20 between the district and county councils. 

Page 46



Table 3: New Homes Bonus Grant
Year of Payment (Allerdale Borough Council Share)

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20Year
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

- 84 84 84
- 16 16 16
- 222 222 222 222
- 469 469 469 469
-  277 277 277 277
1   458 458 458 458
2 178 178 178
3 91 91
4 111

Total 791 1,068 1,526 1,604 1,004 838

4.12 The provisional allocations of New Homes Bonus funding for 2018-19 were 
announced in early December. Final allocations were published alongside the 
final local government finance settlement in January 2019. The Council’s 
allocation of New Homes Bonus grant funding for 2019-20 is £838,075. A 
reduction of £165,485 on the £1,003,560 received in 2018-19. This is paid as 
a non-ring-fenced grant meaning the Council is free to decide how to spend it 
and can spend it on either revenue or capital or place it in reserves. 

4.13 Following changes announced in 2016, the number of years during which 
New Homes Bonus payments are made was reduced from six to five years in 
2017-18 and to four years from 2018-19. The 2019-20 settlement introduced 
no further changes to the number of years during which the bonus is paid.

4.14 The changes made to New Homes Bonus funding in 2016 also included the 
introduction, from 2017-18, of a national baseline for housing growth of 0.4% 
of council tax base (weighted by band), below which the Bonus will not be 
paid. No changes were made to this baseline in 2018-19. However, the 
Government retained the option of making adjustments to the baseline in 
future years to reflect significant additional housing growth and to remain 
within spending limits set at Spending Review 2015.

4.15 After considering responses to the 2019-20 local government finance 
settlement technical consultation, issued in July 2018, the Government has 
decided not to make any changes to the national baseline for housing growth. 
The baseline therefore remains at 0.4% for 2019-20.

Business rates (non-domestic rates - NNDR) 
4.16 Under the business rates retention scheme, 40% of business rates (NNDR) 

collected is retained by the Council. The remainder is paid to Central 
Government (50%) and Cumbria County Council (10%). The scheme also 
provides that certain sums are to be treated as being outside the scheme and 
retained in their entirety by the Council (or by the Council and the County 
Council).The Council is also able to retain the growth in the local share of 
business rates, subject to the payment of a levy to central government, 

Page 47



designed to prevent disproportionate increases in the Council’s funding as a 
result of growth in business rates income.

4.17 A system of top-up and tariffs ensures the Council’s share of estimated 
business rates income (business rates baseline) does not exceed the level of 
funding to be provided through the business rates retention scheme (baseline 
funding). Tariffs, top-ups and baseline funding levels are indexed each year in 
line with the small business rates multiplier (usually set at the September 
RPI). Top-up, tariffs and baseline amounts have also been adjusted to ensure 
that the impact of the 2017 revaluation was revenue neutral for local 
authorities. The Council’s baseline funding for 2019-20 is £3.597m and the 
amount of tariff payable is £7.299m. 

4.18 The amount of business rates income available to the Council’s general fund 
and taken into account when setting the budget, is based on an estimate 
made in January preceding the start of the financial year and included in the 
government return NNDR 1 (i.e. January 2019 for the 2019-20 Financial 
Year). This estimate of business rate income, reported in the government 
return NNDR 1, also determines how much the Council must pay to central 
government and the County Council during the course of the year.

4.19 The estimate of business rates income takes into account any projected 
changes in the tax base, estimated losses due to appeals and expected 
collection rates. The amounts paid to the County Council and central 
government and the amount retained by the Council are fixed at the outset of 
each year (based on the estimates included in the Council’s NNDR 1 return). 
As a consequence, any difference between estimated amounts and the actual 
amounts receivable will result in a surplus, or deficit on the Council’s 
Collection Fund. An estimate must therefore be made by the Council of the 
surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund at the end of the previous financial 
year. This estimated amount is then shared between the Council, Cumbria 
County Council and central government and added (or subtracted) from each 
Authorities share of the following year’s non-domestic rating income. The 
estimated Collection Fund surplus at 31 March 2019 relating to business rates 
is £32,213. The Council’s share of this surplus is £12,885.

4.20 A summary of the business rate income included in the 2019-20 budget is 
shown in table 4. 

Page 48



Table 4: Estimated Business Rates (NNDR) funding 2019-20 
Funding Element £’000
Allerdale Share of NNDR Income 10,802
Renewable Energy disregard – retained by billing authority 411
Net tariff payable to Central Government (7,299)
Share of estimated Collection Fund surplus at 31 March 2019 13

3,927
Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (475)
Section 31 grant 2,280

Total estimated income from Business Rates 5,732

4.21 As part of the business rates retention scheme, local authorities have the 
option of working with neighbouring authorities to seek formal designation as 
a pool which is treated as a single authority for the purpose of certain 
calculations under the scheme. This provides the opportunity to increase the 
amount of growth in the local share retained locally (through a reduction in the 
levy rate). Pooling also provides scope to manage the impact of volatility in 
rates income across a wider economic area.

4.22 A Cumbria Business Rates Pool has been in place since April 2014. Prior to 
2018-19 membership of the pool consisted of Cumbria County Council 
Allerdale Borough Council, Barrow Borough Council, Carlisle City Council, 
Eden District Council and South Lakeland District Council. In 2018-19 
membership of the pool was extended to include Copeland Borough Council. 
After undertaking appropriate due diligence, including modelling the individual 
position alongside the pool position, the Authority has entered into a formal 
pooling arrangement, comprising Cumbria County Council and all six 
Cumbrian District Councils, in 2019-20

4.23 In 2019-20 it is estimated that additional business rates income of £552k, that 
would otherwise have been paid to central government through the levy 
payment, will remain available to the Council’s general fund as a result of the 
agreed pooling arrangement. 

4.24 At previous Autumn statements and Budget events, the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer announced various changes to the business rates system that 
affect the business rates income of local authorities. The following changes 
will affect the Council’s business rates income in 2019-20:

(i) permitting ratepayers receiving Small Business Rate Relief that take 
on an additional property to continue to receive their current relief for 
12 months 

(ii) making permanent the doubling of small business rates relief from 1 
April 2017 and changing eligibility thresholds from 2017-18 

(iii) providing discretionary relief of £1,500 in respect of the office space 
occupied by local newspapers

Page 49



(iv) doubling rural rate relief; to be awarded through discretionary relief 
until such time as the Government can make the necessary changes 
to primary legislation.

(v) providing support to small businesses, facing large increases as a 
result of the loss of small business or rural rate relief, due to the 
revaluation. This relief took effect from 1 April 2017 for a period of 5 
years.

(vi) a discretionary scheme administered by Billing Authorities, available 
to ratepayers facing large increases as a result of revaluation. This 
relief would take effect from 1 April 2017, for a period of 4 years

(vii) a 100% rate relief scheme for new telecom fibre applicable 
retrospectively to 1 April 2017 for a period of 5 years.

(viii) a business rates Retail Discount scheme for occupied retail 
properties with a rateable value of less than £51,000 in each of the 
years 2019-20 and 2020-21.

4.25 A central government grant under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003 will be paid to authorities to compensate them for the ongoing loss of 
business rates income they suffer as a result of these changes. A grant is also 
paid to compensate local authorities for the ongoing loss of income they suffer 
as a result of past decisions made by Government to cap the increase in the 
small business multiplier (to 2% in each of 2014-15 and 2015-16 and 3% in 
2018-19), and for the impact of the decision to use CPI rather than RPI to 
uprate the business rates multiplier from April 2018.

4.26 A reconciliation of the baseline funding contained in the 2019-20 local 
government finance settlement to the total estimated income from business 
rates is set out in table 5.

Table 5: Reconciliation of 2019-20 business rates income to baseline funding
Funding Element £’000
Baseline funding 3,597
Share of retained growth 1,159
Pool gains 552
Renewable Energy disregarded income retained by Authority 411
Share of Collection Fund Surplus/(Deficit) 13
s31 Grant on multiplier cap (excluded from growth/levy) -
Total estimated income from Business Rates 5,732

Page 50



Council tax 

4.27 Each year the Council must calculate the amount of revenue it needs to raise 
through council tax (the council tax requirement). Calculation of the council tax 
requirement is calculated based on the Authority’s estimates of: 

 the expenditure it will incur in the year less estimates of the income it 
will receive from government grants, business rates, fees and charges 
and interest and investment income 

 allowances required for contingencies in relation to amounts to be 
charged or credited to revenue 

 the financial reserves it will be appropriate to raise in the year for 
meeting its estimated future expenditure, less

 the amount of the financial reserves that will be used in the financial 
year to meet expenditure.

4.28 The Authority’s council tax requirement must also take into account the 
amounts the Council is required to transfer during the year between its 
General Fund and Collection Fund in respect of its share of any surpluses or 
deficits on the Collection Fund for the previous year in respect of business 
rates and council tax.

4.29 The amount of council tax income available to the Council’s general fund in 
the financial year is fixed at the level determined when the council tax is set. 
This amount is paid out of the Council’s Collection Fund regardless of how 
much council tax is actually collected during the year. As a consequence, if 
more council tax is collected than expected a surplus on the Collection Fund 
will arise; if less is collected, a deficit will result. Statutory provisions require 
the surplus or deficit on the council tax element of the collection fund for the 
previous year to be estimated on 15 January of that year. The estimated 
surplus/deficit on the Collection Fund is shared out, in accordance with 
statutory provisions, between the Council and the major precepting authorities 
(Cumbria County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cumbria) in the following year and taken into account in the budget 
calculations for that year. 

4.30 The estimate of the collection fund surplus in respect of council tax at 31 
March 2019, to be distributed in 2019-20, is £280,267 of which Allerdale 
Borough Council’s share is £36,547.

Table 6: Allocation of collection fund surplus (council tax) at 31 March 2019
Share of 

surplus/(deficit)
£000

Cumbria County Council 207
Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner 36
Allerdale Borough Council 37
Total estimated surplus 280

Page 51



Proposed council tax increase

4.31 The Council has the ability to set any level of council tax increase. However, 
whilst the Localism Act 2011 abolished Council Tax capping in England, it 
introduced in its place, a power for local electorates to approve or veto 
excessive council tax rises. Since 2012-13, an authority setting a council tax 
increase which exceeds principles endorsed by the House of Commons 
alongside the local government finance settlement (i.e. which is “excessive”) 
will be required to hold a council tax referendum. The result of a council tax 
referendum is binding. 

4.32 For 2016-17 and 2017-18 the threshold level, above which council tax 
increases was considered excessive, was set at 2% or more than £5 above 
the amount of council tax in previous year (whichever is higher). In 2018-19 
the referendum threshold for shire district councils was increased to 3% or up 
to and including £5, whichever is higher, to reflect the level of inflation. The £5 
threshold applies to band D properties with proportionate increases being 
applied to properties in other council tax bands. 

4.33 This threshold was also included in the technical consultation on the 2019-20 
Local Government Finance Settlement issued by the Government in 
September. The Council’s budget consultation was therefore conducted on 
the assumption that the threshold that applied in 2018-19 would continue to 
apply in 2019-20. 

4.34 The Council therefore proposes to increases Council Tax by £5 on band D 
Properties, with proportionate increases being applied to properties in other 
council tax bands. This equates to an increase equal to 2.98% across all 
council tax valuation bands.

Council tax base 

4.35 After calculating its council tax requirement, each local authority then sets its 
basic amount of council tax (band D) at the level necessary to raise this 
amount, taking into account its likely collection rate. The basic amount council 
tax is calculated by reference to the Council’s council tax requirement and its 
council tax base.

4.36 The council tax base is the number of Band D equivalent dwellings in a local 
authority area. The tax base is therefore an estimate of the taxable capacity 
for the borough as a whole and for each parish area. To calculate the tax, the 
number of dwellings in each council tax band is reduced to take account of 
discounts and exemptions. This includes reductions awarded under the 
Council’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The resulting figure for each 
property band is then multiplied by its proportion relative to Band D (from 6/9 
for Band A to 18/9 for Band H) and the total across all eight bands is 
calculated. An adjustment is then made for the collection rate.

4.37 The tax base for 2019-20 has been set at 30,662.47. This represents an 
increase of approximately 1% on the 2018-19 tax base of 30,359.94.

Page 52



4.38 Council tax raised on behalf of parish and town councils (‘Parish Precepts) are 
incorporated into the Council’s general fund budget and council tax 
requirement. Details of parish precepts for 2019-20 are set out in Appendix A.

Grant to Parish Councils re Local Support for Council Tax

4.39 Under the Welfare Reform Act 2012, Council Tax benefit paid to low income 
households was abolished from 1April 2013. In its place, all Billing Authorities 
were required to put in place a Local Support for Council Tax scheme 
(LSCT),which is a discount scheme (similar to single person discounts but 
with variable rates of discount depending on individual circumstances). The 
changes introduced by the 2012 Act also necessitated amendments to the 
way in which the Council Tax base is calculated.

4.40 Prior to 2014-15, funding for Council Tax Support schemes was separately 
identifiable in the formula grant settlement. However, since 2014-15 this 
funding has been “rolled up” into the Council’s Revenue Support Grant which 
has subsequently been scaled back and hence the amount of grant available 
to pass on to parishes continues to reduce.

4.41 MHCLG has continued to stress that it is for each local authority to determine 
how the funding to Town and Parish Councils is allocated. Whilst there are no 
plans to make the redistribution of these monies compulsory, the Government 
is expecting some funding to be allocated to parishes. As this Authority’s 
revenue budget continues to come under pressure from reductions in Central 
Government funding, the level of redistributed to parishes also needs to be 
reviewed.

4.42 The MHCLG’s preferred approach to funding local precepting authorities in 
relation to local council tax support schemes is through a voluntary 
arrangement whereby billing and local precepting authorities agree the 
amount of funding, allocated initially to billing authorities, to be passed down 
to local precepting authorities.

4.43 In the 2018-19 budget, the amount of CTRS grant funding passed to Town 
and Parish Councils was reduced from £41,332 to £20,666 to reflect the 
previously agreed phased withdrawal of funding to Town and Parish Councils 
in response to the reductions in Central Government grant received by the 
Council. Members were are also requested to note that 2018-19 would be the 
final year that CTRS grant would be paid to Parish and Town Councils.

Page 53



5. Determination of the council’s net budget (budget requirement)

5.1 Preparation of the council’s 2019-20 net revenue budget begins with a roll 
forward of the 2018-19 recurring base budget (£11,533k). This figure is then 
adjusted to accommodate:

 changes to salary costs including the impact of pay awards, 
incremental pay increases and changes to establishment 

 recurring growth and savings
 self-sufficiency savings, and
 non-recurring growth and savings - i.e. those required for the current 

year only. 

5.2 In line with the Budget Strategy presented to Executive on 21 November 
2018, the key assumptions/parameters adopted as part of this budget are to:-

 prioritise delivery of the council plan with a strong emphasis on 
supporting economic growth to support our self-sufficiency plans

 continue to identify areas where efficiencies can be made
 increase income from fees and charges in line with the Council’s  

charging policy
 increase the base budget to reflect inflation in line with our contractual 

commitments based on the relevant measure of inflation 
 not to apply a general inflationary uplift to non-pay expenditure  in 

order to drive further efficiencies
 cost salary expenditure based on revised structures and new NJC 

pay-scales effective from 1 April 2019 
 continue to allow for a 2% reduction to accommodate staff turnover 

during the year  
 increase expected income from Council tax based on an increase of 

by £5 p.a. on band D Properties, with proportionate increases being 
applied to properties in other council tax bands is approved. 

5.3 The Council’s net revenue budget (budget requirement) for 2019-20 is shown 
in table 7. 

Page 54



Table 7: 2019-20 Revenue Budget
2019-20 Reference

£000
Base Budget 11,533
Change in salary costs - recurring 210 5.7
Recurring growth 1,089 5.8/Appendix C
Recurring savings (1,257) 5.9/Appendix C
Recurring (base) budget 11,575
Change in salary costs – non-recurring 14
Non-recurring growth 1,243 5.11/Appendix D
Non-recurring savings (27) 5.13/Appendix D
Net Expenditure 12,805
Expenditure on earmarked priorities 395 Appendix H
Proposed Budget (excluding parish precepts) 13,200
Parish precepts 2,198 Appendix A
Proposed Budget (including parish precepts) 15,398
Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (395) Appendix H
Net Budget Requirement 15,003

5.4 The Council’s net budget requirement is funded as follows:

Table 8: 2019-20 Revenue Funding 
2019-20 Paragraph

£000
Revenue support grant 196 4.4
Rural Services Delivery Grant 326 4.7
Other government grants (New Homes Bonus) 838 4.11
Other government grants (Levy Surplus) 0 4.8
Council tax – excluding parish element 5,304 4.27
Council tax – parish element 2,198
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 37 4.30
NNDR funding 5,719 4.16
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - NNDR 13 4.16
Use of /(contribution to) General Fund Balances 372
Total funding 15,003

5.5 The budget for net expenditure in 2019-20, excluding parish precepts and 
spend on earmarked priorities (met from the use of earmarked reserves) is 
£12,805k. This compares with a total of £13,061k for 2018-19 (revised 
budget).  A summary of the changes underlying the movement between the 
2018-19 revised budget and the proposed 2019-20 budget, is set out in 
Appendix E.

Page 55



5.6 A breakdown of the Revenue Budget for 2019-20 by Executive member 
portfolio is set out in Appendix B. 

Change in salary costs - £224k (recurring and non-recurring)

5.7 This is the total increase required to cover a number of changes in the salary 
budgets. These changes include the cost of the nationally agreed pay award, 
the cost of annual increments due and changes to staffing structures. The 
changes comprise recurring growth of £210k and non-recurring growth of 
£14k.

Recurring growth - £1,089k

5.8 Details of recurring growth bids included as adjustment to the Council’s base 
budget are summarised in table 9:

Table 9: Recurring growth bids 2019-20
BidBid Detail £000

Banking & Interest: Increase in interest costs to reflect full year impact of 
additional PWLB loans expected to be drawn down in 2018-19 and the part 
year cost of additional loans expected to be drawn down in 2019-20 

124

Minimum Revenue Provision: Increase in amount required to be set aside 
from revenue to meet the cost of capital expenditure funded by borrowing 518 

Insurances: Increase in insurance premium costs 14

Second Homes Grant: Removal of second homes grant income following 
end of agreement with Cumbria County Council 195

NNDR cost various properties: Increase in NNDR costs 30

Sports & Leisure Centres: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 17

The Wave: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 6

Sports & Leisure Centres: Scheduled reduction in contribution received 
from GLL to compensate the Council for additional revenue financing costs 
associated with improvement works at Cockermouth Sports Centre

40

Multi-storey Car Park: Maintenance of pay and display machines 10
Housing Benefits Administration Grant: Reduction in housing benefits 
administration grant receivable 33

Investment income Town Centre: Reduction to the Council's share of rental 
income as a result of anticipated reductions in rents 35

Homelessness: Increase in budget to meet responsibilities under Homeless 
Reduction Act 44

Homelessness: Annual contribution to the new Choice Based Letting (CBL) 
system being implemented across Cumbria 10

Elections: Increase in annual contribution to elections fund increasing the 
contribution from £35k to £40k p.a. 5

Strategy, Policy & Performance: Increase in research and partnership 
working budget 8

Total recurring growth bids 1,089

Page 56



Recurring savings – (£1,257k)

5.9 Details of recurring savings bids included as adjustment to the Council’s base 
budget are summarised below:

Table 10: Recurring savings bids 2019-20
BidBid Detail £000

Parish Councils: Cessation of Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) grant 
payments (21)

Parish Councils: Cessation of Burial Grants payments (14)
Pension Deficit funding: Reduction in pension deficit funding costs 
reflecting the realisation of savings generated from prepaying contributions 
for the three year period 2017-18 to 2019-20 in 2017-18 

(17)

Grounds Maintenance & Street Cleansing: Reduction in annual service 
costs on commencement of new contract on 1 April 2019 (318)

Trade, Recycling & Domestic Waste: Reduction in annual service costs on 
commencement of new contract on 1 April 2019 (net of adjustment to income 
budget relating to sale of recyclable material)

(508)

Carnegie Trust: Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded (15)

Bereavement Services: Uplift in income to reflect increases in fees and 
charges (8)

Trade Waste: Increase in trade waste income to reflect increase in fees and 
charges (£30k); growth in customer numbers (£30k) and the introduction of 
charges for  paper and card recycling service, which is currently provided for 
free (£140k)

(200)

Recycling: budget reduction to reflect withdrawal of the Purple Bag scheme 
following roll out of the new recycling arrangements (35)

Environmental Initiatives: Grounds maintenance savings following transfer 
of Vulcan Park to Workington Town Council (18)

Off-street Car Parks - Owned: Increase in income to reflect changes to fees 
and charges (20)

Tenanted Properties: Increase in annual rents following rent review 
programme of tenanted properties (10)

Industrial Units: Increase in annual rents following rent review programme of 
industrial ground rents (16)

Other Land & Buildings: Forecast increase in annual rents (10)
Camping and Caravan Site Keswick: Uplift in lease rental income to reflect 
increase in revenue generated by site operator from inflationary uplift to fees 
charged 

(26)

Festivals & Events: Adjustment to net budget for Lakesman event 2019 (13)

Corporate Recruitment: Reduction in costs of placing external adverts (8)

Total recurring savings bids (1,257)

Page 57



Non-recurring growth/savings

5.10 There are a number of bids that are non-recurring, i.e. they are required for 
one year only, and therefore will not directly impact on the base budget.  
These are summarised in the following tables:

Non-recurring growth - £1,243k

5.11 The non-recurring growth bids included in the Council’s net budget 
requirement are summarised in table 11:

Table 11: Non-Recurring growth bids 2019-20
BidBid Detail £000

Footway Lighting: Increase in budget for electricity utility costs pending 
transfer of responsibility for footway lighting assets to Parish and Town 
Councils

5

Footway Lighting: Increase in repairs and maintenance budget pending 
transfer of responsibility for footway lighting assets to Parish and Town 
Councils

10

New Finance System: Purchase and implementation of new finance 
system in anticipation of support and maintenance of the existing system 
being withdrawn over the next 2 to 4 years

100

Strategic Priorities: Establishment of revenue budget provision to meet 
revenue costs associated with Council’s Transformation, Sustainability and 
Invest to Save agenda

500

Leisure Activity: Grant support for Leisure Activity in Maryport and Wigton 30
Trade, Recycling and Domestic Waste: Cost of hiring vehicles required as 
part of the mobilisation of services under the new waste contract scheduled 
to commence on 1 April 2019

33

Reinstatement of Public Right of Way (Maryport): Contribution to 
feasibility study on restoring the Public Right of Way which has been closed 
due to a landslip following Storm Desmond in 2015.

20

IT Services: Renewal of support and maintenance agreement for the 
wireless networking facility 7

IT Services: Replacement of EndPoint (cyber security) Protection solution 25
Cash Receipting System: Licence renewal and upgrade to cash receipting 
system software 50

Arcus system: Increase in costs of data migration to a cloud based suite of 
systems covering the services of Planning, Building Control, Planning 
Policy, Environmental Protection, Environmental Health and Housing, Land 
Charges and Licensing

63

Housing development: Pump-priming costs associated with delivery of 
Housing capital schemes and establishment of an arms-length housing 
company (£1k Programme Promotion; £2k revenue budget to sit alongside 
the Otley Road capital budget; £2k external advice on establishing a 
housing company)

5

Shop Front Improvements: Continuation of the town centre improvement 
scheme with a focus on Silloth and Aspatria 50

Page 58



Bid Detail Bid
£000

Stadium: Match funding in relation to grant assistance from the Football 
Foundation for 3G pitches (revenue contribution to capital expenditure) 100

Stadium: Ground improvements to Derwent Park to accommodate 
temporary relocation of Workington AFC 50

Development budget: Pump-priming costs associated with delivery of 
schemes that will support delivery of the Council Plan in Maryport 45

Elections: Increase in elections budget to address anticipated shortfall in 
the earmarked reserve balance needed to meet the cost of the May 2019 
elections

10

Planning Policy: Costs associated with examination of the Local Plan by 
the Planning Inspector 40

Tackling inequalities: Increase in  budget to support initiatives to tackle 
inequalities 100

Total non-recurring growth bids 1,243

Non- recurring savings - (£27k)

5.12 Details of non-recurring saving bids included in the Councils net budget 
requirement are summarised in table 12.

Table 12: Non-recurring savings bids 2019-20
BidBid Detail £000

Homelessness: Increase in grant support from central government (27)

Total non-recurring savings bids (27)

Contingencies 

5.13 The Council includes in its recurring (base) budget a central contingency 
budget for unquantifiable risks. The contingency balance held for 2019-20 is 
£105,050.

Page 59



6. Capital budget

6.1 Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-current 
assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in excess of 12 
months as well as expenditure on additions to, or enhancement of, existing 
non-current assets. It also includes items such as grants towards capital 
expenditure incurred by third parties (for example Disabled Facilities Grants). 

6.2 The following paragraphs set out the Council’s proposed capital programme 
for 2019-20 and the following two financial years (2020-21 and 2021-22) 
together with a summary of how this expenditure will be financed. 

6.3 Capital expenditure may also impact on the Council’s revenue budget. Where 
this is the case, the revenue implications of capital expenditure are dealt with 
as part of the Revenue Budget process. Examples of the revenue implications 
of capital expenditure include:

 increases/decreases in operating costs, e.g. utilities, maintenance, staff 
costs or increased income from new or enhanced assets

 the requirement to set aside from the General Fund an annual amount 
(the Minimum Revenue Provision), to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded from borrowing or other credit arrangements 

 increased finance costs, either by way of interest on borrowing or the 
loss of income on investment balances, used to fund capital 
expenditure.

Financing the capital programme 

6.4 Resources available to finance capital expenditure include:
 Capital receipts (usable proceeds from asset sales)
 Grants and contributions from third parties
 Direct financing from revenue. 

6.5 Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front from these resources will 
increase the Council’s underlying need to borrow, as measured by the capital 
financing requirement (CFR). The Council’s underlying borrowing is not 
necessarily the same as its actual borrowing position. The level of external 
debt will be determined in accordance with the Council’s treasury 
management strategy and practices. As a consequence, an increase in the 
Council’s underlying borrowing position will not necessarily mean a 
corresponding increase in the amount of external borrowing.

Page 60



6.6 Statutory provisions set out the purposes to which the Council can apply its 
available capital receipts. The uses specified in regulations include:

 to meet capital expenditure in the current year

 to reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with capital 
expenditure not financed from capital receipts, grants or revenue 

 to pay a premium charged in relation to any amount borrowed

 to meet the administrative costs of, or incidental to, a disposal of an 
asset.

6.7 Capital receipts and grants received to date together with (capital) grant 
funding allocations for 2019-20 have been fully committed to support the 
Council’s capital programme.

6.8 In accordance with the Codes of Practice published by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy and good professional practice, capital 
receipts expected to be received in 2019-20 and subsequent years will only 
applied to fund new (capital) priorities where, after carrying out option 
appraisals and whole life costings, it can be demonstrated that this offers 
better value for money to the Council when compared with alternative uses. 
Alternative uses include their application to reduce the underlying borrowing 
requirement associated with past expenditure. 

Proposed capital programme

6.9 The proposed capital programme covering 2019-20 and following two financial 
years is summarised in table 13. A summary of individual schemes included in 
the proposed three year capital programme analysed by Executive Member 
Portfolio is included in Appendix F.

Page 61



Table 13: Proposed Capital Programme & methods of financing
Proposed Budget 

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Expenditure1 :
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 1,505 1,000 1,000 3,505
Economic Growth 6,853 20,000 0 26,853
Corporate Resources 130 0 0 130
OD & Transformation 140 40 40 220
Environmental Quality 210 140 30 380
Tourism & Culture 1,090 0 0 1,090
Total Expenditure 9,928 21,180 1,070 32,178
Financed by:
External funding sources:
Disabled Facilities Grant (Better Care Fund)  1,125 1,000 1,000 3,125
ERDF grant - Reedlands Rd 831 0 0 831
Coastal Communities Fund - Solway Coast 840 0 0 840
Other grants - Solway Coast 250 0 0 250
Other grants - Stadium 0 1,625 0 1,625
ABC resources:
Capital Receipts 380 0 0 380
Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) 6,502 18,555 70 25,127
Total financing 9,928 21,180 1,070 32,178

1  Gross expenditure does not include any proposed budget carry forwards from the approved 
2018-19 capital programme; these requests will form part of the 2018-19 Capital Outturn 
Report.

6.10 The proposed capital programme for the three year period to March 2022 
includes the following changes to the existing three year rolling capital 
programme:

Table 14: Summary of changes to existing capital programme 
Financial year 

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
£000 £000 £000 Para

Gross expenditure
Previously approved capital programme (2018-19 
revised budget)* 9,418 2,040 0 -

Previously approved recurring capital expenditure 
programme (IT replacement) 0 0 40 -

Re-profiling of previously approved expenditure 0 0 0 6.11
Capital growth & savings bids submitted for 
approval 510 19,140 1,030 6.16

Proposed capital programme 2019-20 to 2021-22 9,928 21,180 1,070
1 including £620k reprofiling adjustment agreed by Council on 30 Jan 2019

Page 62



Re-profiling and reallocation adjustments 

6.11 Reallocation adjustments involve the transfer of previously agreed budgets 
between schemes. 

Table 15: Re-allocation adjustments 
2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

£000 £000 £000 Para
Gross expenditure
DFG - Mandatory Grants 250 250 0 6.12
DFG - Discretionary Grants (250) (250) 0 6.12
Strategic priorities and regeneration (5,000) (1,000) 0 6.14
Community Stadium 5,000 1,000 0 6.14
Strategic Acquisitions (75) 0 0 6.15
Kirkgate Centre Contribution 75 0 0 6.15
Total re-allocation adjustment 0 0 0

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) – Mandatory/Discretionary

6.12 The DGF programme involves the provisions of grant support to cover the 
cost of housing adaptations to enable people to stay living in their own home 
for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty to provide adaptations to the 
homes of disabled people who qualify for a mandatory DFG. Expenditure on 
DFGs is fully funded from an annual grant from central government. This grant 
is paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding allocations 
and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing DFGs. 

6.13 Based on current demand and expenditure projections, the whole of the 
central government grant allocation will be required to meet the Authority's 
statutory obligation provide to Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants. To 
accommodate this, the portion of the grant funding previously allocated to 
meet Discretionary Grant schemes has been re-allocated to the Mandatory 
grant budget. 

Strategic priorities and regeneration/Community Stadium

6.14 The strategic priorities and regeneration budget was created as part of the 
revised capital budget for 2018-19 (to 2020-21) to take advantage of 
opportunities that support delivery of the Council’s key priorities and 
regeneration agenda. The budget of £6m, comprising £5m in 2018-19 and 
£1m in 2019-20 has now been earmarked to support the planned Community 
Stadium Development.  This expenditure will be met from borrowing.

Strategic Acquisitions/Kirkgate Centre Contribution

6.15 Following approval of the 2018-19 revised capital budget, a virement of 
£75,000 was made from the Kirkgate Centre Contribution budget to cover a 
shortfall in the Strategic Acquisitions budget in 2018-19. This reduced the 
Kirkgate contribution budget from £100k to £25k. In 2019-20 this transfer 

Page 63



between budget headings has been reversed restoring the Kirkgate Centre 
Contribution budget to the previously agreed total of £100k. 

Capital Growth and Savings 

6.16 A number of new capital expenditure bids have been submitted for approval 
as part of the 2019-20 budget setting process. These are summarised in table 
16. 

Table 16: Summary of Capital Bids 
Financial year 

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 Total bid
Capital Scheme £000 £000 £000 £000 Para
Capital Expenditure:
DFG - Mandatory Grants 125 0 1,000 1,125 6.17
Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 100 0 0 100 6.18
Securing Affordable Homes (50) 0 0 (50) 6.19
Riverbank Works - Millfield 
Workington 30 0 0 30 6.21

Biodiversity & Green Infrastructure 
programmes 25 40 30 95 6.22

Reinstatement of Public Right of 
Way (Maryport) 0 100 0 100 6.26

Conversion of Otley Road 130 0 0 130 6.27
Maryport Container Village 150 0 0 150 6.28
Community Stadium 0 19,000 0 19,000 6.29

510 19,140 1,030 20,680
Financed by:
DFG Housing Grant 125 0 1,000 1,125
SCP Housing Grant (33) 0 0 (33)
Other grants & contributions 0 1,625 0 1,625
Capital receipts 280 0 0 280
Borrowing (unfinanced expenditure) 138 17,515 30 17,683

510 19,140 1,030 20,680

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) (£125k growth bid)

6.17 Pending confirmation of the Authority’s grant funding allocation for 2019-20, 
budgeted expenditure for 2019-20 has been set at £1,125k, based on the 
grant income allocation and forecasted expenditure in 2018-19. This 
represents an increase of £125k on the previously budgeted amount of £1m 
(inclusive of the reallocation adjustment summarised in table 16). For 2020-21 
and 2021-22, budgeted expenditure on mandatory DFGs has been included at 
a provisional amount of £1m. These estimates will be revised to align with 
future grant funding allocations once these have been confirmed. This will 
ensure that budget expenditure continues to reflect available grant funding.

Page 64



Healthy Homes – Empty Homes (£100k growth bid)

6.18 The growth bid of £100k will be used to provide grant support to enable 10 
empty homes to be brought back into use. Expenditure on this scheme is 
unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  

Securing Affordable Homes (£50k reduction in budget)

6.19 As part of the 2016-17 capital programme a budget of £50k was approved for 
2016-17 and each of the three subsequent years. This budget was targeted at 
providing grant support to assist registered housing providers to improve 
housing stock in high need areas, which would otherwise be sold. It was 
anticipated that there would be 5 grants provided each year based on prior 
experience. However, the Council has received fewer requests for disposals 
than was initially anticipated.

6.20 In recognition of the limited take-up, the decision has now been made to 
cease providing the grant support. The previously agreed budget for 2019-20 
of £50k has therefore been removed from the capital budget along with the 
associated funding which comprises grants (£33,000) and borrowing 
(£17,000).

Riverbank Works - Millfield Workington (£30k growth bid)

6.21 The scheme involves installation of rock armour to protect against further 
erosion and safeguard the adjacent access road. Expenditure on this scheme 
is unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  

Biodiversity & Green Infrastructure programmes (£95k growth)

6.22 The Council is currently involved as a key partner in connection with two 
strategic external funding bids focussed on green infrastructure and 
biodiversity

1. “Let’s Get Cumbria Buzzing” – West Cumbria’s Pollinator project. This 
is a Stage 2 Heritage Lottery (HLF) application being prepared by 
Cumbria Wildlife Trust on behalf of the Cumbria Local Nature Partnership. 
The Project value is expected to be around £1million 
2. ERDF application under Priority 6: Protecting and Restoring 
Biodiversity….including Green Infrastructure. This fund is being managed 
by the Cumbria LEP. There is a total budget of £1.3m allocated to 
Cumbria. Minimum grant is £500k. Intervention rate in Cumbria is 60%, 
which would mean a minimum project value of £833k. The “Call for 
Entries” was announced in October 2018 and an outline application, 
prepared by Cumbria Wildlife Trust (on behalf of the Cumbria Local 
Nature Partnership) will be submitted in the current financial year. 
Submission of the detailed bid would be required in April 2019. The 
project value likely to be in the region of £1.5 million.

6.23 Overall, there are between 10-15 sites in the Councils ownership that would 
benefit directly from successful applications. These include Maryport 

Page 65



Millennium Green, Northside Allotments and Siddick Pond, Harrington 
Harbour (south), Bankfield and Moorclose Green.

6.24 The capital growth bid of £95k will enable the Council to contribute to the 
match funding “packages” for both initiatives (but more targeted towards the 
HLF “Let’s Get Cumbria Buzzing” bid) to supplement the otherwise small 
contributions that could be made available from current Environmental 
Initiative budgets. If the HLF application is successful, the advantage is that 
the fund can be used as the match funding for the ERDF application. 

6.25 Expenditure on this scheme is unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  

Reinstatement of Public Right of Way - Maryport (£100k growth)

6.26 The proposed scheme relates to the restoration of the Public Right of Way, 
currently closed due to a landslip following Storm Desmond in 2015. The path 
is a key link for the local community living on top of the Seabrows, providing 
easy access to the promenade. It also provides a valuable link from the 
promenade to the Roman Museum. A non-recurring bid of £20k to fund a 
feasibility study is included in the 2019-20 revenue budget, with the final 
programme of works subject to the outcome of this study. It is envisaged that 
both Cumbria County Council and Maryport Town Council will also contribute 
to the capital works and that some external funding could also be secured. 
However, in the absence of any firm funding commitment from other parties, 
expenditure on this scheme has been treated as unfinanced and met from 
borrowing.  

Conversion of Otley Road (£130k growth)

6.27 The growth bid of £130k will be used to convert the existing commercial 
property at Otley Road Keswick in order to provide much needed residential 
accommodation in the heart of Keswick. The Council has supported the 
development of affordable accommodation in Keswick for many years and this 
property will used to support families wanting to rent in the area on a long 
term basis.  

Maryport Container Village (£150k growth)

6.28 The Council has made a commitment to support the Maryport Regeneration 
Programme and the creation of the container village on the harbour side will 
be the first project to be implemented. The concept has been tested by an 
internal group and is outlined in the Councils Maryport Business Plan as a key 
recommendation to help regenerate the area. Planning for the development 
has commenced and the Authority will be working closely with the Harbour 
Board to ensure the final product is suitable for the area. Containers will be 
finished to a high standard, however, tenants will be expected to carry out the 
final fitting details.

Page 66



Community Stadium (£19m growth)

6.29  The growth bid of £19m relates to the proposed construction of an 8,000-
capacity stadium to replace Derwent Park and Borough Park stadia as the 
home for Workington Town RLFC and Workington AFC. The development 
also incorporates extensive office accommodation and a full-size synthetic 
pitch for community use. Combined with the budget reallocated from the 
Strategic priorities and regeneration budget, the growth bid brings the total 
budget for the scheme to £25m

6.30 Final costs of the scheme have yet to be confirmed and the budget of £25m 
remains indicative, based on similar stadium developments. Pending 
completion of work to evaluate the various funding options set out in the 
outline business case, the capital budget has been prepared on the 
assumption that the development will be funded from PWLB borrowing 
totaling £23.375m, with the balance expected to be met from third party 
contributions. The amount funded from borrowing incorporates the previously 
approved Strategic priorities and regeneration budget of £6m (£5m in 2018-19 
and £1m 2019-20).

6.31 A final decision to proceed with the proposed scheme remains subject to the 
submission of a full business case and detailed financial appraisal 
demonstrating the value for money, prudence, affordability and financial 
sustainability of the development over the life of the asset and associated 
borrowing. This will include the completion of comprehensive financial risk 
analysis, scenario planning and sensitivity analysis to evaluate the impact of 
changes in key assumptions underpinning the Authority’s financial model. An 
extensive due diligence exercise will also be required to verify the 
completeness and accuracy of the underlying financial data used in the 
financial model and the robustness of the assumptions applied. 

6.32 Further details of the scheme are set out in the outline business case 
submitted to the Council’s Executive on 16 January 2019.

Financing of capital expenditure

6.33 Capital Expenditure in 2019-20 will be partly financed from:
 capital grants and contributions of £3.046m (£6.671m for the three year 

period 2019-20 to 2021-22)
 capital receipts of £380k (2019-20 only).

6.34 The remaining capital expenditure, £6.5m in 2019-20 and £25.13m in total 
over the three year period 2019-20 to 2021-22, is unfinanced and will be met 
from borrowing. Borrowing will be undertaken in accordance with the Councils 
Treasury Management Strategy, either through additional PWLB loans or by 
using cash and investment balances (internal borrowing).

6.35 This additional borrowing, along with the additional borrowing of £5.8m 
required to fund capital expenditure in 2018-19, will increase the amount of 
external (PWLB) borrowing from £15.5m (at 31 March 2018) to an estimated 
£43.8m at the end of financial year 2020-21. 

Page 67



6.36 The revenue implications of this unfinanced expenditure, including the 
amounts chargeable to the general fund in respect of the associated minimum 
revenue provision and interest costs on additional borrowing, is included in the 
revenue budgets for 2019-20 and subsequent years. It should however be 
noted that a key assumption applied in evaluating the impact of capital 
financing costs on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan is that the 
finance costs (MRP and interest) associated with the additional borrowing for 
the stadium development can be recovered from the net operating income of 
the stadium operating company. 

6.37 Further details of all schemes included in the proposed three year capital 
programme 2019-20 to 2021-22 are set out in Appendix G. 

7. Budget Assurance statement from the Chief Financial Officer

7.1 Section 25 of the local Government Act 2003 places a duty on the chief 
financial officer (Head of Financial Services) to make a report to the Council 
on the robustness of budget estimates and the adequacy of the Council’s 
reserves. The Council must have regard to this report when making its 
decisions about budgets and council tax for the forthcoming year. This is 
because the Council is setting the council tax before the commencement of 
the year and cannot increase it during the year. It is therefore important that 
there is an understanding of the risks of increased expenditure or reduced 
income during the year.

7.2 The future financial position for the Council will continue to be extremely 
challenging and the most significant risks affecting the Council over the next 
three years are:-

 the impact of funding reforms from central government including fair 
funding review, phasing out of key funding streams and the move 
towards 75% business rates retention.

 the significant level of savings required from the Council’s 
Transformation & Commercial Programme and the Regeneration 
Programme; these could prove challenging to deliver in the timeframe 
required, particularly as it is ‘all-out elections’ in May 2019.

Robustness of Estimates

7.3 The budget estimates for 2019-20 have been prepared by appropriately 
qualified and experienced staff in consultation with the service managers.  All 
the budgets have been scrutinised by the Corporate Leadership Team with 
the relevant Portfolio Holder and the whole process has been properly 
managed by the Senior Management Team.

7.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Task and Finish Group) has also 
reviewed the budget process and the draft budget position at their meetings 
during November 2018 and January 2019.

Page 68



7.5 Budgets for staff pay in 2019-20 allow for incremental progression and for a 
pay award of 2%. The budgets also include a 2% reduction for staff turnover.  
Contractual inflation has been built in but in order to drive further efficiencies, 
no other inflation has been provided for on expenditure.

7.6 Income levels have been subject to regular review at the Commercial Board 
and prudent estimates have been made. Fees and charges have been 
increased for inflation where appropriate and volatile budgets will continue to 
be closely monitored.

7.7 The advice of the Council’s treasury management advisers has been taken 
into account in estimating investment income and borrowing costs. The 
Council will continue to monitor financial markets closely.

7.8 The announcement in the Local Government settlement that Cumbria was not 
awarded status to pilot 75% business rates retention was disappointing.  
However, we remain part of a Cumbria wide Business Rates Pool and we will 
continue to monitor our position in the Pool carefully and look at further 
opportunities to pilot increased business rates retention should they arise.

7.9 The Council has identified its key corporate risks and continues to monitor 
these regularly. There is an increased risk of retaining adequate reserves for 
unforeseen circumstances, due to the potential impact of the proposed 
business rates baseline reset and the Fair Funding review. This is making 
forecasting the medium term financial position beyond 2019-20 particularly 
difficult. Additional monitoring has been put in place to ensure early 
recognition of additional losses.

7.10 The Council has recognised a need to increase its capacity to deliver key 
programmes and projects and has restructured internally to create this focus 
led by a new Head of Service for Programmes and Projects who will lead on 
the deliverability of two main programmes:

(i) the Regeneration and Investment programme, and 
(ii) the Transformation and Commercialisation programme

7.11 The Regeneration and Investment programme is an ambitious programme 
focused on the delivery of key projects that contribute to the physical 
development of the area and the long term financial sustainability of the 
Council. It will include making better use of land and property to both drive 
reductions in costs and generate additional income.  

7.12 The Transformation and Commercialisation programme is focused on how the 
Council works and how it can make best use of and obtain the most value 
from the resources at its disposal. The Transformation and Commercialisation 
programme is fundamental to delivery of the priorities as set out in the Council 
Plan. A key element of the programme will be improving the use of digital 
technology to enhance customer service and implement new ways of working. 
It will also include reviewing existing contracts and exploring opportunities to 
generate more trading and commercial income. 

Page 69



Adequacy of Reserves

7.13 In the current climate it is essential that the Council maintains reserves to deal 
with the unexpected, such as continued spending pressures or further 
reductions in income.

7.14 The Council’s financial strategy has been to maintain the strength of the 
balance sheet to provide resilience in the challenging financial environment, 
whilst reducing the recurring net cost base.

7.15 The Executive has previously agreed to deploy balances to meet priorities 
and this budget continues to ensure funds are set aside for these and to focus 
on creating economic growth and development. This expenditure has been 
taken into consideration when looking at the adequacy of general fund 
balances.

7.16 The Council will need to continue to draw on its general reserves over the 
next three years, but cannot continue with this approach indefinitely.

7.17 The success of the Transformation and Regeneration Programmes is 
therefore critical to the Council’s financial resilience over the medium term as 
it seems unlikely that the fair funding reforms and other changes to the local 
government finance system are going to improve the Council’s position 
dramatically in 2020.

7.18 Indeed, the prospect is that district councils generally might suffer if resources 
are diverted away to fund the spiralling cost of social care and children’s 
services.

7.19 The Council continues to face difficult decisions ahead, despite the significant 
changes and major self-sufficiency achievements made to date.

7.20 The managed available reserves mean there is sufficient time to implement 
changes to align income with expenditure, but we cannot be complacent. The 
management team needs to continue devoting time to identifying 
opportunities and assessing the impact of all potential changes.

7.21 We will continue to focus on driving down cost through efficiency savings, 
growing income and seeking alternative delivery mechanisms but it is 
probable that the gap will not be closed entirely by such measures and that in 
the near future Council will have to consider options to reduce spending on or 
even end some services.

7.22 Given the increased level of financial risks due to the expected funding 
reductions from Central Government there is a case for retaining higher levels 
of balances. Given these circumstances the current minimum level of 
balances of £2.7m is still therefore considered to be prudent.   

7.23 However, a full review of the Council’s Reserves and Balances is to be 
undertaken and presented to the new Executive after the elections in May.  
This review will look at the Business Plan needed to deliver the Corporate 
Plan priorities for the new Council 2019-2023 and will review the authorities 

Page 70



financial standing and the Transformation and Regeneration plans needed to 
address the forecast budget deficit.

7.24 A summary of the expected movement in the general fund reserves over the 
period covered by the Councils medium term financial plan remaining is 
shown in table 17.

7.25 Based on the information currently available regarding expected levels of 
funding beyond 2019-20, the Council’s general fund balance is expected to 
fall below the minimum balance of £2.7m in 2020-21 and will be fully 
expended in 2021-22.  

Table 17: Estimated General Fund balances 

 
2018-191

£000
2019-20

£000
2020-21

£000
2021-22

£000
Opening Balance at 1 April 4,921 4,044 3,672 1,343

Add: transfer (to)/from Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0
Less: Use to finance 2018-19 Capital 
Programme (including carry-forwards) (453) 0 0 0

Less: budgeted use of GF to support 2018-19 
Revenue Budget (424) 0 0 0

Forecast revenue Outturn variance

Less: Use to fund 2019-20 Revenue Budget (372) 0 0

Less: Use to fund 2019-20 Capital Budget 0 0 0
Less: Projected Revenue Surplus/(Deficit) per 
MTFP2 0 (2,329) (2,672)

Projected Balance at 31 March 4,044 3,672 1,343 (1,329)

Less Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) (2,700) (2,700) (2,700)

Available for use 1,344 972 - -
1 Based on revised 2018/19 budget;    2 net of planned transfers to Earmarked Reserves 

7.26 In addition to general fund balances, the Council also holds Earmarked 
Reserve balances. These have largely been created from under spends and 
additional income received in previous years and have been set aside for 
specific purposes. They include amounts: 

 set aside to meet planned future expenditure 
 retained for service departmental use, including budgets carried 

forward from prior years to meet known commitments 
 relating to unspent revenue grants where there are restrictions on use 
 set aside as a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events 

or transactions. 

7.27 These reserves are reviewed on a monthly basis to ensure they are applied in 
line with corporate priorities. A detailed breakdown of the remaining 
earmarked reserves is included at Appendix H.

Page 71



8. Conclusions 

8.1 The proposed total revenue expenditure for 2019-20 including Parish precepts 
is £15,398k. This includes expenditure of £395k that will be funded from 
earmarked reserves. This results in a net budget requirement of £15,003k.

8.2 The proposed three year capital budget (2019-20 to 2021-22) is £32,178k. 
This comprises expenditure of £9,928k in 2019-20, £21,180k in 2020-21 and 
£1,070k in 2021-22. It is proposed this is funded by the following resources:

 Grants and contributions…. £6,671k  
 Capital receipts …………… £380k
 Borrowing…………………...£25,127k  

8.3 The future financial position for the Council will continue to be challenging.  
Funding for local government is uncertain and it is difficult to anticipate how 
the Government will achieve the end of austerity for the public sector as 
previously announced.

8.4 The significant funding challenges for local government are further 
exacerbated by the uncertainty due to the fundamental reform of the funding 
streams, including the phasing out of Revenue Support Grant (RSG), the 
implementation of 75% Business Rates Retention and the transfer of new 
burdens etc.

8.5 In order to address the forecast financial gap, work will continue to develop 
our thinking on innovative ideas to transform, reduce expenditure and 
increase our income streams.

8.6 Over the next financial year work will continue to reduce costs through internal 
efficiency, grow income by selling services, generate income from the 
Council’s assets and seek out alternative service delivery vehicles where 
appropriate.  

8.7 As the impact of the proposed Local Government Finance Reforms becomes 
clear and once future funding levels are known, the level of reserves will need 
to be reviewed.

8.8 The programme of change will continue and apply to all services to ensure 
that this Council is organised to ready meet the challenges that lie ahead.

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services

Page 72



Appendices 
Appendix A Parish precepts
Appendix B Budget analysed by portfolio
Appendix C 2019-20 recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio.
Appendix D 2019-20 non-recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio
Appendix E Movement in revenue budget 2018-19 (revised) to 2019-20 (original)
Appendix F Three year capital budget 2019-20 to 2021-22 - summary by portfolio
Appendix G Capital programme 2019-20 to 2021-22
Appendix H Summary of Earmarked Reserves by portfolio
Appendix I Medium Term Financial Plan
Appendix J Summary of Consultation responses

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74



Appendix A

Parish Precept Parish Precept

£ £
Above Derwent 26,741.65 Holme Abbey 12,570.27
Aikton 4,800.00 Holme East Waver 6,695.00
Allhallows 9,500.00 Holme Low 4,000.00
Allonby 10,200.00 Holme St Cuthbert 5,000.00
Aspatria 66,815.07 Ireby & Uldale 6,555.00
Bassenthwaite 7,350.00 Keswick 261,777.00
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 Kirkbampton 8,750.00
Blennerhassett& Torpenhow 10,650.00 Kirkbride 9,700.00
Blindbothel 3,400.00 Little Clifton 7,500.00
Blindcrake 7,250.00 Lorton 5,610.00
Boltons 5,150.00 Loweswater 2,550.00
Borrowdale 6,826.05 Maryport 218,570.00
Bothel & Threapland 6,000.00 Oughterside & Allerby 10,573.00
Bowness on Solway 18,784.00 Papcastle 10,000.00
Bridekirk 6,500.00 Plumbland 5,350.00
Brigham 10,000.00 Seaton 59,419.77
Bromfield 6,000.00 Sebergham 5,325.00
Broughton 18,677.73 Silloth 167,820.00
Broughton Moor 18,000.00 St Johns,Castlerigg & Wythburn 8,087.00
Buttermere 1,470.00 Thursby 23,238.33
Caldbeck 12,330.00 Underskiddaw 6,407.36
Camerton 1,500.00 Waverton 2,600.00
Cockermouth 198,570.00 Westnewton 5,625.00
Crosscanonby 16,802.00 Westward 7,500.00
Dean 12,000.00 Wigton 240,000.00
Dearham 32,000.00 Winscales 6,000.00
Dundraw 1,750.00 Woodside 5,392.00
Embleton 7,162.17 Workington 526,397.00
Gilcrux 8,600.00
Great Clifton 10,000.00
Greysouthen 10,000.00
Hayton & Mealo 4,100.00

Total 2,197,940.40

    Precept 2018-19 2,024,054     Precept 2019-20 2,197,940
   % Change in Precept 8.59%

Parish Precepts 2019-20

Change in Precept

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
Leader of the Council 1,247,365 8,017 0 8,000 0 140,000 0 0 1,403,382
Economic Growth (1,641,396) 38,480 0 35,100 (74,100) 245,000 0 0 (1,396,916)
Corporate Resources 4,537,026 28,640 0 853,993 (51,320) 615,000 0 0 5,983,339
Housing, Health & Well-being 825,580 75,940 2,846 53,520 0 5,000 (26,860) 0 936,026
Environmental Quality 2,973,717 6,090 0 99,623 (1,107,777) 83,000 0 0 2,054,653
Governance & People Resources 1,267,020 14,440 11,000 5,000 (8,350) 10,000 0 0 1,299,110
Tourism & Culture 420,895 6,360 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 412,255
Transformation 1,902,838 32,260 0 32,744 0 145,000 0 0 2,112,842

Revenue Sub Total 11,533,045 210,227 13,846 1,087,980 (1,256,547) 1,243,000 (26,860) 0 12,804,691

Parish Precepts 2,197,940 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,197,940

Total Revenue 13,730,985 210,227 13,846 1,087,980 (1,256,547) 1,243,000 (26,860) 0 15,002,631

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS
Leader of the Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 115,169 115,169
Economic Growth 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,200 13,200
Housing, Health & Well being 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Locality & Commercial Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Governance & People Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 172,490 172,490
Tourism & Culture 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,438 44,438
Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,154 50,154

Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 395,451 395,451

Total 13,730,985 210,227 13,846 1,087,980 (1,256,547) 1,243,000 (26,860) 395,451 15,398,082

2019/20 Revenue Budget

Portfolio

A
ppendix B

P
age 77



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1000 Communications and Marketing 38,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,500
1046 Corporate Improvement Team 9,020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,020
1098 Strategic Partnership 32,980 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 32,980
1100 Grants to Voluntary Organisations 57,130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 57,130
1101 Planning Policy 42,150 0 0 0 0 40,000 0 0 82,150
1103 Localities and Partnerships 7,995 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,995
1152 Leaders Portfolio 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
1179 Tackling Inequalities 0 0 0 0 0 100,000 0 0 100,000
5040 PA to Heads of Services Pay Group 30,880 1,070 0 0 0 0 0 0 31,950
5660 Director of Resources & PA 116,240 2,470 0 0 0 0 0 0 118,710
5680 Chief Executive & PA 174,130 3,340 0 0 0 0 0 0 177,470
5860 Strategy, Policy & Performance Pay Group 604,820 (8,100) 0 8,000 0 0 0 0 604,720
5870 Head of Strategy, Policy & Performance 64,250 1,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 65,550
5880 Digital Allerdale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5900 Head of Programmes & Projects 59,270 7,937 0 0 0 0 0 0 67,207

1,247,365 8,017 0 8,000 0 140,000 0 0 1,403,382

RESERVES
6701 Corporate Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62,500 62,500
6741 Corporate Priorities-Credit Union 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41,000 41,000
6744 Self Build Custom Build 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11,669 11,669

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 115,169 115,169

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix B
 C

o
n

t'dTotal Reserves

PORTFOLIO : LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

Description
Cost 

Centre

Total Revenue

P
age 78



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1018 Tenanted Properties (206,090) 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0 0 (216,090)
1019 Industrial Units (218,800) 0 0 0 (15,600) 0 0 0 (234,400)
1020 Other Land & Buildings (80,000) 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0 0 (90,000)
1025 Camping & Caravan Sites (762,491) 0 0 0 (25,500) 0 0 0 (787,991)
1027 Workington Town Centre (558,000) 0 0 35,100 0 0 0 0 (522,900)
1028 Circuses & Fairs (5,700) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,700)
1054 Building Control - Chargeable (343,940) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (343,940)
1058 Planning and Development (605,250) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (605,250)
1073 Markets (82,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (82,500)
1116 Festivals & Events 84,080 0 0 0 (13,000) 0 0 0 71,080
1122 Building Control - Non-Chargeable 1,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,010
1142 Corporate Property (26,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (26,000)
1147 Town Centres 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000
1157 Shop Front Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000
1184 Community Stadium 0 0 0 0 0 150,000 0 0 150,000
1187 Place Development 0 0 0 0 0 45,000 0 0 45,000
5260 Building Control Pay Group 290,590 22,860 0 0 0 0 0 0 313,450
5300 Planning and Development Pay Group 410,170 (1,820) 0 0 0 0 0 0 408,350
5440 Regeneration Pay Group 82,250 1,580 0 0 0 0 0 0 83,830
5600 Head of Development Services 64,940 1,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 66,240
5740 Business Support Unit, Development Services 182,970 6,420 0 0 0 0 0 0 189,390
5800 Estates 118,865 8,140 0 0 0 0 0 0 127,005
6535 Disposal of Allerdale Sites 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
6548 Social Impact Investment Fund (27,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (27,500)

(1,641,396) 38,480 0 35,100 (74,100) 245,000 0 0 (1,396,916)

RESERVES
- - - - - - - - - - -

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

A
pp

en
dix B

 C
o

nt'dTotal Reserves

PORTFOLIO : ECONOMIC GROWTH

Description
Cost 

Centre

Total Revenue

P
age 79



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1004 Corporate Management (126,025) 0 0 195,000 0 0 0 0 68,975
1015 Corporate Property Maintenance 512,640 0 0 3,458 0 0 0 0 516,098
1023 Footway Maintenance 111,940 0 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 126,940
1024 Coastal Protection & Inland Flooding 44,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,000
1032 Harrington Harbour 9,000 12,860 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,860
1034 Banking and Interest 1,029,873 0 0 123,915 0 0 0 0 1,153,788
1035 MRP & Finance Charges 713,324 0 0 517,580 0 0 0 0 1,230,904
1036 Insurances 221,025 0 0 14,040 0 0 0 0 235,065
1038 Parish Councils 34,420 0 0 0 (34,420) 0 0 0 0
1041 Contingencies 105,050 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 105,050
1069 Public Building Cleaning 86,820 2,210 0 0 0 0 0 0 89,030
1070 Public Conveniences 105,090 3,910 0 0 0 0 0 0 109,000
1118 Car Parks Inspection 38,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,000
1123 Pension Deficit 882,000 0 0 0 (16,900) 0 0 0 865,100
1170 Street Naming & Numbering (4,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,000)
1173 Council Tax Discounts 3,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,500
1174 Strategic Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 0 500,000
1175 New Finance System 0 0 0 0 0 100,000 0 0 100,000
5100 Property Services Pay Group 210,830 (8,130) 0 0 0 0 0 0 202,700
5120 Finance and Accounting Pay Group 488,749 16,350 0 0 0 0 0 0 505,099
5520 Head of Financial Services 70,790 1,440 0 0 0 0 0 0 72,230

4,537,026 28,640 0 853,993 (51,320) 615,000 0 0 5,983,339

Parish Precepts 2,197,940 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,197,940

RESERVES
6720 Footway Lighting Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,200 13,200

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,200 13,200

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix B
 C

o
n

t'd

Total Revenue

Total Reserves

PORTFOLIO : CORPORATE RESOURCES

Description
Cost 

Centre

P
age 80



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off 
Growth

One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1065 Emergency Planning 19,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,700
1072 Pest Control (5,440) 960 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,480)
1078 Health and Safety 1,350 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,350
1080 Food and Occupational Health (3,990) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,990)
1081 Environmental Protection (16,150) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (16,150)
1089 Housing Strat Function (1,040) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,040)
1092 Homelessness 5,620 0 0 53,520 0 0 (26,860) 0 32,280
1093 Assistance - Housing Services (81,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (81,500)
1096 Gypsy & Travellers 8,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,000
5560 Head of Housing & Health 32,360 (32,120) 0 0 0 0 0 0 240
5760 Housing & Environmental Health Pay group 469,930 (430,770) 0 0 0 0 0 0 39,160
5910 Programme Director for Maryport Regeneration 32,120 82,320 0 0 0 0 0 0 114,440
5920 Food Safety & Occupational Health 111,180 135,090 0 0 0 0 0 0 246,270
5930 Environmental Protection 100,880 125,400 2,846 0 0 0 0 0 229,126
5940 Housing Improvement 58,220 84,650 0 0 0 0 0 0 142,870
5950 Emergency Planning, H&S & Homelessness 94,340 110,410 0 0 0 0 0 0 204,750
1185 Housing 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 5,000
1186 Maryport Regeneration 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

825,580 75,940 2,846 53,520 0 5,000 (26,860) 0 936,026

RESERVES
- - - - - - - - - - -

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix B
 C

o
n

t'dTotal Reserves

PORTFOLIO : HOUSING, HEALTH & WELL-BEING

Description
Cost 

Centre

Total Revenue

P
age 81



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1051 Confidential Waste 3,600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,600
1053 Bereavement Services (117,660) 0 0 0 (33,800) 0 0 0 (151,460)
1067 Parks and Grounds Maintenance 502,000 0 0 0 (105,060) 0 0 0 396,940
1068 Street Cleansing 1,160,052 0 0 0 (187,572) 0 0 0 972,480
1071 Animal Welfare 41,695 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41,695
1075 Domestic Waste 1,645,947 0 0 0 (273,442) 0 0 0 1,372,505
1076 Trade Waste (551,670) 0 0 0 (245,445) 0 0 0 (797,115)
1077 Recycling 710,804 0 0 0 (224,251) 0 0 0 486,553
1079 Environmental Initiatives 79,625 0 0 0 (18,207) 0 0 0 61,418
1083 Off-street - Owned Car Parks (2,093,949) 15,540 0 26,318 (20,000) 0 0 0 (2,072,091)
1085 Multi-storey Car Park 58,510 (1,340) 0 10,960 0 0 0 0 68,130
1166 Multi Store Car Park Utility & Maintenance 117,910 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117,910
1086 Off-street - Managed Car Parks (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (60,000)
1112 Sports & Leisure Centres 512,410 0 0 56,700 0 0 0 0 569,110
1114 Sports Development 41,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41,700
1115 Maryport Wave 179,083 0 0 5,645 0 0 0 0 184,728
1136 Supporting Leisure Activity across Allerdale 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 0 0 30,000
1153 Workington Nature Partnership 12,880 1,070 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,950
1168 Allerdale Fleet 66,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 66,000
1171 Asset Transfer 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000
1172 Major Contract Procurement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1177 Reinstatement of Public Right of Way (Maryport) 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 0 20,000
1182 Waste Contract Operational Costs 0 0 0 0 0 33,000 0 0 33,000
5580 Head of Community Services 64,250 1,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 65,550
5820 Community Services Paygroup 550,530 (10,480) 0 0 0 0 0 0 540,050

Total Revenue 2,973,717 6,090 0 99,623 (1,107,777) 83,000 0 0 2,054,653

RESERVES
- - - - - - - - - - -

Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

PORTFOLIO : ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Description
Cost 

Centre

A
pp

en
dix B

 C
o

nt'd

P
age 82



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1001 Training 73,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73,010
1002 Corporate Recruitment 13,350 0 0 0 (8,350) 0 0 0 5,000
1003 Pensions 155,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 155,500
1007 Mayoral Services 12,630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,630
1008 Mayor's Fund 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000
1009 Members Services 268,280 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 268,280
1010 Leaders Services 29,410 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,410
1011 Electoral Registration 50,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000
1012 Elections 40,000 0 0 5,000 0 10,000 0 0 55,000
1062 Licensing Service (184,660) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (184,660)
1063 Land Charges Service (94,140) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (94,140)
1064 Community Safety 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
1146 Referral Centre 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000
5000 Human Resources Pay Group 163,140 6,760 0 0 0 0 0 0 169,900
5060 Democratic Services Pay Group 135,300 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 138,300
5080 Internal Audit Pay Group 110,150 (3,920) 0 0 0 0 0 0 106,230
5320 Licensing Pay Group 79,710 1,640 0 0 0 0 0 0 81,350
5480 Legal Services 164,030 3,670 0 0 0 0 0 0 167,700
5540 Head of Governance 74,250 (2,020) 0 0 0 0 0 0 72,230
5790 Governance Support Assistants 70,870 2,460 0 0 0 0 0 0 73,330
5810 Elections - Pay Group 88,190 2,850 0 0 0 0 0 0 91,040
6515 Apprentices & Graduates 0 0 11,000 0 0 0 0 0 11,000

1,267,020 14,440 11,000 5,000 (8,350) 10,000 0 0 1,299,110

RESERVES
6017 Legal Counsel 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 67,490 67,490
6053 Provision for Elections 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 105,000 105,000

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 172,490 172,490

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix B
 C

o
n

t'dTotal Reserves

PORTFOLIO : GOVERNANCE & PEOPLE RESOURCES

Description
Cost 

Centre

Total Revenue

P
age 83



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1056 Silloth TIC 9,810 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,410
1106 Contribution to AONB 31,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 31,200
1110 Museums 48,835 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 48,835
1111 Arts Development 10,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,150
1144 Carnegie Trust 105,000 0 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 90,000
1158 Tourism Incentive 155,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 155,500
5840 Tourism Pay group 48,410 2,170 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,580
6501 Solway  AONB Core (10) 3,590 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,580
6568 Remembering the Solway 12,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,000

420,895 6,360 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 412,255

RESERVES
6155 Solway AONB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,438 44,438

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,438 44,438

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix B
 C

o
n

t'd

Total Revenue

Total Reserves

PORTFOLIO : TOURISM & CULTURE

Description
Cost 

Centre

P
age 84



Base Budget
Recurring 

Salary 
Adjustments

One-off Salary 
Adjustments

Recurring 
Growth

Recurring 
Savings

One-off Growth
One-off 
Savings

Reserve 
Profiling

Proposed 
Budget

REVENUE
1047 IT Services 350,837 0 0 0 0 7,000 0 0 357,837
1048 Shared Revenues & Benefits IT Costs 82,584 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 82,584
1050 Multi-functional Printers 10,530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,530
1059 Revenue (349,240) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (349,240)
1060 Benefits (568,236) 0 0 32,515 0 0 0 0 (535,721)
1061 Shared Revenues & Benefits 113,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 113,500
1140 Shared ICT Costs 49,700 0 0 0 0 25,000 0 0 74,700
1165 Corporate Postage & Stationery 134,030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 134,030
1178 New Cash Receipting System 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000
5160  IT Services Pay Group 310,800 11,600 0 0 0 0 0 0 322,400
5280 Customer Services Pay Group 455,020 17,440 0 229 0 0 0 0 472,689
5500 Head of Customer, Transformation, Commissioning 64,250 1,300 0 0 0 0 0 0 65,550
5700 Customer & Transformation 200,240 5,310 0 0 0 0 0 0 205,550
5730 Commissioning Support Pay Group 107,190 2,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 109,390
5850 Revenues, Benefits & Recovery Paygroup 876,280 (5,590) 0 0 0 0 0 0 870,690
6561 Universal Credit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6564 Arcus Implementation 65,353 0 0 0 0 63,000 0 0 128,353

1,902,838 32,260 0 32,744 0 145,000 0 0 2,112,842

RESERVES
6154 IT Services-Corporate Printers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000
6147 Major Incident Response 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 45,154 45,154

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,154 50,154

A
p

p
en

d
ix B

 C
o

nt'dTotal Reserves

PORTFOLIO : TRANSFORMATION

Description
Cost 

Centre

Total Revenue

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 86



Appendix C

Bid
£000

MRP & Finance Charges
Increase in amount required to be set aside from revenue to meet the cost of capital expenditure funded by 
borrowing (Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP))

518

Banking and Interest
Increase in interest costs to reflect full year impact of additional PWLB loans expected to be drawn down in 
2018-19 and the part year cost of additional loans expected to be drawn down in 2019-20 

124

Insurances Increase in insurance premium costs 14

Corporate Management 
(Second Homes Grant)

Removal of second homes grant income following end of agreement with Cumbria County Council 195

851

Various Increase in NNDR costs 30

30

Sports & Leisure Centres Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 17

Maryport Wave Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 6

Sports & Leisure Centres
Scheduled reduction in contribution received from GLL to compensate the Council for additional revenue 
financing costs associated with improvement works at Cockermouth Sports Centre

40

Multi-storey Car Park Maintenance of pay and display machines 10

73

Housing Benefits Admin Grant Reduction in housing benefits admin grant receivable 33

33

Investment income 
(Workington Town Centre) 

 Reduction to the Council's share of rental income as a result of anticipated reductions in rents 35

35

Homelessness Increase in budget to meet responsibilities under Homeless Reduction Act 44

Homelessness Annual contribution to the new Choice Based Letting system being implemented across Cumbria 10

54

Elections Increase in annual contribution to elections fund increasing the contribution from £35k to £40k p.a. 5

5

Strategy, Policy & 
Performance

Increase in research and partnership working budget 8

8

Total recurring growth bids 1,089

Service Description

Portfolio - Various 

Recurring Growth Bids

Portfolio - Corporate Resources (Finance and Property) - Barbara Cannon

Portfolio - Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip

Portfolio - Leader of the Council - Alan Smith

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer

Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes

Portfolio - Governance and People Resources - Joan Ellis

Page 87



Appendix C

Bid
£000

Parish Councils Cessation of CTRS grant payments (21)

Parish Councils Cessation of Burial Grants payments (14)

Pension Deficit funding
Reduction in pension deficit funding costs reflecting the realisation of savings generated from prepaying 
contributions for the three year period 2017-18 to 2019-20 in 2017-18 

(17)

(52)

Grounds Maintenance & Street 
Cleansing

Reduction in annual service costs on commencement of new contract on 1 April 2019 (318)

Trade, Recycling & Domestic 
Waste

Reduction in annual service costs on commencement of new contract on 1 April 2019 net of adjustment to 
income budget relating to sale of recyclable material 

(508)

Bereavement Services Uplift in income to reflect increases in fees and charges (8)

Trade Waste 
Increase in trade waste income to reflect increase in fees and charges (£30k); growth in customer numbers 
(£30k) and the introduction of charges for  paper and card recycling service, which is currently provided for 
free (£140k).

(200)

Recycling
Budget reduction  to reflect withdrawal of the Purple Bag scheme following roll out of the new recycling 
arrangements 

(35)

Environmental Initiatives Grounds maintenance cost savings following transfer of Vulcan Park to Workington Town Council. (18)

Off-street Car Parks - Owned:  Increase in income to reflect changes to fees and charges (20)

(1,107)

Carnegie Trust Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded (15)

(15)

Tenanted Properties Increase in annual rents following rent review programme of tenanted properties (10)

Industrial Units Increase in annual rents following rent review programme of industrial ground rents (16)

Other Land & Buildings Forecast increase in annual rents (10)

Camping & Caravan Site
Uplift in lease rental income to reflect increase in revenue generated by site operator from inflationary uplift to 
fees charged 

(26)

Festivals & Events Adjustment to net budget for Lakesman event 2019 (13)

(75)

Corporate Recruitment Reduction in costs of placing external adverts (8)

(8)

Total recurring savings bids (1,257)

Service Description

Recurring Savings Bids

Portfolio - Governance and People Resources - Joan Ellis

Portfolio - Corporate Resources (Finance and Property) - Barbara Cannon

Portfolio -  Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer

Portfolio - Tourism & Culture

Page 88



Appendix D

Bid
£000

Footway Lighting 
Utilities costs

Increase in budget for electricity utility costs pending transfer of responsibility for footway lighting assets to Parish 
and Town Councils

5

Footway Lighting 
Maintenance

Increase in repairs and maintenance budget pending transfer of responsibility for footway lighting assets to Parish 
and Town Councils

10

New Finance System
Purchase and implementation of new finance system software in anticipation of support and maintenance of the 
existing system being withdrawn over the next 2 to 4 years

100

Strategic Priorities 
Establishment of revenue budget provision to meet revenue costs associated with Council’s Transformation, 
Sustainability and Invest to Save agenda 500

615

Supporting Leisure 
Activity 

Grant support for Leisure Activity in Maryport and Wigton  30

Trade, Recycling & 
Domestic Waste

Cost of hiring vehicles required as part of the mobilisation of services under the new waste contract scheduled to 
commence on 1 April 2019

33

Reinstatement of 
Public Right of Way 
(Maryport)

Contribution to feasibility study on restoring the Public Right of Way, which has been closed due to a landslip 
following Storm Desmond in 2015.

20

83

IT Services Renewal of support and maintenance agreement for the wireless networking facility 7

Shared ICT Costs Replacement of EndPoint (cyber security) Protection solution 25

Cash Receipting 
System Software

Licence renewal and upgrade to cash receipting system software 50

Arcus system
Increase in costs of data migration to a cloud based suite of systems covering the services of Planning, Building 
Control, Planning Policy, Environmental Protection, Environmental Health and Housing, Land Charges and 
Licensing.

63

145

Housing development
Pump-priming costs associated with delivery of Housing capital schemes and establishment of an arms-length 
housing company (£1k Programme Promotion; £2k revenue budget to sit alongside the Otley Road capital budget; 
£2k External advice on establishing a housing company)

5

5

Shop Front 
Improvements

Continuation of the town centre improvement scheme with a focus on Silloth and Aspatria 50

Stadium
Match funding in relation to grant assistance from the Football Foundation for 3G pitches (revenue contribution to 
capital expenditure)

100

Stadium Ground improvements to Derwent Park  to accommodate temporary relocation of Workington AFC. 50

Development budget Pump-priming costs associated with delivery of schemes that will support delivery of the Council Plan in Maryport 45

245

Elections
Increase in elections budget to address anticipated shortfall in the earmarked reserve balance needed to meet the 
cost of the May 2019 elections

10

10

Planning Policy Costs associated with examination of the Local Plan by the Planning Inspector 40

Tackling inequalities Increase in  budget to support initiatives to tackle inequalities 100

140

Total non-recurring growth bids 1,243

Bid
£000

Homelessness  Increase in grant support from central government (27)

Total non-recurring savings bids (27)

Service

Service

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes

Non-Recurring Savings Bids

Non-Recurring Growth Bids

Portfolio - Corporate Resources (Finance and Property) - Barbara Cannon

Portfolio - Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip

Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer

Portfolio - Governance and People Resources - Joan Ellis

Portfolio - Leader of the Council - Alan Smith

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes

Description

Description

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



Appendix E

£'000 £'000 £'000

REVISED BUDGET 2018-19 (excluding Parish Precepts) 13,060,153

Less: Non-Recurring Growth (1,874,079)
Plus: Non- Recurring Savings 402,482
Plus: Non- Recurring Salary changes (55,511)
ADJUSTED OPENING BASE BUDGET 2017-18 11,533,045

Changes for 2018-19:

Recurring Growth
Salary Related Adjustments 210,227
Capital Financing Costs - excl stadium 551,742
Stadium Financing costs 89,753
Recurring Growth Bids 446,485

1,298,207
Recurring Savings
Increase in income/reduction in costs (1,256,547)

(1,256,547)

Total Recurring changes 41,660

Non-Recurring Growth/Savings
Change in salary costs - non-recurring 13,846
Non-Recurring Growth 1,243,000
Non-Recurring Savings (26,860)

Total Non-recurring changes 1,229,986

TOTAL CHANGES 1,271,646

12,804,691

MOVEMENT IN REVENUE BUDGET 2018-19 to 2019-20

REVENUE BUDGET 2019-20 (excluding Parish Precepts)

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



Updated Proposed Proposed Proposed Total

18-19 Budget1 19-20 Budget 20-21 Budget 21-22 Budget 19-20 to 21-22

£ £ £ £ £

Housing, Health & Wellbeing
The Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 1,017,807 1,125,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 3,125,000
Discretionary Grants 743,802 0 0 0
Health Homes (Empty Homes) 198,882 100,000 0 0 100,000
Securing Affordable Homes 40,290 0 0 0 0
Housing Improvement Projects 145,373 0 0 0 0
Central Heating Fund 17,510 0 0 0 0
Conversion of Otley Road 0 130,000 130,000
Maryport Container Village 0 150,000 150,000
TOTAL - Housing, Health & Wellbeing 2,163,664 1,505,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 3,505,000

Corporate Resources 
Public Toilets Review Works 114,127 0 0 0 0
Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre 25,000 0 0 0 0
Helena Thompson Museum Development 80,000 100,000 0 0 100,000
Workington Hall Repair Scheme 50,000 0 0 0 0
Strategic Priorities and Regeneration 0 0 0 0 0
Riverbank Works - Millfield Workington 0 30,000 0 0 30,000
TOTAL -  Corporate Resources 269,127 130,000 0 0 130,000

Environmental Quality 
Car Park - signage and equipment 59,320 0 0 0 0
Harrington Reservoir 174,500 0 0 0 0
Fleming Sq restoration 26,413 0 0 0 0
Highfield Community Centre 140,000 0 0 0 0
Brow top enhancement works 150,000 150,000 0 0 150,000
Waste Collection - Vehicle Fleet 3,171,251 0 0 0 0
Waste Collection - Wheeled bins for recycling 720,000 0 0 0 0
Keswick Car Park Enhancement 35,000 35,000 0 0 35,000
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes 0 25,000 40,000 30,000 95,000
Reinstatement of Public Right of Way (Maryport) 0 0 100,000 0 100,000
TOTAL - Environmental Quality 4,476,484 210,000 140,000 30,000 380,000

Tourism & Culture
Solway Coast Pathway 160,100 1,089,900 0 0 1,089,900
TOTAL - Tourism & Culture 160,100 1,089,900 0 0 1,089,900

OD & Transformation
IT Equipment (ABC Only) 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 120,000
Flood resilience 185,000 100,000 0 0 100,000
TOTAL - OD & Transformation 225,000 140,000 40,000 40,000 220,000

Economic Growth
Lillyhall - Land Purchase 753,000 0 0 0 0
Reedlands Rd Ind Dev 1,164,968 1,385,032 0 0 1,385,032
Strategic Acquisitions 352,327 393,373 0 0 393,373
Kirkgate Centre Contribution 25,000 75,000 0 0 75,000
Community Stadium 0 5,000,000 20,000,000 0 25,000,000
TOTAL - Economic Growth 2,295,295 6,853,405 20,000,000 0 26,853,405

Total Expenditure £9,589,670 £9,928,305 £21,180,000 £1,070,000 £32,178,305

FINANCING £ £ £ £ £

DFG Housing Grant 1,761,610 1,125,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 3,125,000
SCP Housing Grant 175,889 0 0 0 0
ERDF grant - Reedlands Road Development 668,981 831,019 0 0 831,019
Coastal Communities Fund grant - Solway Coast Pathway 160,100 839,900 0 0 839,900
Other grants - Solway Coast Pathway 0 250,000 0 0 250,000
Other grants and contributions - Harrington Reservoir 105,000 0 0 0 0
Potential Grant from Football Foundation 0 0 750,000 0 750,000
Potential Grant from RLWC 0 0 875,000 0 875,000
Total - capital grants & third party contributions 2,871,580 3,045,919 2,625,000 1,000,000 6,670,919

0
Capital Receipts 177,000 380,000 0 0 380,000
Revenue Earmarked Reserves 16,000 0 0 0 0
Revenue 3,500 0 0 0 0
General Fund Balances 452,947 0 0 0 0
Prudential Borrowing 6,068,643 6,502,386 18,555,000 70,000 25,127,386
Total - Allerdale Resources 6,718,090 6,882,386 18,555,000 70,000 25,507,386

Total Financing £9,589,670 £9,928,305 £21,180,000 £1,070,000 £32,178,305

1 Revised capital budget 2018-19 (£8,979k) updated to include £620k reprofiling adjustment agreed by Council on 30 Jan 2019 

Description

Budget Proposals - 2019-20 to 2021-22 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



Appendix G

Proposed three year capital programme 2019-20 to 2021-22

Budget 
Scheme Description £000
Housing Health & Wellbeing
Mandatory 
Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG) 3,125

DFG  
Discretionary 
Grants

This scheme involves mandatory and discretionary grant support to 
individuals to meet the cost of housing adaptations that enable people to 
stay living in their own home for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty 
to provide adaptations to the homes of disabled people who qualify for a 
mandatory DFG. Expenditure on DFGs is fully funded from an annual 
grant paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding 
allocations and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing 
DFGs. 

0

Healthy Homes 
(Empty Homes)

The budget of £100k will be used to provide grant support to enable 10 
empty homes to be brought back into use. Expenditure on this scheme is 
unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  

100

Conversion of 
Otley Road

Conversion of Otley Road, Keswick into residential accommodation. 
Expenditure on the scheme will be funded from capital receipts. 130

Maryport 
Container Village

Development of Container Village to support the regeneration of Maryport. 
Expenditure on the scheme will be funded from capital receipts. 150

Total for portfolio 3,505
Corporate Resources
Helena 
Thompson 
Museum 
Development

The scheme addresses DDA compliance issues, such as surfacing within 
the court yard entrance and other capital enhancement works to the 
Museum. The total budget for this scheme is £18,000 including £80k 
allocated to 2018-19. The scheme is financed from capital receipts. 

100

Riverbank Works 
- Millfield 
Workington

The scheme involves installation of rock armour to protect against further 
erosion and safeguard the adjacent access road.  Expenditure on this 
scheme is unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  30

Total for portfolio 130
Environmental Quality 
Brow-Top 
Enhancement 
Schemes

Proposed budget allocation to enhance the quality of the public realm in 
the vicinity of Brow Top, Workington, transform the Central Way 
underpass and develop vacant land immediately to the west of the Leisure 
Centre to create a dedicated events and activity area. Expenditure on the 
scheme is expected to involve expenditure of £150k in 2018/19 and 
2019/20.

150

Keswick Car Park 
- Enhancement

As part of the 2018/19 revised capital budget a budget of £70k was 
approved to support a scheme to reconfigure Lakeside Car Park and 
create 34 additional parking bays is currently being developed. A final 
decision to progress the scheme is subject to a business case being 
approved by the Commercial Board and Asset Management Group. The 
scheme is expected to cost in the region of £70k. However, this will not be 
confirmed until a more detailed assessment of the required works is 
completed. If approved, works are expected to be phased over 2018-19 
and 2019-20 and is expected to generate additional revenue income from 
2019-20 onwards. 

35

Biodiversity and 
Green 
Infrastructure 
programmes

The Council is currently involved as a key partner with a two strategic 
external funding bids focussed on green infrastructure and biodiversity
1. “Let’s Get Cumbria Buzzing” – West Cumbria’s Pollinator project. 
2. ERDF application under Priority 6: Protecting and Restoring 
Biodiversity…including Green Infrastructure.
Overall there are between 10-15 sites in the Council’s ownership that 

95

Page 95



Appendix G

Scheme Description 
Budget 

£000
would benefit directly from successful applications. These include 
Maryport Millennium Green, Northside Allotments and Siddick Pond, 
Harrington harbour (south), Bankfield, Moorclose Green.
This Capital Growth bid of £95k is to enable us to contribute to the match 
funding “packages” for both initiatives (but more targeted towards the HLF 
“Let’s Get Cumbria Buzzing” bid) to supplement the otherwise small 
contributions that could be made available from current Environmental 
Initiative budgets. If the HLF application is successful, the advantage is 
that the fund can be used as the match funding for the ERDF application. 
Expenditure on this scheme is unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  

Reinstatement of 
Public Right of 
Way (Maryport)

The scheme relates to the restoration of the Public Right of Way currently 
closed due to a landslip following Storm Desmond in 2015. A non-
recurring bid revenue of £20k to fund a feasibility study in 2019-20 and the 
final programme of works is subject to the outcome of this study. It is 
envisaged that both Cumbria County Council and Maryport Town Council 
will contribute to the capital works and that other external funding could 
also be secured. In the absence of any firm funding commitment from 
other parties expenditure on this scheme has been treated as unfinanced 
and met from borrowing.  

100

Total for portfolio 380
Tourism & Culture
Solway Coast 
Pathway

Allocation for the creation of a multi-user coastal pathway linking Silloth-
on-Solway, the West Cumbria Cycle network and the Hadrian’s cycle 
route. The scheme will be funded by a grant of £1m from the Coastal 
Communities Fund (CCF) and £250k from the RDPE Tourism 
Infrastructure Fund (subject to successful outcome of funding bid); £160k 
budget allocated in 2018-19 with balance in 2019-20

1,090

Total for portfolio 1,090
Transformation
IT Equipment With an increasing reliance on data and cloud based services it is 

imperative that staff have the appropriate equipment to be able to access 
information and systems quickly and efficiently. A recurring capital budget 
of £40k per annum is required to upgrade and replace desktop 
computers, laptops and tablets on a rolling program. The rolling 
programme will replace 25% of equipment annually to ensure staff are 
working on equipment compatible with the latest software. Expenditure on 
this scheme will be met from borrowing. 

120

Flood resilience An annual budget of £100k (in 2018/19 and 2019/20) is intended to 
support a range of small and medium sized projects in the borough that 
can demonstrate a clear link to reducing the risk of flooding in the future. 
These will be community based schemes supported by local flood action 
groups and medium sized schemes in partnership with the EA and other 
partners. Expenditure on this scheme will be met from borrowing.

100

Total for portfolio 220
Economic Growth
Strategic 
Acquisitions

A capital budget of £950k was established in 2016-17 for the acquisition 
and redevelopment of commercial properties to support business start-ups 
and the small business sector. This budget was increased by £347k in 
2017-18. £551k was utilised in 2017-18 for the purchase at Otley Road, 
Keswick. The remaining budget comprises £353k profiled to be spent in 
2018-19 and £393k in 2019-20. 

393

Kirkgate Centre 
Contribution

A budget of £100k was approved in 2017-18 to enable the Council to 
make a capital contribution to support the financing of a project to 
renovate and extend the facilities at the Kirkgate Arts and Heritage Centre, 

75

Page 96



Appendix G

Scheme Description 
Budget 

£000
Cockermouth. The Council’s contribution is subject the outcome of a bid 
made to the Heritage Lottery Fund by the charitable body responsible for 
running the centre. This expenditure will be met from borrowing. 
Expenditure is currently profiled to be spent in 2018-19, £25k and 2019-
20, £75k.

Reedlands Road 
Development

Invest to save project involving the development of additional industrial 
units on land, owned by Allerdale Borough Council, at Reedlands Road, 
Workington. These units will allow the Authority to secure additional 
revenue income whilst supporting business in the area. The total scheme 
budget is £2.55m including expenditure of £1.165m included in the revised 
capital budget for 2018-19. 
The scheme is subject to an external funding (ERDF) bid of £1.5m. The 
balance of expenditure (£1.05m) will be met from borrowing.

1,385

Community 
Stadium 

Construction of an 8,000-capacity stadium to replace Derwent Park and 
Borough Park stadia as the home for Workington Town RLFC and 
Workington AFC. The development also incorporates extensive office 
accommodation and a full-size synthetic pitch for community use. 
Final costs have yet to be confirmed and the budget of £25m remains 
indicative, based on similar stadium developments. Pending completion of 
work to evaluate the various funding options set out in the outline 
business case the capital budget has been prepared on the assumption 
that the development will be funded from PWLB borrowing totaling 
£23.375m, with the balance expected to be met from third party 
contributions. The amount funded from borrowing incorporates the 
previously approved Strategic priorities and regeneration budget of £6m 
(£5m in 2018-19 and £1m 2019-20).

A final decision to proceed with the proposed scheme remains subject to 
submission of a full business case and detailed financial appraisal 
demonstrating the value for money, prudence, affordability and financial 
sustainability of the development over the life of the asset and associated 
borrowing. 
This will include the completion of comprehensive financial risk analysis, 
scenario planning and sensitivity analysis to evaluate the impact of 
changes in key assumptions underpinning the Authority’s financial model. 
An extensive due diligence exercise will also be required to verify the 
completeness and accuracy of the underlying financial data used in the 
financial model and the robustness of the assumptions applied. 
Further details of the scheme are set out in the outline business case 
submitted to the Council’s Executive on 16 January 2019.

25,000

Total for portfolio 26,853
Total capital budget for three years 2019-20 to 2021-22 £32,178

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



Appendix H

Reserves
 2019/20 
Opening 

Balance1

2019/20 
Contribution 
to Reserves

2019/20 
Profiled 
Spend

Profiled 
Spend 
after 

2019/20

Held in 
Reserves

£ £ £ £ £

Corporate Priorities - credit union 93,600 0 41,000 52,600 0
Corporate Priorities - inequality 124,200 0 62,500 61,700 0
SBCB 11,669 0 11,669 0 0

229,469 0 115,169 114,300 0

Risk Management 54,998 0 0 54,998 0
Footway Lighting Scheme 50,191 0 13,200 36,991 0

105,189 0 13,200 91,989 0

MSCP - Ongoing maintenance 50,000 25,000 75,000 0
50,000 25,000 0 75,000 0

Legal Counsel 67,491 0 67,491 0 0
Provision for Elections 105,000 0 105,000 0 0

172,491 0 172,491 0 0

Solway AONB 44,438 0 44,438 0 0
44,438 0 44,438 0 0

Major Incident Response 45,154 0 45,154 0 0
IT Services - corporate printers 18,229 0 5,000 13,229 0

63,383 0 50,154 13,229 0

Section 31 NNDR 161,714 0 0 0 161,714
Business Rate Income 621,000 0 0 0 621,000
AIP Loan Notes 112,672 0 0 0 112,672
Emergency Planning - Flooding 28,260 0 0 0 28,260
Hugh Barbour Bequest 8,661 0 0 0 8,661

932,307 0 0 0 932,307

SUB TOTAL - REVENUE 1,597,276 25,000 395,451 294,518 932,307

Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 0 0 0 0 0
SUB TOTAL - CAPITAL 0 0 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 1,597,276 25,000 395,451 294,518 932,307

1 Balance reflecting anticipated expenditure included in the revised 2018-19 budget

Capital Reserves

Earmarked Reserves by Portfolio

Revenue Reserves

Leader of the Council

Corporate Resources

Localilty & Env Quality

Governance & People Resources

Tourism & Culture

Transformation

Other

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



Appendix I

2018/19* 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Base Budget 11,933 11,533 11,575 12,402
Pension Deficit 0 0 0 0
Change in salary costs - recurring 101 210 194 182
Capital financing costs (excl. Stadium) 552 54 (26)
Recurring growth 710 447 232 214
Recurring savings (789) (1,257) (95) (42)
Stadium 90 442 115
Self-sufficiency savings (422) 0 0 0
Recurring (base) budget 11,533 11,575 12,402 12,845
Change in salary costs -non-recurring 56 14
Non-recurring growth 1,874 1,243 0 0
Non-recurring savings (402) (27) 0 0
Net Service Expenditure budget 13,061 12,805 12,402 12,845

Expenditure on earmarked priorities 1,767 395 294 0

Proposed budget (excl. parish precepts) 14,828 13,200 12,696 12,845

Parish Precepts 2,024 2,198 2,198 2,198

Proposed Budget (incl. parish precepts) 16,852 15,398 14,894 15,043

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (1,767) (395) (294) 0

Net Budget Requirement 15,085 15,003 14,600 15,043

2018/19* 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Revenue support grant 652 196 0 0
Rural Services Delivery Grant 325 326 0 0
New Homes Bonus 1,004 838 381 202
Council tax – Allerdale only 5,100 5,304 5,504 5,699
Council tax – parish element 2,024 2,198 2,198 2,198
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 91 37 0 0
NNDR funding 5,528 5,719 4,187 4,271
NNDR - Collection fund surplus/(deficit) (564) 13 0 0
Release of Earmarked Reserves 500 0 0 0
Use of general fund balances 425 372 0 0
Total funding 15,085 15,003 12,270 12,370

Funding Gap 0 0 2,330 2,673

*revised budget

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Revenue Budget

Funding

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



Appendix J

Budget and Priorities Consultation 2019/20

Summary of Consultation Responses

Allerdale Borough Council undertook a Budget and Priorities Consultation to provide 
an opportunity for the public and key stakeholders to review and comment on the 
Council’s new draft priorities, its approach to meeting the budget challenges ahead 
and proposed Council Tax and fees and charges increases for 2019/20.  The 
consultation was launched on 12 December 2018 and ended on 17 January 2019.

The consultation asked the following questions:

 Do you think the proposed priorities and areas of focus are the right ones for 
the council? 

 Are there any other areas of focus that you think should be priorities for the 
council?

 Do you have any comments about the proposed approach to Transforming 
the Council? (for example, do you have any specific ideas about how the 
council can save money or generate additional income to protect services)

 Should we increase Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D 
properties (with proportionate increases to properties in other council tax 
bands) in 2019/20? 

 Should we increase fees and charges by 3% in line with inflation? 
 Do you have any other comments to make?

The consultation was promoted in the following ways:

 Launch of the consultation on 12 December 2018 with a dedicated web page 
and media release

 Direct email notification to a range of stakeholders including: all Chief 
Executives of the Cumbria Chief Executives Group, Cumbria Association of 
Local Councils, Chamber of Commerce, a range of third sector partners

 Direct email notification to all town and parish councils
 Direct email notification to all Allerdale Borough Council elected members
 Social media was used to generate interest via Facebook and Twitter
 Posts on homepage of intranet to alert staff

People were able to respond online, by post or email.  There were 31 responses to 
the consultation received (all online). Comments were received from individuals, 
parish councils, and third sector partner organisations. The consultation was not 
designed to be a statistically representative sample of public opinion, but to gauge 
the opinions of those who have chosen to participate in the process.

All the feedback received has been considered to inform the development of the 
draft Council Plan 2019-23 and budget proposals for 2019-20.  Some responses 
raised points that related to more detailed elements of service or project delivery 
which will be used to inform service delivery and project planning.  A summary of 

Page 103



Appendix J

responses relating specifically to the proposed Council Tax and fees and charges 
increases is set out below along with a summary of comments that relate to the 
Council’s proposed approach to transforming the Council.   Further detailed 
comments relating to the draft Council Plan 2019-23 are referenced in the Executive 
and Council papers in respect of the draft Council Plan 2019-23.  

Questions and summary of responses

Should we increase Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D 
properties (with proportionate increases to properties in other council tax 
bands) in 2019/20? 

Budget consultation response:

Response Number Percentage
Yes 17 61%
No 11 39%

Note: Only data where respondents opted to indicate either yes or no to this question have 
been used to generate the data in this table.

Our residents’ survey carried out every two years, is a representative sample of 
public opinion in Allerdale.  In 2018 there were 1996 returned surveys.  In the 2018 
survey residents were asked the following:

Would you be prepared for ABC’s share of Council Tax to go up to protect services 
important to you?

Response Percentage
Yes 57%
No 43%

The results from the small sample of the Budget and Priorities Consultation 2019/20 
therefore broadly reflect the results from the Residents Survey.

Should we increase fees and charges by 3% in line with inflation in 2019/20? 

Budget Consultation Response:

Response Number Percentage
Yes 17 61%
No 11 39%

Note: Only data where respondents opted to indicate either yes or no to this question have 
been used to generate the data in this table.

Page 104



Appendix J

Other comments and suggestions about the proposed approach to 
Transforming the Council

Summary of feedback received in 
respect of draft Council Plan 

Comment

Summary of comments on Transforming the Council:

Five comments relate to the importance of 
greater collaboration with other bodies and 
the third sector to reduce duplication, save 
money and make sure that decisions are 
what the local community really need.  Two 
respondents specifically referenced the need 
to rationalise layers of local government, 
move to a unitary authority, reduce the 
numbers of elected members or reduce 
management layers.

The approach set out in the draft Council 
Plan highlights the importance of working 
collaboratively with key partners across the 
public, private and third sectors to ensure 
that we can deliver the proposed priorities.  
This will include exploring: new ways of 
working; opportunities for joint working; and 
other service delivery models.
Following a Boundary Review the number of 
elected members in Allerdale will reduce 
from 56 to 48 in May 2019.  Discussions 
regarding any reorganisation of local 
government in Cumbria are ongoing.

One respondent suggested that decisions 
should be devolved lower down to reduce 
red tape.

As stated in the draft Council Plan the 
Council has already worked with local 
communities to transfer some important 
community facilities such as parks to town 
and parish councils, bringing them back 
under more local control, and will continue to 
look for opportunities to give local 
communities more influence over local 
facilities and services.
 

One respondent suggested making better 
use of technology to make services more 
self-service.

The draft Council Plan sets out the Council’s 
approach to making the best use of 
technology to improve services and make 
more services available on-line. 

One respondent suggested additional 
taxation measures on second homes.

The Council has recently agreed to increase 
the Council Tax premium payable on empty 
properties in the borough to provide an 
incentive to owners to bring empty properties 
into occupation therefore increasing the 
availability of accommodation either to buy 
and/or rent.

Four respondents suggested changes to 
waste collection services – three 
respondents suggested reducing bin 
collections to fortnightly to increase recycling 
and save money, and one respondent 
suggested suspending garden waste 
collection in the winter months.

From our recent Residents Survey we know 
that 93% are satisfied with the refuse and 
recycling services we provide.  We have 
recently negotiated new contracts for waste 
and recycling services, street scene services 
and grounds maintenance which has given 
us the opportunity to review delivery of those 

Page 105



Appendix J

Summary of feedback received in 
respect of draft Council Plan 

Comment

services to make sure that we are getting 
value for money in delivering services 
residents have told us are important to them.  
Garden waste collection is already 
suspended through January and February.

One respondent suggested investing in 
functions that generate income through 
compliance or enforcement such as licencing 
and parking.

The draft Council Plan sets out the Council’s 
approach to reviewing and redesigning 
processes, including how to make services 
operate more commercially so that they 
better cover their costs.
 

One respondent suggested it would be better 
to rent out assets rather than sell them off.

The draft Council Plan sets out the Council’s 
approach to making the best use of assets in 
our control and will involve a mixture of 
approaches including repurposing, rental and 
sale of assets.

One respondent suggested increasing fees 
by greater than inflation to increase income.

Fees and charges are an important source of 
income for the Council, offsetting the cost of 
service provision and reducing the amount of 
expenditure that needs to be met from 
Council Tax and business rates. For existing 
charges, the Council’s general policy is for 
levels of fees and charges should rise each 
year in line with inflation as determined as 
part of the budget planning process.  

Other comments: 
Two respondents mentioned concerns about 
the impact of council tax increases on low 
income households including pensioners. 

The Council offers a number of discounts on 
Council Tax to support those on low 
incomes, including the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and Single Occupier 
Discount. 

Four respondents made the point that it is 
important for the Council to focus on its basic 
services and maintaining what already exists 
– reference to street cleaning (one 
respondent) and maintenance of specific 
areas of Workington (one respondent), 
concerns expressed about spending on the 
stadium instead of other things (two 
respondents).

The draft Council Plan recognises the 
importance placed on basic services such as 
street cleaning and refuse collection by our 
residents with ‘Keeping places clean, green 
and tidy’ a key area of focus under the 
Quality Places to Live priority.   

Two respondents expressed concerns about 
where funding for all the priorities will come 
from.  

The draft Council Plan 2019-23 and 
associate financial plans are being 
developed with an aim of ensuring the 
Council is in a healthy financial position for 
the future.  The approach detailed in the draft 
Council Plan ‘Transforming the Council’ 

Page 106



Appendix J

Summary of feedback received in 
respect of draft Council Plan 

Comment

recognises that there are financial 
challenges ahead and that in order to deliver 
the priorities the Council will need to find 
ways to do things differently, generate 
income and savings. 

Three respondents commented that there 
was too much resource and attention given 
to different areas of the borough – one 
respondent felt Workington received too 
much and Cockermouth, Silloth, Wigton and 
Keswick and rural areas too little, one 
respondent suggested there was too much 
spending in Cockermouth whilst Maryport is 
neglected, and one respondent felt that all 
the built up areas get too much resource 
whilst the rural areas do not get enough.   

One of the principles set out in the draft 
Council Plan 2019-23 (‘Services and actions 
that meet local needs’) recognises that 
Allerdale is made up of distinct areas with 
differing issues that may require different 
approaches.  The Council takes evidenced-
based decisions about spending and 
resource allocation across the borough.  

One respondent suggests that the 3% 
Council Tax increase should go to the police 
instead.

The Council Tax increase referred to in this 
consultation related purely to Allerdale 
Borough Council’s share of the total Council 
Tax bill – the Police and Crime 
Commissioner has a distinct share of that bill 
and is able to propose any changes to that 
element.

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



Allerdale Borough Council 

Council – 6 March 2019 

Council Tax Resolution 2019-20 
 

  
The Reason for the Decision To approve the necessary resolutions for Council 

Tax setting in accordance with Sections 31 – 36 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

  
Summary of options considered  The Council is required to set a Council Tax in 

support of its budget each year. 
  
Recommendations That the resolutions, set out in Appendix A be 

approved. 
  
Financial/Resource Implications The Council is required to set the Council Tax each 

year in accordance with the legislative requirements 
summarised in this report.   

The Council will be required to hold a referendum if 
Members decide to increase the Council Tax by the 
higher of 3% or £5, above its 2018-19 level. 

  
Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set the Council Tax. 
  
Community Safety Implications None 
  
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications 

If the Council Tax is not set in accordance with the 
legislation then there is a risk the Council will be 
unable to bill in a timely manner with a 
consequential loss of revenue that may affect, 
adversely on the prudent management of the 
Council’s financial affairs. 
 

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed 

Considered in entitlement to certain discounts and 
benefits. 

  
Wards Affected All 
  
The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
Strategic Objectives 

Setting the Council Tax enables the Council to 
collect the income it needs to fulfil its key aims and 
objectives. 

  
Is this a Key Decision Yes 

Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon 
  
Lead Officer  Catherine Nicholson,  

Head of Financial Services, 01900 702503 
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 109

Agenda Item 12



 

 
Report Implications (Please delete where applicable). 
 
Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N 

Financial  Y Employment (internal) N 

Legal Y Partnership N 

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N 

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N 

 
 
Background papers - working papers within Financial Services and Revenues, 
Calculation of Council Tax Base for 2019-20 was approved at Council on 30 January 
2019. 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
 
Appendix A – Recommendations for Council approval 
 
Appendix B1 – The amount of Council Tax which relates to the Parish Precepts       
applicable to each valuation band 
 
Appendix B2 – Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council and 
Parish Precept by valuation band  
 
Appendix B3 – The Total amount of Council Tax to be levied in 2019-20, inclusive 
of Cumbria County Council, and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 
Precept, applicable to each valuation band in each part of Borough 
 
Appendix C – Parish Precept Council Tax Band D charge for 2019-20 
 

Page 110



 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to enable the Council to calculate and approve 

the Council Tax requirement for 2019-20, as required by The Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, as amended.  

 
Town and Parish Councils 
 

1.2 The Town and Parish Council Precepts for 2019-20 are detailed in Appendix 
C and total £2,197,940.40. This results in an average Band D Council Tax of 
£71.68 for 2019-20. 
 

1.3 The Precept figure included in Appendix A and Appendix C is based on the 
information that the Council has received from Parishes on the 2019-20 
precepts.  
 

1.4 However, under section 41 (4) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 a 
local precepting authority has until the 1st March to submit their Precept to the 
billing authority. If any revised Precepts are submitted after this report is 
published, these will be tabled at the Council meeting on the 6 March 2019. 
 
Cumbria County Council 
 

1.5 Based on information that the Council has received from Cumbria County 
Council, their precept is £42,476,383.87, this results in a Band D Council Tax 
of £1,385.28. 
 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 
 

1.6 Based on information that the Council has received from The Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Cumbria, their precept is £7,870,442.80, this results 
in a Band D Council Tax of £256.68. 
 

2.0 Proposed Tax Levels 
 
2.1 The recommendations are set out in the formal Council Tax resolution in 

Appendix A. 
 

2.2 If the formal Council Tax Resolution at Appendix A is approved, the total Band 
D Council Tax will be as follows:- 

 
 2018-19 

£ 
2019-20 

£ 
Increase 

£ 
Increase 

% 

Allerdale Borough Council 167.99 172.99 5.00 2.98% 

Cumbria County Council 1,332.13 1,385.28 53.15 3.99% 

Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cumbria 

232.74 256.68 23.94 10.29% 

Sub Total 1,732.86 1,814.95 82.09 4.74% 

Town and Parish Council (average) 66.67 71.68 5.01 7.51% 

TOTAL 1,799.53 1,886.63 87.10 4.84% 

Page 111



3.0 Other Options 
 

3.1 The Localism Act 2011 makes provision for Council Tax referendums to be 
held if an authority increases its basic amount of Council Tax (Town and 
Parish Council precepts are excluded when making this calculation) in excess 
of principles determined by the Secretary of State. The referendum threshold 
levels above which Council Tax would be considered excessive are set each 
year by Central Government, for 2019-20 a referendum will be triggered if 
Allerdale Borough Council set a Council Tax increase which by the higher of 
3% or £5, above its 2018-19 level. 
  

 
4.0 Recommendations 
 
4.1 That the resolutions, set out in Appendix A be approved. 

 
Catherine Nicholson 

Head of Financial Services 
 

Page 112



  APPENDIX A 

The Council is recommended to resolve as follows: 

 
1) It be noted that on 30 January 2018 the Council calculated: 

 
a) the Council Tax base 2019-20 for the whole Council area as 30,662.47 

(item T in the formula in Section 31B of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, as amended (the “Act”)) and; 
 

b) the dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish Precept 
relates, as in the attached Appendix C. 

 
2) The Council calculates that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own 

purposes for 2018-19 (excluding Parish precepts) is £5,304,300.69. 
 

3) That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2019-20 in accordance 
with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act. 
 

a) £46,529,479.00 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into 
account all precepts issues to it by Parish Council; 
 

b) £39,027,238.31 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act; 

 
c) £7,502,240.69 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) above 

exceeds the aggregate at (b) above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 31A (4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year.  (Item R in the formula in Section 31B of the 
Act); 

 
d) £244.67 being the amount at (c) above (Item R) divided by Item T (1 a) 

above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of 
the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including 
Parish Precepts); (as detailed in Appendix B1 parish only by valuation 
band and Appendix B2 parish and district by valuation band); 

 
e) £2,197,940.00 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish 

Precepts) referred to in Section 34 (1) of the Act. (as detailed in 
Appendix B1 parish only by valuation band  and C Parish Precepts); 

 
f) £172.99 being the amount at (d) above less the result given by dividing 

the amount at (e) above by Item T (1 a) above), calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 34 (2) of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its 
area to which no parish precept relates. 

 
 

 

Page 113



  APPENDIX A 

4) To note that Cumbria County Council and The Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Cumbria have issued precepts to the Council in accordance 
with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category 
of dwellings in the Council’s area as indicated in the table below. 
 

 

Valuation Bands 

  Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H 

 
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Alledale Borough 
Council 

115.33 134.55 153.77 172.99 211.43 249.87 288.32 345.98 

Cumbria County 
Council 

923.52 1,077.44 1,231.36 1,385.28 1,693.12 2,000.96 2,308.80 2,770.56 

Police and Crime 

Commissioner for 

Cumbria  
171.12 199.64 228.16 256.68 313.72 370.76 427.80 513.36 

 
5) The Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables 
detailed in Appendix B (1,2 and 3), as the amounts of Council Tax for 2019-20 
for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings. 

 
 

Page 114



APPENDIX B1

A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Above Derwent 27.43 32.00 36.57 41.14 50.28 59.42 68.57 82.28

Aikton 19.20 22.40 25.60 28.80 35.20 41.60 48.00 57.60

Allhallows 36.77 42.89 49.02 55.15 67.41 79.66 91.92 110.30

Allonby 37.85 44.15 50.46 56.77 69.39 82.00 94.62 113.54

Aspatria 61.14 71.33 81.52 91.71 112.09 132.47 152.85 183.42

Bassenthwaite 23.97 27.96 31.96 35.95 43.94 51.93 59.92 71.90

Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 42.28 49.33 56.37 63.42 77.51 91.61 105.70 126.84

Blindbothel 33.54 39.13 44.72 50.31 61.49 72.67 83.85 100.62

Blindcrake 33.51 39.10 44.68 50.27 61.44 72.61 83.78 100.54

Boltons 13.57 15.84 18.10 20.36 24.88 29.41 33.93 40.72

Borrowdale 24.53 28.61 32.70 36.79 44.97 53.14 61.32 73.58

Bothel & Threapland 24.41 28.48 32.55 36.62 44.76 52.90 61.03 73.24

Bowness on Solway 34.00 39.67 45.33 51.00 62.33 73.67 85.00 102.00

Bridekirk 14.53 16.96 19.38 21.80 26.64 31.49 36.33 43.60

Brigham 19.10 22.28 25.47 28.65 35.02 41.38 47.75 57.30

Bromfield 20.14 23.50 26.85 30.21 36.92 43.64 50.35 60.42

Broughton 21.72 25.34 28.96 32.58 39.82 47.06 54.30 65.16

Broughton Moor 54.43 63.51 72.58 81.65 99.79 117.94 136.08 163.30

Buttermere 14.35 16.74 19.13 21.52 26.30 31.08 35.87 43.04

Caldbeck 24.89 29.04 33.19 37.34 45.64 53.94 62.23 74.68

Camerton 16.43 19.17 21.91 24.65 30.13 35.61 41.08 49.30

Cockermouth 41.95 48.95 55.94 62.93 76.91 90.90 104.88 125.86

Crosscanonby 32.30 37.68 43.07 48.45 59.22 69.98 80.75 96.90

Dean 15.51 18.09 20.68 23.26 28.43 33.60 38.77 46.52

Dearham 27.95 32.60 37.26 41.92 51.24 60.55 69.87 83.84

Dundraw 19.65 22.93 26.20 29.48 36.03 42.58 49.13 58.96

Embleton 21.15 24.67 28.20 31.72 38.77 45.82 52.87 63.44

Gilcrux 48.53 56.62 64.71 72.80 88.98 105.16 121.33 145.60

Great Clifton 21.75 25.38 29.00 32.63 39.88 47.13 54.38 65.26

Greysouthen 30.26 35.30 40.35 45.39 55.48 65.56 75.65 90.78

Hayton & Mealo 34.07 39.75 45.43 51.11 62.47 73.83 85.18 102.22

Holme Abbey 38.11 44.47 50.82 57.17 69.87 82.58 95.28 114.34

Holme East Waver 37.42 43.66 49.89 56.13 68.60 81.08 93.55 112.26

Holme Low 24.68 28.79 32.91 37.02 45.25 53.47 61.70 74.04

Holme St Cuthbert 22.31 26.02 29.74 33.46 40.90 48.33 55.77 66.92

Ireby & Uldale 21.37 24.93 28.49 32.05 39.17 46.29 53.42 64.10

Keswick 84.28 98.33 112.37 126.42 154.51 182.61 210.70 252.84

Kirkbampton 32.79 38.26 43.72 49.19 60.12 71.05 81.98 98.38

Kirkbride 41.94 48.93 55.92 62.91 76.89 90.87 104.85 125.82

Little Clifton 35.51 41.43 47.35 53.27 65.11 76.95 88.78 106.54

Valuation Bands

Council Tax for Parish Precept by valuation band.

Page 115



APPENDIX B1

A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Valuation Bands

Lorton 23.40 27.30 31.20 35.10 42.90 50.70 58.50 70.20

Loweswater 13.08 15.26 17.44 19.62 23.98 28.34 32.70 39.24

Maryport 54.72 63.84 72.96 82.08 100.32 118.56 136.80 164.16

Oughterside & Allerby 36.81 42.94 49.08 55.21 67.48 79.75 92.02 110.42

Papcastle 36.74 42.86 48.99 55.11 67.36 79.60 91.85 110.22

Plumbland 27.68 32.29 36.91 41.52 50.75 59.97 69.20 83.04

Seaton 26.84 31.31 35.79 40.26 49.21 58.15 67.10 80.52

Sebergham 25.01 29.17 33.34 37.51 45.85 54.18 62.52 75.02

Silloth 130.77 152.56 174.36 196.15 239.74 283.33 326.92 392.30

St Johns, Castlerigg & Wythburn 29.66 34.60 39.55 44.49 54.38 64.26 74.15 88.98

Thursby 32.88 38.36 43.84 49.32 60.28 71.24 82.20 98.64

Underskiddaw 28.54 33.30 38.05 42.81 52.32 61.84 71.35 85.62

Waverton 15.47 18.04 20.62 23.20 28.36 33.51 38.67 46.40

Westnewton 41.12 47.97 54.83 61.68 75.39 89.09 102.80 123.36

Westward 15.21 17.74 20.28 22.81 27.88 32.95 38.02 45.62

Wigton 92.99 108.48 123.98 139.48 170.48 201.47 232.47 278.96

Winscales 70.59 82.35 94.12 105.88 129.41 152.94 176.47 211.76

Woodside 18.20 21.23 24.27 27.30 33.37 39.43 45.50 54.60

Workington 52.22 60.92 69.63 78.33 95.74 113.14 130.55 156.66

Page 116



APPENDIX B2

A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Above Derwent 142.76 166.55 190.34 214.13 261.71 309.29 356.89 428.26

Aikton 134.53 156.95 179.37 201.79 246.63 291.47 336.32 403.58

Allhallows 152.10 177.44 202.79 228.14 278.84 329.53 380.24 456.28

Allonby 153.18 178.70 204.23 229.76 280.82 331.87 382.94 459.52

Aspatria 176.47 205.88 235.29 264.70 323.52 382.34 441.17 529.40

Bassenthwaite 139.30 162.51 185.73 208.94 255.37 301.80 348.24 417.88

Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 115.33 134.55 153.77 172.99 211.43 249.87 288.32 345.98

Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 157.61 183.88 210.14 236.41 288.94 341.48 394.02 472.82

Blindbothel 148.87 173.68 198.49 223.30 272.92 322.54 372.17 446.60

Blindcrake 148.84 173.65 198.45 223.26 272.87 322.48 372.10 446.52

Boltons 128.90 150.39 171.87 193.35 236.31 279.28 322.25 386.70

Borrowdale 139.86 163.16 186.47 209.78 256.40 303.01 349.64 419.56

Bothel & Threapland 139.74 163.03 186.32 209.61 256.19 302.77 349.35 419.22

Bowness on Solway 149.33 174.22 199.10 223.99 273.76 323.54 373.32 447.98

Bridekirk 129.86 151.51 173.15 194.79 238.07 281.36 324.65 389.58

Brigham 134.43 156.83 179.24 201.64 246.45 291.25 336.07 403.28

Bromfield 135.47 158.05 180.62 203.20 248.35 293.51 338.67 406.40

Broughton 137.05 159.89 182.73 205.57 251.25 296.93 342.62 411.14

Broughton Moor 169.76 198.06 226.35 254.64 311.22 367.81 424.40 509.28

Buttermere 129.68 151.29 172.90 194.51 237.73 280.95 324.19 389.02

Caldbeck 140.22 163.59 186.96 210.33 257.07 303.81 350.55 420.66

Camerton 131.76 153.72 175.68 197.64 241.56 285.48 329.40 395.28

Cockermouth 157.28 183.50 209.71 235.92 288.34 340.77 393.20 471.84

Crosscanonby 147.63 172.23 196.84 221.44 270.65 319.85 369.07 442.88

Dean 130.84 152.64 174.45 196.25 239.86 283.47 327.09 392.50

Dearham 143.28 167.15 191.03 214.91 262.67 310.42 358.19 429.82

Dundraw 134.98 157.48 179.97 202.47 247.46 292.45 337.45 404.94

Embleton 136.48 159.22 181.97 204.71 250.20 295.69 341.19 409.42

Gilcrux 163.86 191.17 218.48 245.79 300.41 355.03 409.65 491.58

Great Clifton 137.08 159.93 182.77 205.62 251.31 297.00 342.70 411.24

Greysouthen 145.59 169.85 194.12 218.38 266.91 315.43 363.97 436.76

Hayton & Mealo 149.40 174.30 199.20 224.10 273.90 323.70 373.50 448.20

Holme Abbey 153.44 179.02 204.59 230.16 281.30 332.45 383.60 460.32

Holme East Waver 152.75 178.21 203.66 229.12 280.03 330.95 381.87 458.24

Holme Low 140.01 163.34 186.68 210.01 256.68 303.34 350.02 420.02

Holme St Cuthbert 137.64 160.57 183.51 206.45 252.33 298.20 344.09 412.90

Ireby & Uldale 136.70 159.48 182.26 205.04 250.60 296.16 341.74 410.08

Keswick 199.61 232.88 266.14 299.41 365.94 432.48 499.02 598.82

Kirkbampton 148.12 172.81 197.49 222.18 271.55 320.92 370.30 444.36

Kirkbride 157.27 183.48 209.69 235.90 288.32 340.74 393.17 471.80

Little Clifton 150.84 175.98 201.12 226.26 276.54 326.82 377.10 452.52

Valuation Bands

Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council and Parish Precept by valuation band.

Page 117



APPENDIX B2

A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Valuation Bands

Lorton 138.73 161.85 184.97 208.09 254.33 300.57 346.82 416.18

Loweswater 128.41 149.81 171.21 192.61 235.41 278.21 321.02 385.22

Maryport 170.05 198.39 226.73 255.07 311.75 368.43 425.12 510.14

Oughterside & Allerby 152.14 177.49 202.85 228.20 278.91 329.62 380.34 456.40

Papcastle 152.07 177.41 202.76 228.10 278.79 329.47 380.17 456.20

Plumbland 143.01 166.84 190.68 214.51 262.18 309.84 357.52 429.02

Seaton 142.17 165.86 189.56 213.25 260.64 308.02 355.42 426.50

Sebergham 140.34 163.72 187.11 210.50 257.28 304.05 350.84 421.00

Silloth 246.10 287.11 328.13 369.14 451.17 533.20 615.24 738.28

St Johns, Castlerigg & Wythburn 144.99 169.15 193.32 217.48 265.81 314.13 362.47 434.96

Thursby 148.21 172.91 197.61 222.31 271.71 321.11 370.52 444.62

Underskiddaw 143.87 167.85 191.82 215.80 263.75 311.71 359.67 431.60

Waverton 130.80 152.59 174.39 196.19 239.79 283.38 326.99 392.38

Westnewton 156.45 182.52 208.60 234.67 286.82 338.96 391.12 469.34

Westward 130.54 152.29 174.05 195.80 239.31 282.82 326.34 391.60

Wigton 208.32 243.03 277.75 312.47 381.91 451.34 520.79 624.94

Winscales 185.92 216.90 247.89 278.87 340.84 402.81 464.79 557.74

Woodside 133.53 155.78 178.04 200.29 244.80 289.30 333.82 400.58

Workington 167.55 195.47 223.40 251.32 307.17 363.01 418.87 502.64

Page 118



APPENDIX B3

A B C D E F G H
Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Above Derwent 1,237.40   1,443.63   1,649.86   1,856.09   2,268.55   2,681.01   3,093.49   3,712.18   
Aikton 1,229.17   1,434.03   1,638.89   1,843.75   2,253.47   2,663.19   3,072.92   3,687.50   
Allhallows 1,246.74   1,454.52   1,662.31   1,870.10   2,285.68   2,701.25   3,116.84   3,740.20   
Allonby 1,247.82   1,455.78   1,663.75   1,871.72   2,287.66   2,703.59   3,119.54   3,743.44   
Aspatria 1,271.11   1,482.96   1,694.81   1,906.66   2,330.36   2,754.06   3,177.77   3,813.32   
Bassenthwaite 1,233.94   1,439.59   1,645.25   1,850.90   2,262.21   2,673.52   3,084.84   3,701.80   
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 1,209.97   1,411.63   1,613.29   1,814.95   2,218.27   2,621.59   3,024.92   3,629.90   
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 1,252.25   1,460.96   1,669.66   1,878.37   2,295.78   2,713.20   3,130.62   3,756.74   
Blindbothel 1,243.51   1,450.76   1,658.01   1,865.26   2,279.76   2,694.26   3,108.77   3,730.52   
Blindcrake 1,243.48   1,450.73   1,657.97   1,865.22   2,279.71   2,694.20   3,108.70   3,730.44   
Boltons 1,223.54   1,427.47   1,631.39   1,835.31   2,243.15   2,651.00   3,058.85   3,670.62   
Borrowdale 1,234.50   1,440.24   1,645.99   1,851.74   2,263.24   2,674.73   3,086.24   3,703.48   
Bothel & Threapland 1,234.38   1,440.11   1,645.84   1,851.57   2,263.03   2,674.49   3,085.95   3,703.14   
Bowness on Solway 1,243.97   1,451.30   1,658.62   1,865.95   2,280.60   2,695.26   3,109.92   3,731.90   
Bridekirk 1,224.50   1,428.59   1,632.67   1,836.75   2,244.91   2,653.08   3,061.25   3,673.50   
Brigham 1,229.07   1,433.91   1,638.76   1,843.60   2,253.29   2,662.97   3,072.67   3,687.20   
Bromfield 1,230.11   1,435.13   1,640.14   1,845.16   2,255.19   2,665.23   3,075.27   3,690.32   
Broughton 1,231.69   1,436.97   1,642.25   1,847.53   2,258.09   2,668.65   3,079.22   3,695.06   
Broughton Moor 1,264.40   1,475.14   1,685.87   1,896.60   2,318.06   2,739.53   3,161.00   3,793.20   
Buttermere 1,224.32   1,428.37   1,632.42   1,836.47   2,244.57   2,652.67   3,060.79   3,672.94   
Caldbeck 1,234.86   1,440.67   1,646.48   1,852.29   2,263.91   2,675.53   3,087.15   3,704.58   
Camerton 1,226.40   1,430.80   1,635.20   1,839.60   2,248.40   2,657.20   3,066.00   3,679.20   
Cockermouth 1,251.92   1,460.58   1,669.23   1,877.88   2,295.18   2,712.49   3,129.80   3,755.76   
Crosscanonby 1,242.27   1,449.31   1,656.36   1,863.40   2,277.49   2,691.57   3,105.67   3,726.80   
Dean 1,225.48   1,429.72   1,633.97   1,838.21   2,246.70   2,655.19   3,063.69   3,676.42   
Dearham 1,237.92   1,444.23   1,650.55   1,856.87   2,269.51   2,682.14   3,094.79   3,713.74   
Dundraw 1,229.62   1,434.56   1,639.49   1,844.43   2,254.30   2,664.17   3,074.05   3,688.86   
Embleton 1,231.12   1,436.30   1,641.49   1,846.67   2,257.04   2,667.41   3,077.79   3,693.34   
Gilcrux 1,258.50   1,468.25   1,678.00   1,887.75   2,307.25   2,726.75   3,146.25   3,775.50   
Great Clifton 1,231.72   1,437.01   1,642.29   1,847.58   2,258.15   2,668.72   3,079.30   3,695.16   
Greysouthen 1,240.23   1,446.93   1,653.64   1,860.34   2,273.75   2,687.15   3,100.57   3,720.68   
Hayton & Mealo 1,244.04   1,451.38   1,658.72   1,866.06   2,280.74   2,695.42   3,110.10   3,732.12   
Holme Abbey 1,248.08   1,456.10   1,664.11   1,872.12   2,288.14   2,704.17   3,120.20   3,744.24   
Holme East Waver 1,247.39   1,455.29   1,663.18   1,871.08   2,286.87   2,702.67   3,118.47   3,742.16   
Holme Low 1,234.65   1,440.42   1,646.20   1,851.97   2,263.52   2,675.06   3,086.62   3,703.94   
Holme St Cuthbert 1,232.28   1,437.65   1,643.03   1,848.41   2,259.17   2,669.92   3,080.69   3,696.82   
Ireby & Uldale 1,231.34   1,436.56   1,641.78   1,847.00   2,257.44   2,667.88   3,078.34   3,694.00   
Keswick 1,294.25   1,509.96   1,725.66   1,941.37   2,372.78   2,804.20   3,235.62   3,882.74   
Kirkbampton 1,242.76   1,449.89   1,657.01   1,864.14   2,278.39   2,692.64   3,106.90   3,728.28   
Kirkbride 1,251.91   1,460.56   1,669.21   1,877.86   2,295.16   2,712.46   3,129.77   3,755.72   
Little Clifton 1,245.48   1,453.06   1,660.64   1,868.22   2,283.38   2,698.54   3,113.70   3,736.44   

Valuation Bands

Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council, Cumbria County Council, Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cumbria and Parish Precept by valuation band.

Page 119



APPENDIX B3

A B C D E F G H
Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Valuation Bands

Lorton 1,233.37   1,438.93   1,644.49   1,850.05   2,261.17   2,672.29   3,083.42   3,700.10   
Loweswater 1,223.05   1,426.89   1,630.73   1,834.57   2,242.25   2,649.93   3,057.62   3,669.14   
Maryport 1,264.69   1,475.47   1,686.25   1,897.03   2,318.59   2,740.15   3,161.72   3,794.06   
Oughterside & Allerby 1,246.78   1,454.57   1,662.37   1,870.16   2,285.75   2,701.34   3,116.94   3,740.32   
Papcastle 1,246.71   1,454.49   1,662.28   1,870.06   2,285.63   2,701.19   3,116.77   3,740.12   
Plumbland 1,237.65   1,443.92   1,650.20   1,856.47   2,269.02   2,681.56   3,094.12   3,712.94   
Seaton 1,236.81   1,442.94   1,649.08   1,855.21   2,267.48   2,679.74   3,092.02   3,710.42   
Sebergham 1,234.98   1,440.80   1,646.63   1,852.46   2,264.12   2,675.77   3,087.44   3,704.92   
Silloth 1,340.74   1,564.19   1,787.65   2,011.10   2,458.01   2,904.92   3,351.84   4,022.20   
St Johns, Castlerigg & Wythburn 1,239.63   1,446.23   1,652.84   1,859.44   2,272.65   2,685.85   3,099.07   3,718.88   
Thursby 1,242.85   1,449.99   1,657.13   1,864.27   2,278.55   2,692.83   3,107.12   3,728.54   
Underskiddaw 1,238.51   1,444.93   1,651.34   1,857.76   2,270.59   2,683.43   3,096.27   3,715.52   
Waverton 1,225.44   1,429.67   1,633.91   1,838.15   2,246.63   2,655.10   3,063.59   3,676.30   
Westnewton 1,251.09   1,459.60   1,668.12   1,876.63   2,293.66   2,710.68   3,127.72   3,753.26   
Westward 1,225.18   1,429.37   1,633.57   1,837.76   2,246.15   2,654.54   3,062.94   3,675.52   
Wigton 1,302.96   1,520.11   1,737.27   1,954.43   2,388.75   2,823.06   3,257.39   3,908.86   
Winscales 1,280.56   1,493.98   1,707.41   1,920.83   2,347.68   2,774.53   3,201.39   3,841.66   
Woodside 1,228.17   1,432.86   1,637.56   1,842.25   2,251.64   2,661.02   3,070.42   3,684.50   
Workington 1,262.19   1,472.55   1,682.92   1,893.28   2,314.01   2,734.73   3,155.47   3,786.56   

Page 120



APPENDIX C

Net Parish Parish 

Parish Tax Band D

Precept Base Rate

£ £

Above Derwent 26,741.65 649.95 41.14

Aikton 4,800.00 166.67 28.80

Allhallows 9,500.00 172.26 55.15

Allonby 10,200.00 179.67 56.77

Aspatria 66,815.07 728.57 91.71

Bassenthwaite 7,350.00 204.44 35.95

Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 17.74 0.00

Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 10,650.00 167.92 0.00

Blindbothel 3,400.00 67.58 50.31

Blindcrake 7,250.00 144.22 50.27

Boltons 5,150.00 252.99 20.36

Borrowdale 6,826.05 185.56 36.79

Bothel & Threapland 6,000.00 163.84 36.62

Bowness on Solway 18,784.00 368.34 51.00

Bridekirk 6,500.00 298.13 21.80

Brigham 10,000.00 349.02 28.65

Bromfield 6,000.00 198.62 30.21

Broughton 18,677.73 573.27 32.58

Broughton Moor 18,000.00 220.44 81.65

Buttermere 1,470.00 68.31 21.52

Caldbeck 12,330.00 330.23 37.34

Camerton 1,500.00 60.85 24.65

Cockermouth 198,570.00 3,155.43 62.93

Crosscanonby 16,802.00 346.80 48.45

Dean 12,000.00 515.80 23.26

Dearham 32,000.00 763.40 41.92

Dundraw 1,750.00 59.37 29.48

Embleton 7,162.17 225.78 31.72

Gilcrux 8,600.00 118.13 72.80

Great Clifton 10,000.00 306.48 32.63

Greysouthen 10,000.00 220.29 45.39

Hayton & Mealo 4,100.00 80.22 51.11

Holme Abbey 12,570.27 219.88 57.17

Holme East Waver 6,695.00 119.28 56.13

Holme Low 4,000.00 108.04 37.02

Holme St Cuthbert 5,000.00 149.42 33.46

Ireby & Uldale 6,555.00 204.51 32.05

Keswick 261,777.00 2,070.68 126.42

Kirkbampton 8,750.00 177.89 49.19

Kirkbride 9,700.00 154.20 62.91

Little Clifton 7,500.00 140.78 53.27

 PARISH PRECEPT COUNCIL TAX BAND D

Page 121



APPENDIX C

Net Parish Parish 

Parish Tax Band D

Precept Base Rate

£ £

Lorton 5,610.00 159.83 35.10

Loweswater 2,550.00 129.97 19.62

Maryport 218,570.00 2,662.86 82.08

Oughterside & Allerby 10,573.00 191.52 55.21

Papcastle 10,000.00 181.47 55.11

Plumbland 5,350.00 128.86 41.52

Seaton 59,419.77 1,475.78 40.26

Sebergham 5,325.00 141.98 37.51

Silloth 167,820.00 855.57 196.15

St Johns, Castlerigg & Wythburn 8,087.00 181.76 44.49

Thursby 23,238.33 471.15 49.32

Underskiddaw 6,407.36 149.66 42.81

Waverton 2,600.00 112.07 23.20

Westnewton 5,625.00 91.19 61.68

Westward 7,500.00 328.74 22.81

Wigton 240,000.00 1,720.67 139.48

Winscales 6,000.00 56.67 105.88

Woodside 5,392.00 197.54 27.30

Workington 526,397.00 6,720.18 78.33

TOTAL 2,197,940.40 30,662.47

Page 122



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 6 March 2019

Recommendations Referred to Council

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy 
and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2019-20 

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Audit 
Committee held on the 25 February 2019. It is for Council to consider its 
response.

Recommended - That - 

a) The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Investment 
Strategy for 2019-20 (included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1) be 
approved

b) The MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 (of Appendix 1) be 
approved

c) The prudential and treasury indicators, including the Council’s 
Authorised Borrowing Limit set out in Section 5 (of Appendix 1) be 
approved.

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 123

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 124



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Audit Committee - 25 February 2019 
Council – 6 March 2019 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  

2019-20 
 

  
The Reason for the Decision Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 

2003, statutory guidance issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government and 
codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) require 
the Council to prepare and approve, before the start 
of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) and Investment Strategy setting out 
its proposed treasury management activities 
for the year and policies for the prudent 
management of its investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) indicating how it is 
proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury 
indicators for the forthcoming and following 
years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its 
capital expenditure plans are affordable and 
that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

  
Summary of options considered  N/A   
  
Recommendations It is recommended that Members approve:  

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement & Investment Strategy for 2019-20 
(included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1)  

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 
(of Appendix 1).  

c) the prudential and treasury indicators, including 
the Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit set out 
in Section 5 (of Appendix 1). 

  
 
 

 
 

Page 125



Financial/Resource Implications The Prudential and Treasury management 
indicators set out in Appendix 1 form a key element 
in demonstrating the affordability, prudence and 
sustainability of the Authority’s capital expenditure 
and borrowing plans.  
 

  
Legal Implications Noted above 
  
Community Safety Implications None directly 
  
Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications 

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria 
by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.   

  

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed 

N/A 
 

  
Wards Affected None directly 
  
The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
Strategic Objectives 

Effective treasury management and compliance with 
the Prudential Code will provide support towards the 
achievement of the Council’s business and service 
objectives. 

  
Is this a Key Decision Yes 
  
Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon 
  
Lead Officer  Barry Lennox  

Financial Services Manager    
Ext: 2586  
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

 
Report Implications (Please delete where applicable). 
 
Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N 

Financial  Y Employment (internal) N 

Legal Y Partnership N 

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N 

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N 

 

Background papers    

Appendix 1:  Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Policy Statement - 2019/20 

Page 126



1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) and codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), require the Council to prepare 
and approve, before the start of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of investments held 
for treasury management purposes  

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how it is proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

1.2 This report, prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and codes of 
practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury management and capital 
finance, presents for approval by the Full Council, the Council’s proposed:  

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2019-20  

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement for 2019-20 

 Prudential and treasury indicators for 2019-20 to 2021-22.  

1.3 The Council’s proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 2019-
20 are set out in Appendix 1 to this report.  

1.4 The statutory framework for treasury management and capital finance within 
local authorities is laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and 
codes of practice, the key elements of which are:   

 The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  
(‘the Prudential Code’) and  

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes - (‘the Treasury Management 
Code’) - issued by CIPFA  

 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government statutory 
guidance on:  

- Local Government Investments, and    

- Minimum Revenue Provision.  

1.5 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as:  

Page 127



“the management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”. 

1.6 Consistent with this definition the Treasury Management and Investment 
strategies contained in Appendix 1 to this report are focused on borrowing and 
investments in financial instruments forming part of the Council’s treasury 
management activity.  

1.7 Investments in financial and non-financial assets (for example investment 
property, loans supporting service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries 
and joint ventures) made for policy reasons, rather than for treasury 
management purposes, are dealt with in the Council’s Capital Strategy.   

1.8 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports, including the report covering those matters listed in paragraph 1.2 
above, to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by 
Full Council. 

1.9 The following sections provide an overview and summary of the contents of 
the proposed TMSS, Investment Strategy and MRP policy statement included 
in Appendix 1 to this report. 

2.0  Treasury Management Strategy Statement   

2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) sets out the Council’s 
proposed treasury management activities for the year - based on budget 
proposals, interest rate forecasts and economic outlook.   

2.2 The issues covered in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement include: 

 the current treasury position  

 treasury indicators, required by CIPFAs Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes, designed to limit the Council’s treasury risk 
exposures  

 economic background and prospects for interest rates  

 borrowing strategy   

 policy on borrowing in advance of need   

 debt rescheduling   

 policy on the use of derivatives 

 the process adopted for reviewing and addressing the training needs of 
officers and members in relation to treasury management 

 use of treasury management consultants including services provided 
and procedures employed for monitoring the quality of those services. 

Page 128



2.3 The Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement highlights the 
successful identification, monitoring and control of risk as being the prime 
criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 
measured. Risk management is therefore central to the Council’s adopted 
treasury management and investment strategies. The Council’s treasury 
activities expose it to a number of financial and operational risks including 
credit and counterparty risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. The TMSS 
explains the principal means through which these risks will be managed. 

3.0 Investment Strategy 

3.1 The Annual Investment Strategy for 2019-20 - included in section 3 of 
Appendix 1- sets out the Council’s policies for the prudent financial 
management of its treasury management investments and for giving priority 
first to the security of those investments (i.e. protect the capital sum invested 

from loss) and secondly, to their liquidity (i.e. ensuring funds invested can be 

accessed to meet expenditure when needed).  

3.2 The contents of the Council’s Investment Strategy follow the 
recommendations set out in the MHCLG Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (third edition) issued in February 2018 and the reporting 
principles set out in CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code. It sets out: 

 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments 
may be placed, including the Council’s approach on the use of credit 
ratings and other sources of information to assess credit and 
counterparty risk   

 the types of investment instruments that may be used 

 limits on the amount that may be invested with any single institution or 
group of institutions  

 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently 
committed 

 reporting arrangements.  

4.0  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 2019-20 

4.1 The MRP is an annual amount required to be set aside from the General Fund 
to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded by borrowing or through credit 
arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing arrangements (finance 
leases). The Council’s proposed MRP policy, setting out how it will discharge 
the duty under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) to make prudent MRP in the 
financial year, is set out in section 4 of Appendix 1.  It includes: 

 a description of what MRP is intended to achieve 

 commentary on the Council’s underlying duty to make prudent 
provision and ensure that debt is repaid over a period commensurate 
with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or - for 
historic borrowing originally supported by central government funding 

Page 129



rolled into Revenue Support Grant - over the period implicit in the 
determination of that original grant funding 

 consideration of the ‘options’ for calculating MRP outlined in the 
statutory guidance on MRP and the restrictions on their use 

 the policy proposed for the forthcoming year.  

4.2 Having regard to the statutory guidance on MRP issued by MHCLG and the 
‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that guidance, no changes to the 
existing method of calculating MRP are proposed. In 2019-20 the Council will 
therefore calculate MRP:  

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 April 
2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from borrowing 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of the preceding financial year (Option 2- CFR 
method)   

 for unsupported capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred 
after 1 April 2008, by applying Option 3 - Asset Life Method, using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method  

 for credit arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases) by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability.  

5.0  Prudential & Treasury Indicators  

5.1 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires local 
authorities to self-regulate the affordability, prudence and sustainability of their 
capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits and 
by publishing actuals for a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them 
to ensure their treasury management practices are in accordance with good 
practice and in full understanding of the risks involved and how these risks will 
be managed to levels that are acceptable to the organisation.  

5.2 The prudential and treasury indicators for the forthcoming and following years 
must be set before the beginning of the forthcoming year. They may be 
revised at any time, following due process, and must be reviewed, and revised 
if appropriate, for the current year when the prudential indicators are set for 
the following year. 

5.3 The Council’s prudential and treasury indicators for 2019-20 and following 
years are set out in section 5 of Appendix 1. They include:  

 indicators required by the Prudential Code covering affordability, 
prudence, capital expenditure, external debt and treasury 
management. These include the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 
Authorised Limit for External Debt) 

Page 130



 indicators required by the sector guidance accompanying the Treasury 
Management Code to ensure the Council operates its treasury 
activities within defined limits. 

 
 
6.0  Recommendations  

6.1 It is recommended that Members approve:  

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy for 2019-20 (included in sections 2 and 3 of 
Appendix 1)  

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 (of Appendix 1).  

c)  the prudential and treasury indicators, including the Council’s 
Authorised Borrowing Limit set out in Section 5 (of Appendix 1). 

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 132



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019 

Page 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement & 
Investment Strategy 

Minimum Revenue  
Provision Policy 

2019-2020 
 

 

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 

Page 133



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 2 

 

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Page 134



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 3 

 

Contents     

1.  Introduction ........................................................................................................ 4 

1.1   Background  .................................................................................................. 4 

1.2   Reporting requirements  ................................................................................ 4 

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) ........................................ 6 

2.1   Current treasury position  .............................................................................. 6 

2.2   Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing & investing activity  ........................ 7 

2.3   Prospects for interest rates  .......................................................................... 7 

2.4   Borrowing strategy  ..................................................................................... 12 

2.5   Policy on borrowing in advance of need  ..................................................... 13 

2.6   Debt rescheduling  ...................................................................................... 14 

2.7   Policy on the use of derivatives   ................................................................. 14 

2.8   Training  ...................................................................................................... 15 

2.9 Treasury management consultants  ........................................................... 15 

3.  Annual Investment Strategy ............................................................................ 16 

3.1   Investment policy - objectives ..................................................................... 16 

3.2   Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management) ....................................... 16 

3.3   Approved investment counterparties  .......................................................... 17 

3.4   Approved instruments ................................................................................. 18 

3.5   Limits on principal sums invested................................................................ 20 

3.6   Limits on investment maturities ................................................................... 20 

3.7   Reporting arrangements   ........................................................................... 21 

4.  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement ................................... 21 

5.  Prudential & treasury Indicators 2019-20 to 2021-22 .................................... 25 

5.1   Indicators required by the Prudential Code  ................................................ 25 

5.2   Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code ............................. 31 

6.  Appendices ....................................................................................................... 33 

A.   Interest Rate Forecasts 2019 - 2022 ............................................................ 34 

B.   Economic Background  ................................................................................. 35 

C.   Short & Long term credit ratings  .................................................................. 40 

 

 

 

Page 135



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 4 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1  Background 

1.1.1 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as “the management of 
the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”.  

1.1.2 This definition expects a ‘best value’ approach in which authorities should 
seek to minimise the cost of borrowing (or maximise the returns from 
investment), subject to the over-riding management of risks, with risk 
limitation being more important than return (yield). 

1.1.3 The statutory framework for treasury management and capital finance within 
local authorities is laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and 
codes of practice, the key elements of which are:  

 The Local Government Act 2003 - (‘the 2003 Act’) 

 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)(England) 
Regulations 2003 (as amended) - (‘the 2003 Regulations’)  

 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) 
Guidance on Local Government Investments - third edition (February 
2018) 

 MHCLG guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision - fourth edition 
(February 2018) 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities - 2017 
Edition - (‘the Prudential Code’) 

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 Edition - (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’). 

1.1.4 Consistent with the definition of treasury management set out in paragraph 
1.1.1 above, the Treasury Management and Investment strategies contained 
in this document are focused on borrowing and investments in financial 
instruments held for treasury management purposes (i.e. investments made 
to support effective treasury management activity). Investments in financial 
and non-financial assets (for example investment property, loans supporting 
service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures) made 
for policy reasons, rather than for treasury management purposes, are dealt 
with in the Council’s Capital Strategy.   

1.2  Reporting requirements 

1.2.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government and Codes of Practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury 

Page 136



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 5 

 

management and capital finance, require local authorities to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year: 

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of its investments 

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how, in the forthcoming financial year, the duty to 
make prudent MRP will be discharged 

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels. 

1.2.2 The Treasury Management Code also requires authorities to ensure the Full 
Council receives:  

 a mid-year report providing:  

- an update on the economic environment and interest rate 
forecasts underlying the adopted strategies  

- details of variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 
contained in the approved Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategies 

- details of investing and borrowing activities undertaken 

- confirmation of compliance with treasury and prudential indicators  

 after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the 
treasury management function, on the risk implications of decisions 
taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any 
circumstances of non-compliance with the Council’s treasury 
management policy statement. 

1.2.3 This document, prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and 
codes of practice referred to above, sets out the Council’s:  

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy for 2019-20  

 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement for 2019-20 

 Prudential and treasury indicators for the three year period 2019-20 to 
2021-22.  

1.2.4 The TMSS and Investment Strategy, MRP policy and the prudential and 
treasury indicators, must be approved by Full Council prior to the 
commencement of the financial year to which they relate. 

1.2.5 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 

Page 137



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 6 

 

reports, including this report, to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to 
their consideration by Full Council. 

 

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

2.1  Current treasury position  

2.1.1 The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 December 2018 is summarised 
in table 1. Table 1 also shows a comparison of the Council’s actual external 
debt (borrowing) postion with its underlying capital borrowing need (the 
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing. 

Table 1: Investment and borrowing 

 At 31 Dec 
2018  

£000 

At 31 Mar 
2018  

£000 

At 31 Dec 
2017  

£000 

At 31 Mar 
2017  

£000 

Investments     

Specified Investments:      

Term, call & notice accounts  4,168 1,618 1,527 2,419 

Money Market Funds  15,350 5,515 11,545 5,655 

Non-specified investments:     

Equities  11 11 11 11 

Total investments 19,529 7,144 13,083 8,085 

Borrowing      

PWLB 15,193 15,380 13,465 13,607 

Other borrowing 85 85 85 85 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total (gross) debt 15,278 15,465 13,550 13,692 

Capital Financing Requirement 18,964 18,917 18,245 18,674 

(Under)/Over borrowing  (3,686) (3,452) (4,695) (4,982) 

2.1.2  At 31 December 2018 the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed 
rate:  

 maturity loans totalling £8.0m (31 March 2018: £8m) 

 annuity loans of £1.633m (31 March 2018: £1.70m) 

 EIP loans of £5.560m (31 March 2018: £5.68m). 

2.1.3  Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan 
portfolio range from 2.44% to 9.5%. At 31 December 2018 the weighted 
average rate of interest payable on the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio stood 
at 5.43%.  

2.1.4 At 31 December 2018, the weighted average life of the Council’s PWLB loan 
portfolio was approximately 25. The weighted average time to maturity of 
these loans was 29 years. 

 

Page 138



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 7 

 

2.2  Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing and lending activity 

2.2.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires a local authority to create and keep 
under review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of 
loans and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The processes 
authorities must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for 
external debt’) are set out in the Prudential Code which authorities must 
‘have regard to’. An authority is free to vary its affordable borrowing limit, 
subject to approval by Full Council, provided there is good reason for doing 
so. However breach of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by the 
2003 Act and any borrowing above the affordable borrowing limit is ultra-
vires. 

2.2.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, the Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes and accompanying sector guidance, include a number of other key 
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include: 

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year and 
reflecting the authority’s plans for capital expenditure, estimated capital 
financing requirement (CFR) and cash flow requirements for the year 
for all purposes 

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for current and the following two financial years. 

 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for over 365 
days 

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of its borrowing. 

2.2.3 Details of the Council’s prudential and treasury indicators are set out in 
section 5 of this report. 

2.3   Prospects for interest rates  

2.3.1 The Council has appointed Link Asset Services (formerly operating as Capita 
Asset Services) as its treasury advisor. Part of their service is to assist the 
Council to formulate a view on interest rates. Link Asset Services undertook 
its latest review of interest rate forecasts in November 2018. These latest 
forecasts take into account the Bank of England quarterly Inflation Report for 
November 2018 and the decisions and forward guidance issued by the 
Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee at its meeting on 1 November 2018.  

Page 139



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 8 

 

Table 2: Forecast interest rates 2018-2022 

Quarter 
ending 

Bank  
rate 

PWLB 5yr 
rate 

PWLB 10yr 
rate 

PWLB 25yr 
rate 

PWLB 50yr 
rate 

 % % % % % 

Actual [6.2.19] 0.75 1.68 2.04 2.55 2.39 

Mar-19 0.75 2.10 2.50 2.90 2.70 

Jun-19 1.00 2.20 2.60 3.00 2.80 

Sep-19 1.00 2.20 2.60 3.10 2.90 

Dec-19 1.00 2.30 2.70 3.10 2.90 

Mar-20 1.25 2.30 2.80 3.20 3.00 

Jun-20 1.25 2.40 2.90 3.30 3.10 

Sep-20 1.25 2.50 2.90 3.30 3.10 

Dec-20 1.50 2.50 3.00 3.40 3.20 

Mar-21 1.50 2.60 3.00 3.40 3.20 

Jun-21 1.75 2.60 3.10 3.50 3.30 

Sep-21 1.75 2.70 3.10 3.50 3.30 

Dec-21 1.75 2.80 3.20 3.60 3.40 

Mar-22 2.00 2.80 3.20 3.60 3.40 

1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. 
Certainty rates apply to authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their 
plans for long-term borrowing and associated capital spending. 

2.3.2 The forecasts for the Bank Rate include a total of five 25bp increases over 
the forecast period, starting in quarter 2 (March to June) of 2019. Borrowing 
rates shown are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate (standard new loan rate 
minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most authorities since 
2012. The expectation is for PWLB borrowing rates to increase gradually 
over the forecast period. 

2.3.3 Following the flow of generally positive economic statistics since the end of 
the quarter ended 30 June, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) took the 
decision on 2 August to make the first increase in the Bank Rate above 0.5% 
since the financial crash, to 0.75%.   

2.3.4 Since the meeting in August growth has been healthy, but slowed 
significantly during the last quarter of 2018. At their November Quarterly 
Inflation Report meeting, the MPC left the Bank Rate unchanged, but 
expressed some concern at the Chancellor’s fiscal stimulus in his Budget, 
which could increase inflationary pressures. However, it is unlikely that the 
MPC would increase the Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline 
in March for Brexit. On the major assumption that Parliament and the EU 
agree a Brexit deal in the first quarter of 2019, then the next increase in the 
Bank Rate is forecast to be in May 2019, followed by increases in February 
and November 2020, before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022. 

2.3.5 The forecasts set out in the preceding table are predicated on an assumption 
of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the EU. On 
this basis, while GDP growth is likely to be subdued in 2019 due to all the 
uncertainties around Brexit depressing consumer and business confidence, 

Page 140



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 9 

 

an agreement is likely to lead to a boost to the rate of growth in 2020 which 
could, in turn, increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause 
the Bank of England to resume a series of gentle increases in the Bank Rate. 
Just how fast, and how far, those increases will occur and rise to, will be data 
dependent. The forecasts in this report assume a modest recovery in the rate 
and timing of stronger growth and in the corresponding response by the Bank 
in raising rates. 

2.3.6 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank of 
England would take action to cut the Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help 
economic growth deal with the adverse effects of this situation. This is also 
likely to cause short to medium term gilt yields to fall. If there was a disorderly 
Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a longer period 
and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. It is also 
possible that the government could act to protect economic growth by 
implementing fiscal stimulus. However, there would appear to be a majority 
consensus in the Commons against any form of non-agreement exit so the 
chance of this occurring has now substantially diminished. 

2.3.7 At the present time, the overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the 
UK is probably neutral. The balance of risks to increases in the Bank Rate 
and shorter term PWLB rates are also probably evenly balanced and are 
broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how slowly inflation 
pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward 
positively. However, economic forecasting remains difficult with so many 
external influences weighing on the UK. The interest rate forecasts set out in 
table 1 (and also MPC decisions) will therefore be liable to further 
amendment depending on how economic data and developments in financial 
markets transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially 
in the EU, could also have a major impact.  

2.3.8  In line with the base rate forecasts, investment returns are likely to remain 
low during 2019-20 but to be on a gently rising trend over the next few years. 
As a consequence there will remain a cost of carry to any new long-term 
borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash balances as this position 
will, most likely, incur a revenue cost reflecting the difference between borrowing 
costs and investment returns. 

2.3.9 During the current financial year (2018-19), borrowing interest rates have 
been volatile with little consistent trend in rates. While they were on a rising 
trend during the first half of the year, they have back tracked since then until 
early January.  

2.3.10 Geo-political events, sovereign debt issues and emerging market 
developments can all contribute to short-term volatility in financial markets. 
This could occur at any time during the forecast period. However, the overall 
longer run trend is for gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, to rise at a 
modest pace over the forecast period.  

2.3.11 The last 25 years or so has borne witness to a period of falling bond yields as 
inflation subsided to, and then stabilised at, much lower levels than before. 

Page 141



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 10 

 

The action of central banks since the financial crash of 2008, in implementing 
substantial Quantitative Easing (QE) purchases of government and other 
debt, added further impetus to this downward trend in bond yields and rising 
bond prices. Quantitative easing also caused a rise in equity values as 
investors searched for higher returns and purchased riskier assets.   

2.3.12 2016 saw the start of a reversal of this trend with a sharp rise in bond yields 
after the US Presidential election in November 2016, with yields then rising 
further as a result of the big increase in the US government deficit aimed at 
stimulating even stronger economic growth. That policy change also created 
concerns around a significant rise in inflationary pressures in an economy 
which was already running at remarkably low levels of unemployment.  

2.3.13 The US Federal Reserve has continued on its series of robust responses to 
combat its perception of rising inflationary pressures by repeatedly increasing 
the Federal Reserve Rate to reach 2.25% to 2.50% in December 2018. It has 
also continued its policy of not fully reinvesting proceeds from bonds that it 
holds as a result of quantitative easing, when they mature. This has resulted 
in US 10 year bond Treasury yields rising above 3.2% during October 2018. 
It has also contributed and also seen a sharp fall in equity prices as investors 
sold out of holding riskier assets. 

2.3.14 However, by early January 2019, US 10 year bond yields had fallen back 
considerably on fears the Federal Reserve was being too aggressive in 
raising interest rates and was going to cause a recession. Equity prices have 
been very volatile on alternating good and bad news during this period. 

2.3.15 In addition to the above uncertainties, downside risks to current forecasts for 
UK gilt yields and PWLB (certainty) rates currently include:  

 significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the rate of growth 
as a result of Brexit 

 the pace of Bank of England monetary policy action over the next 
three years (to raise the Bank Rate) causing weaker UK economic 
growth and increases in inflation than currently anticipated  

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due 
to its high level of government debt, low rate of economic growth and 
vulnerable banking system. In addition, March saw the election of a 
government which has made a lot of anti-austerity noise and that has 
already lead to friction with the EU when setting the target for the fiscal 
deficit in the national budget. The EU rejected the initial proposed 
Italian budget and demanded cuts in government spending which the 
Italian government initially refused. However, a fudge was 
subsequently agreed but only by delaying the planned increases in 
expenditure to a later year. This has therefore only been kicked down 
the road to a later time. The rating agencies have started on 
downgrading Italian debt to one notch above junk level. If Italian debt 
were to fall below investment grade, many investors would be unable 
to hold it. Unsurprisingly, investors are becoming increasingly 
concerned by the words and actions of the Italian government and 
consequently, Italian bond yields have risen at a time when the 

Page 142



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 11 

 

government faces having to refinance large amounts of debt maturing 
in 2019.  

 Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary forming a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU while Italy, this year, has also elected a 
strongly anti-immigration government. Elections to the EU parliament 
are due in May/June 2019. 

 Fallout from the German general election of September 2017 which 
left Angela Merkel’s CDU party in a vulnerable minority position as a 
result of the rise of the anti-immigration AfD party. Then in October 
2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse state elections radically 
undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in support for the 
CDU. As a result, the SPD is reviewing whether it can continue to 
support a coalition that is so damaging to its electoral popularity. After 
the result of the Hesse state election, Angela Merkel announced that 
she would not stand for re-election as CDU party leader at her party’s 
convention in December 2018, (a new party leader has now been 
elected). Although this makes little practical difference, as she is still 
expected to aim to continue for now as the Chancellor, there are five 
more state elections coming up in 2019 and EU parliamentary 
elections in May/June. These could result in a further loss of electoral 
support for both the CDU and SPD which could also undermine her 
leadership. 

 the vulnerability of other minority Eurozone governments including  
Spain, Portugal, Ireland, the Netherlands and Belgium, all of which 
have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which 
could prove fragile. Sweden is also struggling to form a government 
due to the anti-immigration party holding the balance of power, and 
which no other party is willing to form a coalition with. The Belgian 
coalition collapsed in December 2018 but a minority caretaker 
government has been appointed until the May EU wide general 
elections. 

 weak capitalisation of some European banks. Italian banks are 
particularly vulnerable; one factor is that they hold a high level of 
Italian government debt; debt which is falling in value.  This is 
therefore undermining their capital ratios and raises the question of 
whether they will need to raise fresh capital to bridge the gap. 

 rising interest rates in the US sparking a sudden flight of investment 
funds from more risky assets e.g. shares, into bonds yielding a much 
improved yield.  Emerging countries which have borrowed heavily in 
dollar denominated debt, could be particularly exposed to this risk of 
an investor flight to safe havens e.g. UK gilts. 

 concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has swollen 
massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to finance 
mergers and acquisitions. This has resulted in the debt of many large 
corporations being downgraded to a BBB credit rating, close to junk 
status. Indeed, 48% of total investment grade corporate debt is now 
rated at BBB. If such corporations fail to generate profits and cash flow 
to reduce their debt levels as expected, this could tip their debt into 

Page 143



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 12 

 

junk ratings which will increase their cost of financing and further 
negatively impact profits and cash flow. 

 geopolitical risks in Asia (especially North Korea), Europe and the 
Middle East, leading to increased safe haven flows.  

2.3.16 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates include: 

 agreement by both the UK and EU to a compromise that removed all 
threats of economic and political disruption as a consequence of Brexit  

 the pace and strength of increases in the Bank Rate is too slow 
allowing inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in 
the Bank Rate faster than currently expected.  

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels, causing an increase in the 
inflation premium inherent to gilt yields.  

 the pace and strength of increases in the Federal Funds Rate and 
reversal of Quantitative Easing, causing a fundamental reassessment 
by investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to 
equities, leading to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp 
increase in bond yields in the US, which could then spillover into 
impacting bond yields around the world. 

2.3.17 A more detailed commentary on the economic background underpinning current 
interest rate forecasts is included in Appendix B. 

2.4  Borrowing strategy  

2.4.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position (see table 
1). This means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement - CFR) has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves and favourable in-year cash flow, the 
Council has been able to avoid the need to borrow up to the level of the CFR.  

2.4.2 This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce 
treasury risk by reducing its external investment balances. This strategy is 
prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue 
that needs to be considered. The Council will continue with this policy during 
2019-20 to the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of its interest rate exposures. 

2.4.3 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2019-20 treasury operations. Treasury staff will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances: 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short-term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation), then long-term borrowing will be 

Page 144



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 13 

 

postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into 
short term borrowing will be considered. 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short-term rates than that currently forecast, (e.g. due an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, 
a greater than expected increase in global economic activity or a 
sudden increase in inflation risks), then the portfolio position will be re-
appraised with the likely action being that fixed rate funding will be 
drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than they will be in the next 
few years. 

2.4.4 Any decisions taken in this regard will be reported to members at the next 
available opportunity. 

2.4.5 The Council manages interest rate exposures through the prudent use of its 
approved instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability 
and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a 
sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates.  

2.4.6 Interest rate cash flow risk (the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest 
rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s 
finances) associated with the Council’s long term borrowing, will be managed 
principally by borrowing at fixed rates. 

2.5  Policy on borrowing in advance of need   

2.5.1 The Local Government Act 2003 allows local authorities to borrow or invest 
for ‘‘any purpose relevant to its functions, under any enactment’’, or “for the 
purpose of the prudent management of its financial affairs”. This allows the 
temporary investment of funds borrowed for the purposes of expenditure in 
the near future. 

2.5.2 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of its needs purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 
to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds.  

2.5.3 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual 
reporting mechanism.  

 

 

 

Page 145



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 14 

 

2.6  Debt rescheduling  

2.6.1 Debt rescheduling includes the premature repayment of loans and the 
replacement of existing loans with new loans on different terms (repayment 
method, loan period, interest rate). The reasons for rescheduling include:  

 aligning long-term cash flow projections and debt levels in order to 
redistribute the burden of debt financing costs between years of account  

 generating savings in risk adjusted interest costs 

 rebalancing the interest rate structure of the debt portfolio to reduce 
exposures to interest rate risk   

 changing the size and/or maturity profile of the debt portfolio to reduce 
refinancing risk exposures and/or align the debt maturity profile with the 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital financing 
requirement).   

2.6.2 As short-term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term 
fixed interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings 
by switching from long-term debt to short-term debt. However, these savings 
will need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the 
size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).  

2.6.3 Consideration will also be given to identifying if there is any residual potential 
for making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt 
prematurely as short-term rates on investments are likely to be lower than 
rates paid on current debt.   

2.6.4 The economic environment and consequent structure of interest rates has 
limited the rescheduling opportunities during recent years. Whilst this 
situation is likely to continue during 2019-20, the Council will continue to 
monitor interest rate structures for opportunities to reschedule debt in order 
to generate savings and/or rebalance risks within the loan portfolio. All 
rescheduling will be reported to the Audit Committee and Full Council at the 
earliest meeting following its action. 

2.7  Policy on the use of derivatives   

2.7.1 The Council will only use derivatives for the management of risk and for the 
prudent management of its financial affairs. Transactions involving 
standalone derivative products such as forward rate agreements, interest 
rate swaps and options (interest rate caps, floors and collars) require 
authorisation by the Head of Financial Services and will only be entered into:  

 after seeking proper advice to ensure the product is fully understood, 
including how underlying risks are affected and the additional risks that 
may result from its use (for example credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties) 

 after seeking confirmation that the Council has legal power to enter into 
the transaction 

Page 146



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 15 

 

 where use of the product can be shown to reduce the overall level of 
financial risks the Council is exposed to (after taking into consideration 
additional risks that may result from use of the derivative instrument) 

 after ensuring treasury staff have received training to ensure competent 
use of the product. 

2.7.2 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria outlined in section 3 below. The 
current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty limits set out in paragraph 3.5.1. 

2.8  Training  

2.8.1 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral 
Guidance Notes require the responsible officer (the Head of Financial 
Services) to ensure that:  

 all staff involved in the treasury management function (including 
statutory officers) are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them 

 members tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including 
those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their 
needs and responsibilities. 

2.8.2 In complying with these requirements the Council regularly reviews the 
training needs of officers and members and will arrange training, as required, 
to ensure that officers and members have the requisite skills and knowledge.  

 
2.9  Treasury management advisors   

2.9.1 The Council currently uses Link Asset Services as its external treasury 
management advisors. They provide a range of services to the Council 
including: 

 technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues 

 economic and interest rate analysis 

 debt services including advice on the timing of borrowing 

 debt rescheduling advice  

 generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments 

 credit ratings and creditworthiness information.  

2.9.2 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers. It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 

Page 147



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 16 

 

the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value is assessed 
are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.  

2.9.3  Link Asset Services were re-appointed in 2017 for an initial period of three 
years (2017-18 to 2019-20) following a competitive tendering exercise. The 
Council retains the option to extend this contract for a further year. 

 

3.  Annual Investment Strategy 

3.1  Investment policy - objectives  

3.1.1 The Council’s investment policy deals with investments in financial 
instruments held for treasury management purposes and is set with regard to 
the requirments of  

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (‘MHCLG 
Investment Guidance’) (third edition), and  

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 Edition (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’). 

3.1.2 Accordingly, the Council’s primary policy objectives in relation to its treasury 
investment activity are to ensure:  

 first, the security of principal sums invested (i.e. to protect the capital 
sum invested from loss)  

 second, that appropriate levels of liquidity are maintained – (i.e. 
ensuring funds invested are available to meet expenditure when 
needed).  

3.1.3 The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments (yield) 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity. However, yield 
will only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or more 
investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives. 

3.2  Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management)  

3.2.1 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on:  

 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty (section 3.3) 

 the types of investment instruments that may be used (section 3.4) 

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on 
the Council’s list of approved counterparties (section 3.5) 

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 
financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty (section 3.6). 

Page 148



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 17 

 

3.3  Approved investment counterparties   

3.3.1 Counterparties with whom investments may be placed are restricted to 
financial institutions and other bodies of high credit quality. High credit quality 
financial institutions and other bodies are defined by the Council as those 
with a minimum long-term rating across all three of the main credit ratings 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or 
equivalent for non-UK sovereigns). 

3.3.2 The minimum rating criteria applied by the Council uses the lowest common 
denominator method of selecting counterparties and applying limits. This 
means the Council’s minimum criteria will apply to the lowest available rating 
for any institution.  For example, if an institution is rated by two agencies, one 
rating meets the Council’s criteria, the other does not, the institution will fall 
outside the lending criteria and will be excluded from the list of approved 
counterparties.   

3.3.3 Whilst credit ratings remain a key source of information, they are not the sole 
determinant of the Council’s assessment of the credit quality of potential 
counterparties. Before making investment decisions reference will also be 
made to: 

 ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating 
over the medium term)  

 credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or 
upgrading of the credit rating could be imminent)  

 sovereign ratings and support mechanisms 

 credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market 
sentiment regarding the credit risk associated with a particular 
institution and an early warning of potential creditworthiness 
problems which may only belatedly lead to actual changes in credit 
ratings). 

3.3.4 This information is fully integrated into the creditworthiness methodology 
used by the Council’s treasury advisors, Link Asset Services, to produce its 
colour coded ratings assessment to indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
potential counterparties. Information provided by this ratings assessment is 
used by the Council to determine the maximum duration of individual 
investment instruments (see section 3.6). 

3.3.5 Other information sources used to assess the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties include the financial press, share price and other 
information pertaining to the banking sector and the economic and political 
environments in which these institutions operate. Regardless of the credit 
rating assigned to an institution, if this additional information casts doubt over 
its financial standing then that institution will be removed immediately from 
the Council’s counterparty lending list. 

3.3.6 Credit ratings and creditworthiness information is supplied to the Council by 
Link Asset Services and monitored weekly. The Council is also alerted by 

Page 149



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 18 

 

email when there is an amendment by any of the agencies to the credit rating 
of an institution. If as a result of downgrade, a counterparty no longer meets 
the Council’s minimum credit ratings criteria, it will be removed immediately 
from the Council’s counterparty (dealing) list. Notification of rating changes, 
rating watches and rating outlooks is provided to officers almost immediately 
after they occur and this information is considered before dealing. For 
instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty, currently at the 
minimum Council criteria, will result in the counterparty being suspended 
from use, with all others being reviewed in light of market conditions. Link 
Asset Services also provide the Council with information relating to 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and 
other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result 
in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 UK banks - ring fencing 

3.3.7 The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and 
Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to 
separate core retail banking services from their investment and international 
banking activities by 1 January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. Whilst 
smaller banks with less than £25bn in deposits are exempt, they can choose 
to opt up. Several banks are very close to the threshold already and so may 
come into scope in the future regardless. 

3.3.8 Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global 
financial crisis. It mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from 
investment banking, in order to improve the resilience and resolvability of 
banks by changing their structure. In general, simpler, activities offered from 
within a ring-fenced bank (RFB), will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day 
core transactions, whilst more complex and “riskier” activities are required to 
be housed in a separate entity, a non-ring-fenced bank (NRFB). This is 
intended to ensure that an entity’s core activities are not adversely affected 
by the acts or omissions of other members of its group. 

3.3.9 While the structure of the banks included within this process may have 
changed, the fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will 
continue to assess the new-formed entities in the same way that it does 
others and those with sufficiently high ratings, (and any other metrics 
considered), will be considered for investment purposes. 

3.4  Approved instruments  

3.4.1 The types of investment instruments that may be used by the Council - 
subject to the counterparty and maturity limits set out in sections 3.5 and 
3.6 - are shown in table 3. Permitted instruments are categorised as 
either “Specified” or “Non-Specified” investments, as defined in MHCLGs 
Investment Guidance, to distinguish those (specified) investment 
instruments offering relatively high security and high liquidity from those 
with higher credit risk (non-specified investments). All investments will be 
in sterling. 

Page 150



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 19 

 

Table 3: Permitted investment instruments - specified & non-specified  

Investment Specified 
Non-

Specified 

Term deposits, call and notice accounts with banks & 
building societies 

  

Term deposits with UK local authorities   

Certificates of deposit with banks & building societies    

Gilts issued by the UK Debt Management Office (DMO)   

Treasury Bills (T-bills) issued by the UK DMO   

Bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks   

Local Authority Bills   

Commercial Paper   

Corporate Bonds   

AAA rated Money Market Funds (with 60-day Weighted 
Average Maturity (WAM))[CNAV, VNAV, LVNAV] 

  

Other Money Market & Collective Investment Schemes   

Debt Management Account Deposit Facility   

Equity investments    

3.4.2 A specified (treasury management) investment - offering high security and 
high liquidity - is defined as an investment that is:  

(a)  denominated in sterling with any payments or repayments 
payable only in sterling 

(b)  not a long-term investment (i.e. the authority has a contractual 
right to repayment within 12 months of acquisition)  

(c)  not defined as capital expenditure under regulations (e.g. 
acquisition of share capital)  

(d)  made with a body or in an investment scheme of high credit 
quality (as defined by the Council in paragraph 3.3.1) or with the 
UK Government, a local authority or a parish council or 
community council.  

3.4.3 Non-specified investments refer to any (treasury management) 
investments not meeting the definition of ‘specified investments’. The 
Council currently holds a limited quantity of non-specified investments 
(unquoted equity shares). These account for less than 1% of the 
Council’s investment portfolio. No additional non-specified (treasury) 
investments are planned during 2019-20 and all new investments made 
in 2019-20 will be subject to a maximum maturity of 365 days.  

Page 151



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 20 

 

3.4.4 Non-specified investments will only be made with prior approval by the 
Head of Financial Services and will only be undertaken:  

 following external credit assessment and due diligence to assess 
the financial strength and creditworthiness of the counterparty, and  

 after taking such professional advice as is considered necessary 
to inform the decision to invest. 

3.4.5 In the event that the credit rating of the Council’s banker falls below the 
minimum credit criteria referred to above, the Council will continue to use 
the bank for transactional purposes but will seek to minimise balances as 
far as is possible. 

3.5 Limits on principal sums invested  

3.5.1 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management 
Office (DMO), the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution 
or group of institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4m.  For 
funds placed with the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility the limit is £12m 
(subject to maximum maturity of 3 weeks for all sums in excess of £4m). 

 3.6  Limits on investment maturities    

3.6.1 To ensure that access to cash to meet forecast liquidity is not impaired, 
decisions regarding the maturity of investments instruments must be taken 
having regard to cash flow requirements. The maturity of investment 
instruments is also subject to the maximum maturity periods set out below 
(table 4). These are established to ensure that access to cash is not unduly 
restricted and to reduce the risk of being locked into an investment whilst the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty is deteriorating. 

3.6.2 The maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed by the 
Council is determined using the Creditworthiness service provided by Link 
Asset Services. This combines credit ratings information provided by the 
three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s - 
with ratings outlooks and credit watches in a weighted scoring system. This is 
combined with an overlay of credit default swap (CDS) spreads to produce a 
colour rating to indicate the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty. 
These colour codes are used to determine the maximum duration for 
investments made with individual counterparties. 

3.6.3 In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to keep 
investment terms short to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value 
available in periods of up to 12 months with high credit quality institutions 
using Link’s creditworthiness approach. Using this approach, the Council will 
use the following duration bands - shown in table 4 - subject to a maximum 
maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition). 

 

 

Page 152



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 21 

 

Table 4: Upper limits on investment maturities  

 Colour rating Maximum duration (term to maturity) 

Yellow 5 years- restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3) 

Purple 2 years - restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3) 

Orange 12 months 

Red 6 months 

Green 100 days 

No colour 0 months (counterparty not to be used) 

3.7  Reporting arrangements   

3.7.1 The Treasury Management and Prudential Codes require the Council to 
report regularly on its treasury management activities, including its 
performance against all forward-looking prudential and treasury management 
indicators set out in section 5 below. In meeting the recommended reporting 
requirements of the Treasury Management Code (outlined in section 1.2 
above), the Head of Financial Services will, in addition to this report, submit 
to the Audit Committee and Full Council:  

 a mid-year review of the Council’s treasury management activities 
covering the six months to 30 September 2019, and  

 an annual treasury report after the year-end.  

The annual report will be submitted as soon as reasonably practicable after 
the end of the financial year, but in any case no later than 30 September 
2020. 

3.7.2 A summary of treasury management activities will also be included in the 
quarterly finance reports submitted to the Council’s Executive. 

4.   Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 

4.1 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) requires local 
authorities to ‘charge to a revenue account a minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) for that year’. The minimum revenue provision is an annual amount 
required to be set aside from the General Fund to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded by borrowing or credit arrangements, that is, capital 
expenditure that has not been financed from grants, revenue contributions or 
capital receipts. 

4.2 Regulation 27 also allows authorities to charge to a revenue account any 
amount, in addition to the MRP, in respect of the financing of capital 
expenditure incurred in the current financial year or any financial year before 
the current year (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).  

4.3 The calculation of MRP is covered in regulation 28 of the 2003 Regulations. 
From 31 March 2008, Regulation 28, as amended by Regulation 4(1) of the 

Page 153



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 22 

 

Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 (‘the 2008 Regulations’), requires each authority to: 

'determine for the current financial year an amount of minimum revenue 
provision which it considers to be prudent.’ 

4.4 The 2003 Regulations (as amended) are accompanied by statutory guidance 
on minimum revenue provision, issued by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) under section 21(1A) of the 
Local Government Act 2003 (‘the 2003 Act’). The latest version of this 
guidance (version four) was issued by MHCLG in February 2018. It replaced 
the previous version issued in 2012.  

4.5 In meeting the requirement to ‘make prudent provision’, the 2003 Act requires 
local authorities to ‘have regard to’ this guidance. This means that an 
authority must consider what the statutory guidance says. It does not mean 
that a local authority is obligated to follow the guidance. However, if an 
authority does decide to depart from the guidance, it must be able to show 
good reasons for doing so. 

4.6 The current version of regulation 28 was implemented by the 2008 
regulations. It came into force on 31 March 2008 and along with the first 
edition of MHCLG’s statutory guidance on MRP, is effective for 2007/08 and 
later years. The current version of regulation 28 provides flexibility in how 
they calculate MRP. Before this change regulation 28 set out detailed formula 
- based on an authority’s capital financing requirement - which authorities 
were required to follow when calculating MRP.  

4.7 Neither the 2003 Regulations nor the statutory guidance formally define the 
term “prudent provision”. The statutory guidance does however establish the 
broad aim of making prudent provision, which is to ensure that revenue is put 
aside to cover the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital 
financing requirement) over a period that is: 

 commensurate with the period over which the capital expenditure 
provides benefits, or 

 for historic borrowing originally supported by grant income rolled into 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG), over the period implicit in the 
determination of that original grant funding. 

4.8 The MHCLG guidance outlines four possible ‘options’ as methods of 
calculating a prudent amount of MRP. However, approaches other than the 
four listed in the guidance are not ruled out, provided they are consistent with 
the statutory duty to make a prudent provision. This provides authorities with 
wide discretion in determining MRP. The statutory guidance also includes 
specific recommendations on the calculation of MRP in respect of finance 
leases, on-balance PFI contracts and investment properties. 

4.9 The four options for calculating MRP outlined in the MHCLG guidance, and 
restrictions on their use, are summarised in table 5. 
 

 

Page 154



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 23 

 

Table 5: Options for prudent provision of MRP  

Option Method of calculation  Applicability and limits on use 

‘Option 1 

Regulatory 
method’ 

Apply the statutory formula 
set out in the 2003 
Regulations (as amended) 
before it was revoked by the 
2008 Regulations 

May only be used in relation to:  

 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 
purposes incurred before 1 April 2008.  

 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 
purposes incurred on or after 1 April 
2008.  

‘Option 2 

CFR 
method’ 

Multiply the (non-housing) 
Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of 
the preceding financial year 
by 4%. 

May only be used in relation to:  

 Supported capital expenditure incurred 
before 1 April 2008.  

 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 
purposes incurred on or after 1 April 
2008.  

‘Option 3 
Asset life 
method’ 

Amortise expenditure 
financed by borrowing or 
credit arrangement over the 
estimated useful life of the 
relevant assets using either 
the equal instalment or 
annuity method. 

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that does 
not form part of the Authority’s supported 
capital expenditure. 

This includes all expenditure capitalised 
under regulations or direction on or after 1 
April 2008 falling outside the scope of 
‘Option 1’. 

May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported and 
whenever incurred. 

‘Option 4 
Depreciation 

method’ 

Charge MRP to revenue 
based on proper accounting 
practices for depreciation as 
they apply to the relevant 
assets. This includes any 
amount for impairment 
chargeable to the Income & 
Expenditure Account. 

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that does 
not form part of the Authority’s supported 
capital expenditure.  

May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported and 
whenever incurred. 

Option 4 may not be used for calculating 
MRP to be charged in respect of investment 
properties.  

4.10 Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by 
borrowing or credit arrangements, authorities applying ‘Option 3’ should 
calculate MRP by reference to the estimated useful life of the asset. Two 
main variants of this option exist: (i) the equal instalment method and (ii) the 
annuity method.  

4.11 Both variations allow authorities to make additional voluntary revenue 
provision (VRP) or to finance expenditure through other methods of 
repayment during the repayment period (for example through the application 
of capital receipts). In such cases appropriate adjustments should be made 
to the calculation of MRP. Where an authority uses Options 3 or 4, the CFR 
for the purposes of Options 1 and 2 is reduced by the amount of the relevant 
expenditure and cumulative provision for MRP made under Options 3 and 4. 

Page 155



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 24 

 

Policy adopted for 2019-20 

4.12 Having regard to the statutory guidance on minimum revenue provision 
issued by MHCLG and the ‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that 
guidance, the Council will calculate MRP: 

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 
April 2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from 
borrowing incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of the non-
housing Capital Financing Requirement at the end of the preceding 
financial year (Option 2- CFR method)   

 for unsupported capital funded from borrowing expenditure incurred on 
or after 1 April 2008 by applying Option 3 - Asset life method - using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method  

 for credit arrangements, such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases), by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability.  

4.13 In applying ‘Option 3’:  

 MRP should normally begin in the financial year following the one in 
which the expenditure was incurred. However, in accordance with the 
statutory guidance, commencement of MRP may be deferred until the 
financial year following the one in which the asset becomes 
operational 

 the estimated useful lives of assets used to calculate MRP should not 
exceed a maximum of 50 years except as otherwise permitted by the 
guidance  

 if no life can reasonably be attributed to an asset, such as freehold 
land, the estimated useful life should be taken to be a maximum of 50 
years  

 for expenditure capitalised by virtue of a capitalisation direction or 
regulation 25(1) of the 2003 regulations, the ‘asset’ life should equate 
to the value specified in the statutory guidance. 

Page 156



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 25 

 

5.   Prudential and treasury indicators 2018-19 to 2020-21 

5.1  Indicators required by the Prudential Code   

5.1.1  The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the 
affordability, prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and 
borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits, and by publishing actuals for 
a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury 
management practices are carried out in accordance with good professional 
practice.  

5.1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the 
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance issued by 
CIPFA, are designed to support and record local decision making. They are 
not designed to be comparative performance indicators and should not be 
used for this purpose. The prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years must be set before the beginning of the 
forthcoming year. They may be revised at any time, following due process, 
and must be reviewed, and revised if appropriate, for the current year when 
the prudential indicators are set for the following year. 

5.1.3 From 2020-21 the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting will include 
the requirements of IFRS 16 Leases. This change to the Accounting Code 
will have implications for the prudential and treasury indicators set out in this 
section, including external debt (other long-term liabilities) Authorised Limit 
for External Debt and Operational Boundary. Pending publication of the 
2020-21 Accounting Code and completion of a detailed impact assessment, 
the prudential and treasury indicators for 2020-21 and 2021-22 included in 
this section exclude the anticipated impact of adopting IFRS 16.  

Estimates of capital expenditure 

5.1.4 The estimate of capital expenditure indicator summarises the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans for the forthcoming year and the following two 
financial years. Estimates of capital expenditure include both those agreed 
previously and those forming part of the current (2019-20) budget cycle. 

5.1.5 Capital expenditure is defined as in section 16 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and includes all expenditure capitalised in accordance with proper 
practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 
of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction 
issued under section 16(2) of the 2003 Act. Estimates of capital expenditure 
include any capital expenditure that it is estimated might (depending on 
option appraisals) or will be dealt with as other long-term liabilities. 

 

 

 

Page 157



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 26 

 

Table 6:  Capital expenditure  

Planned expenditure 2018-19 
Approved1 

£000 

2018-19 
Revised2 

£000 

2019-20 
Estimate 

£000 

2020-21 
Estimate 

£000 

2021-22 
Estimate 

£000 

Approved in 2018-19 
(& prior years)  

14,593 9,590 9,418 2,040 40 

Budget proposals 
2019-20 to 2021-22 

  510 19,140 1,030 

Total expenditure 14,593 9,590 9,928 21,180 1,070 

1 Approved capital programme for 2018-19;  2 Updated to reflect revised carry forward of budget from 2017-
18; additional capital bids, reprofiling and reallocation adjustments included in the revised capital budget for 
2018-19 and reprofiling change approved by Council in January 2019.     
 

5.1.6  Table 7 shows how these capital expenditure plans will be financed through 
the application of capital and revenue resources. Any excess of capital 
expenditure over resources applied (unfinanced expenditure) will result in a 
corresponding increase in the underlying need for borrowing (the capital 
financing requirement).   

Table 7: Financing of capital expenditure 

 2018-2019 Estimate 

Approved 

£000 

Revised 

£000 

2019-20  

£000 

2020-21 
£000 

2021-22  

£000 

Total expenditure 14,593 9,590 9,928 21,180 1,070 

Financed by:      

Capital receipts 0 177 380 0 0 

Capital grants 9,043 2,872 3,046 2,625 1,000 

Revenue/Reserves  20 473 0 0 0 

Total financed  9,063 3,522 3,426 2,625 1,000 

Unfinanced expenditure:      

Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0 0 

Unsupported borrowing  5,530 6,068 6,502 18,555 70 

Financed & unfinanced  14,593 9,590 9,928 21,180 1,070 

1 Following the Spending Review 2010 there have been no new supported borrowing allocations since 
2010-11 (although the level of assumed outstanding debt is still included in the calculation of formula grant 
allocations). This form of financial support has been discontinued from 2011-12. 

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement  

5.1.7  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost 
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources 
(grants, contributions, capital receipts or direct revenue financing). It does not 
necessarily correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position. The 
level of external debt will be determined in accordance with an authority’s 
treasury management strategy and practices and authorities should not 
associate borrowing with particular items of expenditure unless required to do 
so by legislation or official guidance.  

Page 158



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 27 

 

5.1.8  Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front through the application of 
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue, 
will increase the Capital Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum 
revenue provision or a voluntary revenue provision against the general fund 
will reduce the CFR. The CFR includes items of capital expenditure included 
in the Council’s balance sheet associated with other long term liabilities, such 
as assets held on finance leases, but excluding the underlying liability.  

5.1.9 Table 8 sets out estimates of the Council’s capital financing requirement at 
the end of 2019-20 and the following two financial years. 

Table 8: Capital financing requirement 

 2018-19 Estimate 

Approved 

£000 

Revised 

£000 

2019-20  

£000 

2020-21  

£000 

2021-22  

£000 

CFR at 1 April 20,643 18,917 24,314 29,586 46,852 

CFR at 31 March 25,460 24,314 29,586 46,852 44,852 

Movement in CFR 4,817 5,397 5,272 17,266 (2,000) 

Represented by:      

Unfinanced expenditure    5,530 6,068 6,502 18,555 70 

Less MRP/VRP (713) (671) (1,230) (1,289) (2,070) 

Movement in CFR 4,817 5,397 5,272 17,266 (2,000) 

Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR) 

5.1.10 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of 
prudence is that over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital 

purpose. To ensure this is the case, the Prudential Code requires that gross 
external debt should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial 
years.  

5.1.11 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. If 
in any of these years there is a reduction in the CFR, this reduction is ignored 
in estimating the cumulative increase in the CFR used for comparison with 
gross external debt. Gross debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities (credit arrangements). 

  

Page 159



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 28 

 

Table 9: Gross debt & the CFR 2019-20 

  
 

£000 

Limit  
2019-20 

£000 

Forecast CFR at 31 March 2019  24,314 

Estimated additional CFR for:   

2019-20 (see table 8) 5,272  

2020-21 (see table 8) 17,266  

2021-22 (see table 8) 0 22,538 

Limit  46,852 

Gross Debt 2019-20 (maximum)   

Estimated gross debt at 31 March 2019 - existing borrowing  15,151  

Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing – 2018-19 5,812  

Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing – 2019-20 6,370  

Estimated gross debt 2019-20  27,333 

Excess of CFR over gross debt  19,519 

5.1.12 At 31 December 2018, the Council was under-borrowed against its capital 
financing requirement by approximately £3.69m. The Council does not 
anticpate any difficulties in complying with this indicator during 2018-19 or the 
following two financial years. 

5.1.13 Forward projections for borrowing are summarised in the following table: 

Table 9a: Forward Projections of borrowing and the CFR 

 2017-18 
£000 

2018-19 
£000 

2019-20 

£000 
2020-21 

£000 
2021-22 

£000 

Borrowing 15,465 20,963 26,466 43,842 42,119 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Gross Debt 15,465 20,963 26,466 43,842 42,119 

CFR 18,917 24,314 29,586 46,852 44,852 

(Under)/over borrowing (3,452) (3,351) (3,120) (3,010) (2,733) 

Authorised limit for external debt  

5.1.14 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable 
Limit). It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt 
(excluding investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) 
from other long-term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach 
of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

5.1.15 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements, pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. 
The Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 

Page 160



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 29 

 

Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or 
unforeseen cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for 
borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table 10: Authorised Limit for External Debt 

 2018-19 
Limit 

£000 

2019-20a 

Limit 

£000 

2020-21a 
Limit 

£000 

2021-22a 
Limit 

£000 

Borrowing 28,000 33,000 50,000 48,000 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 28,000 33,000 50,000 48,000 

a: From 2020-21 the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting will include adoption of IFRS 16 
Leases.  Pending publication of the 2020-21 Accounting Code, the impact of this change on the other 
long-term liabilities component of the Authorised Limit for External Debt is not reflected in the reported 
limits   

Operational boundary for external debt 

5.1.16 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the 
most likely (prudent), but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the 
maximum level of external debt projected by these estimates. The 
Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s plans for capital 
expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements for the year for all purposes but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator separately 
identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities. 

Table 11: Operational boundary for external debt 

 2018-19 
Limit 

£000 

2019-20a 

Limit 

£000 

2020-21a 
Limit 

£000 

2021-22a 
Limit 

£000 

Borrowing 26,000 31,000 48,000 46,000 

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 26,000 31,000 48,000 46,000 

a: From 2020-21 the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting will include adoption of IFRS 16 
Leases.  Pending publication of the 2020-21 Accounting Code, the impact of this change on the other 
long-term liabilities component of the Operational Boundary for External Debt is not reflected in the 
reported limits   

5.1.17 Provided that the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a 
year is unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to 
make changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be 
reported to the next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council.  

 

 

Page 161



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 30 

 

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  

5.1.18 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue 
budget required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment 
income).  

5.1.19 Estimates of financing costs comprise the aggregate of the following amounts 
included in the Council’s original and revised budgets: 

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing 

 interest payable under finance leases and any other long-term 
liabilities 

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 
the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers   

 interest and investment income 

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives 

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions 

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 
met from government grants and local taxpayers. 

5.1.20 Estimates for net revenue stream for current and future years are taken from 
the Council’s estimates of the amounts to be met from government grants 
and local taxpayers, using the equivalent figures from the original and revised 
budgets.   

Table 12: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 2018-19 
Approved 

% 

2018-19 
Revised 

% 

2019-20 

Estimate 

% 

2020-21 
Estimate 

% 

2021-22 
Estimate 

% 

Ratio  11.9 10.5 15.7 22.8 31.3 

 

5.1.21 A key component of the proposed capital budget for the period 2019-20 to 
2021-22 relates to construction of the Community Stadium. Pending 
completion of work to evaluate the various funding options set out in outline 
business case, amounts shown in tables 6 and 7 above are predicated on the 
assumption that the development will be primarily funded from PWLB 
borrowing. The affordability of this funding option is dependent on the extent 
to which the Authority is able to recover the related finance costs (MRP and 
interest) from the net operating income of the stadium operating company.  

5.1.22 The percentages shown in table 12 include the gross finance costs (MRP 
and interest) associated with the stadium development, but do not include 
any recovery of those costs from the stadium operating company. The impact 
of full recovery of the Authority’s finance costs from the stadium operating 
company on the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream is shown in 
table 12a. 

Page 162



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 31 

 

Table 12a: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream after recovery 

 2018-19 
Approved 

% 

2018-19 
Revised 

% 

2019-20 

Estimate 

% 

2020-21 
Estimate 

% 

2021-22 
Estimate 

% 

Ratio inc. recharge of 
stadium finance costs  

11.9 10.5 15.1 18.5 18.1 

5.2  Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code  

5.2.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 
and accompanying sector guidance. These are: 

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing 

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested over 365 days. 

5.2.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to liquidity and refinancing risks.   

Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing 

 

5.2.3 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of debt falling due for refinancing, and is designed to facilitate 
reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or high 
interest rates. 

5.2.4  It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period 
as a percentage of total projected borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is 
determined by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require 
payment.  

Table 13: Lower/upper limits on % borrowing maturing in each period 

  
  

31.3.18 
Actual  

31.3.19 
forecast 

2018-19 2019-20 

Lower 
limit  

Upper 
limit  

Lower 
limit  

Upper 
limit  

  % % % % % % 

Under 12 months 2.57 4.54 0 20 0 20 

12 months to 2 years 2.07 4.17 0 20 0 20 

2 years to 5 years 6.50 12.76 0 20 0 20 

5 years to 10 years 12.13 18.51 0 30 0 30 

10 years to 20 years  19.31 16.37 0 40 0 40 

20 years to 30 years  5.69 4.44 0 40 0 40 

30 years to 40 years  51.73 38.85 0 80 0 80 

40 years to 45 years 0 0.18 0 80 0 80 

45 years to 50 years 0 0.18 0 80 0 80 

 

Page 163



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 32 

 

Upper limits on total principal invested for periods of more than 365 days 

5.2.5 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for 
the maturing of such investments. The purpose of these limits for principal 
sums invested for periods longer than 365 days is for the local authority to 
contain its exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its 
having to seek early repayment or redemption of principal sums invested. 

Table 14: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods of more than 365 
days 

 2018-19 
Approved 

£000 

2019-20 
Limit 

£000 

2020-21 

Limit 

£000 

2021-22 
Limit 

£000 

Principal sums invested > 365 days 20 20 20 20 

5.2.6 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its call 
and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits 
(overnight to 6 months). The Council will not invest for periods of more than 
365 days during 2019-20.

Page 164



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019 

Page 33 

 

6. Appendices  
 

A. Interest Rate Forecasts 2019 - 2022  

B. Economic Background 

C. Credit Ratings 

Page 165



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019 

Page 34 

 

Appendix A: Interest Rate Forecasts 2019 – 2022 

PWLB rates and forecast shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012. 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View                     

  6.2.19 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-22 

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50 1.75 1.75 1.75 2.00 

3 Month LIBID 0.76 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.90 2.00 

6 Month LIBID 0.88 1.00 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.20 

12 Month LIBID 1.02 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.30 2.40 

5yr PWLB Rate 1.68 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.80 

10yr PWLB Rate 1.99 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 

25yr PWLB Rate 2.53 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.60 3.60 

50yr PWLB Rate 2.37 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.40 

Bank Rate                             

Link Asset Services 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50 1.75 1.75 1.75 2.00 

Capital Economics 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.25 1.50 1.70 1.75 2.00 2.00 - - - - - 

5yr PWLB Rate                             

Link Asset Services 1.68 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.80 

Capital Economics 1.68 2.03 2.15 2.40 2.65 2.70 2.75 2.80 2.85 - - - - - 

10yr PWLB Rate                             

Link Asset Services 2.04 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 
 

Capital Economics 2.04 2.43 2.55 2.80 3.05 3.05 3.05 3.05 3.05 - - - - - 
 

25yr PWLB Rate                             
 

Link Asset Services 2.55 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.50 3.60 3.60 
 

Capital Economics 2.55 2.96 3.08 3.33 3.58 3.53 3.48 3.43 3.38 - - - - - 
 

50yr PWLB Rate                             
 

Link Asset Services 2.39 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.40 
 

Capital Economics 2.39 2.78 2.90 3.15 3.40 3.40 3.40 3.40 3.40 - - - - - 
 

P
age 166



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019 

Page 35 

 

Appendix B: Economic Background  

UK Economy 

B.1 The flow of positive economic statistics since the end of the first quarter of 2018 
has shown that pessimism was overdone about the poor growth in quarter 1 
when adverse weather caused a temporary downward blip. Quarter 1 at 0.1% 
growth in GDP was followed by a return to 0.4% in quarter 2 and by a strong 
performance in quarter 3 of +0.6%.  However, growth in quarter 4 is expected to 
weaken significantly. 

B.2 At their November Quarterly Inflation Report meeting, the Bank of England 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) repeated their well-worn phrase that future 
Bank Rate increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower 
equilibrium rate, (where monetary policy is neither expansionary of 
contractionary), than before the crash; indeed they gave a figure for this of 
around 2.5% in ten years’ time but declined to give a medium term forecast.  

B.3 However, with so much uncertainty around Brexit, they warned that the next 
move could be up or down, even if there was a disorderly Brexit. Whilst it might 
be expected that the Bank Rate would be cut if there was a significant fall in 
GDP growth as a result of a disorderly Brexit, so as to provide a stimulus to 
growth, they warned they could instead raise the Bank Rate in the same 
scenario if there was a boost to inflation from a devaluation of sterling, increases 
in import prices and more expensive goods produced in the UK replacing 
cheaper goods previously imported, and so on. In addition, the Chancellor could 
potentially provide fiscal stimulus to support economic growth, if needed though 
this would be at the cost of increasing the budget deficit above currently 
projected levels. 

B.4 Overall, the MPC was more hawkish than expected, indicating the likelihood of a 
faster pace of increases than previously expected. Key messages from the 
Bank’s November Inflation report and MPC of meeting on 1 November include:  

 MPC vote of  9-0 for no change in the Bank Rate and quantitative easing  

 GDP growth for 2018 cut to 1.3% from 1.4% with annual growth for the next 
three years expected to be around 1.7% (2019 previously 1.8%)  

 The economy will be operating at a small amount of excess demand in 
2020, (previously 2021). This is likely to generate an increase in domestic 
inflationary pressures, (as opposed to imported due to a one-off fall in the 
value of sterling). 

 Unemployment rate to stay at 3.9% over the next three years; (equilibrium 
rate forecast 4.25%)  

 Build-up of wage inflation pressures as a result of high levels of 
employment and ongoing concerns over weak productivity increases; MPC 
forecast wage inflation of 3.25% 2019, 3.5% 2020, 3.75% 2021  

 CPI inflation up from 2.0% to 2.1% 2 years ahead, i.e. above their 2% 
target  

 the economy is heading into overheating and the fiscal position has 
changed direction to now be a slight tailwind, i.e. the MPC will be wanting 

Page 167



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 36 

 

to take action to counter building inflationary pressures as soon as Brexit 
uncertainty clears.  

B.5 It is unlikely that the MPC would increase the Bank Rate in February 2019 ahead 
of the deadline in March for Brexit.  Getting parliamentary approval for a Brexit 
agreement on both sides of the Channel will take well into spring 2019.  
However, in view of the hawkish stance of the MPC at their November meeting, 
the next increase in the Bank Rate is now forecast to be in May 2019 (on the 
assumption that a Brexit deal is agreed by both the UK and the EU). The 
following increases are then forecast to be in February and November 2020. 
Further increases in quarter 2, 2021 and quarter 1, 2022 will see the bank rate 
increase to 2.0% by February 2022. 

B.6 The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from a 
peak of 3.1% in November 2017 to 2.1% in December 2018. In the November 
Bank of England quarterly inflation report, inflation was forecast to still be 
marginally above the Bank’s 2% inflation target two years ahead, (at about 
2.1%) given a scenario of minimal increases in the Bank Rate.    

B.7 The labour market has remained resilient with the number and proportion of 
people in work remaining close to record levels. This is despite some predictions 
that unemployment would rise following the Brexit vote. The employment rate 
(the proportion of people aged from 16 to 64 years who were in work) for the 
period July to September 2018 was 75.5%, little changed compared with the 
period April to June 2018 but higher than for a year earlier (75.0%). Whilst 
employment growth has softened in recent months amid dwindling levels of 
spare capacity in the labour market, various measured of hiring intentions and 
surveys of employment growth suggest that firms’ demand for workers will 
remain robust in the short-term. 

B.8 The unemployment rate (the number of unemployed people as a proportion of all 
employed and unemployed people) for the period July to September was 4.1% 
on the International Labour Organisation’s measure of unemployment. This was 
marginally above a 43 year low of 4% for April to June 2018 but lower than for a 
year earlier (4.3%). A combination of job vacancies hitting an all-time high, 
coupled with negligible growth in total employment numbers, indicates that 
employers are now having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable 
staff, putting upward pressure on wage growth.   

B.9 Reflecting the tightening in the labour market, headline annual wage growth, 
(three-month average excluding bonuses) in the three months to October picked 
up to 3.3%, (3 month average regular pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that 
in real terms, (i.e. wage rates less CPI inflation) earnings are currently growing 
by about 1.2%, the highest level since 2009. Given the UK economy is very 
much services sector driven, this increase in household spending power is likely 
to feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic 
growth in the coming months. This tends to confirm that the MPC was right to 
start on a cautious increase in the Bank Rate in August, as it views wage 
inflation in excess of 3% as increasing inflationary pressures within the UK 
economy. 

Page 168



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 37 

 

B.10 In the political arena, the Brexit deal put forward by the Conservative minority 
government was defeated on 15 January and it remains unclear at the time of 
writing, how this situation will move forward. The view held by the Council’s 
treasury advisors is that the government will endure, despite various setbacks, 
along the route to reaching an orderly Brexit, though the risks are increasing that 
it may not be possible to get full agreement by the UK and EU before 29 March 
2019, in which case this withdrawal date is likely to be pushed back to a new 
date.  If however, the UK faces a general election in the next 12 months, this 
could result in a potential loosening of monetary policy and therefore medium to 
longer dated gilt yields could rise on the expectation of a weak pound and 
concerns around inflation picking up. 

   U.S. 

B.11 In the US, a massive easing of fiscal policy is fuelling a (temporary) boost in 
consumption which has generated an upturn in the rate of strong growth. Growth 
rose from 2.2% (annualised rate) in quarter 1, to 4.2% in quarter 2 and 3.5% 
(3.0%y/y) in quarter 3. It has however also contributed to an upturn in inflationary 
pressures. In particular, wage rates were increasing at 3.1% y/y in October and 
heading higher due to unemployment falling to a 49 year low of 3.7% in 
November .   

B.12 A strong growth in employment numbers saw a reduction in the unemployment 
rate to a 49 year low of 3.7% in November 2018 before rising to 3.9% in 
December. This has fed through to an upturn in wage inflation which hit 3.2% in 
November. However, CPI inflation overall fell to 2.2% in November and looks to 
be on a falling trend to drop below the Fed’s target of 2% during 2019.   

B.13 The Federal Reserve (the Fed.) has continued on its series of increases in 
interest rates with another 0.25% increase in December to between 2.25% and 
2.50%, this being the fifth increase in 2018 and the ninth in this cycle. However, 
they did also reduce their forecast for further increases from three to two. This 
latest increase compounded investor fears that the Fed is over doing the pace 
and level of increases in rates and that it is going to cause a US recession as a 
result. There is also much evidence in previous monetary policy cycles, of the 
Fed’s series of increases doing exactly that. As a consequence, stock markets 
around the world have been falling under the weight of fears around the Fed’s 
actions, the trade war between the US and China and expectation that world 
growth will slow. 

B.14 The tariff war between the US and China has been generating a lot of heat 
during 2018. Although it is not expected that the current level of actual action 
would have much in the way of a significant effect on US or world growth, there 
is a risk of escalation if an agreement is not reached soon between the US and 
China. The results of the mid-term elections are not expected to have a material 
effect on the economy. 

  

 

Page 169



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 38 

 

Eurozone 

B.15 Growth was unchanged at 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 of 2018 but fell back to 0.2% 
in quarter 3, though this was probably a temporary dip. Growth has therefore 
undershot early forecasts for a stronger economic performance in 2018. In 
particular, data from Germany has been mixed and it could be negatively 
impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of its manufacturing exports e.g. cars.  
For that reason, although growth is still expected to be in the region of 2% for 
2018, the horizon is less clear than it seemed just a short while ago.  

B.16 Having halved its quantitative easing purchases of debt in October 2018 to 
€15bn per month, the European Central Bank (ECB) ended all further purchases 
in December 2018. The ECB is forecasting inflation to be a little below its 2% top 
limit through the next three years, so it may find it difficult to warrant a start on 
raising rates by the end of 2019 if the growth rate of the EU economy is on a 
weakening trend. 

 Asia  

B.17 Chinese economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. 
Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and 
the stock of unsold property and address the level of non-performing loans in the 
banking and credit systems. Progress has been made in reducing the rate of 
credit creation, particularly from the shadow banking sector, which is feeding 
through into lower economic growth. However, concerns remain over whether 
official economic statistics are inflating the published rate of growth. 

B.18 Japan is struggling to stimulate consistent significant growth and to get inflation 
up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also 
making little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. It is likely that 
loose monetary policy will endure for some years yet to try to stimulate growth 
and modest inflation. 

Emerging countries.  

B.19 Argentina and Turkey are currently experiencing major headwinds and are 
facing challenges in external financing requirements well in excess of their 
reserves of foreign exchange. However, these countries are small in terms of the 
overall world economy (around 1% each), so the fallout from the expected 
recessions in these countries will be minimal. 

Global Outlook  

B.20 Global growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by strong growth in the US.  
However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together with weakening 
economic activity in China and the Eurozone, overall world growth is likely to 
weaken. 

B.21 Inflation has been weak during 2018 but, at long last, unemployment falling to 
remarkably low levels in the US and UK has led to an acceleration of wage inflation. 

Page 170



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 39 

 

The US Federal Reserve has therefore increased rates nine times and the Bank of 
England twice. However, the ECB is unlikely to start raising rates until late in 2019 at 
the earliest.    

 Central bank monetary policy measures 

B.21 Following the financial crash of 2008, when liquidity suddenly dried up in financial 
markets, central bank sought to counter the recessionary impact of this through a 
combination of lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with 
liquidity, particularly through unconventional means such as Quantitative Easing 
(QE) where central banks bought large amounts of central government debt and 
smaller sums of other debt. Looking back, these measures were successful in 
countering the prospects of a sharp global recession.  

B.22 The key issue now is that the period of stimulating economic recovery and warding 
off the threat of deflation is coming towards its close. A new period of reversing 
those measures i.e. by raising central rates and (for the US) reducing central 
banks’ holdings of government and other debt is already well advanced in the US, 
and has, more recently, started in the UK. 

B.23. These measures are now required in order to stop the trend of a reduction in spare 
capacity in the economy, and of unemployment falling to such low levels that the 
re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk. It is, therefore, crucial that 
central banks get their timing right and do not cause shocks to market expectations 
that could destabilise financial markets. In particular, a key risk is that because QE-
driven purchases of bonds drove up the price of government debt, and therefore 
caused a sharp drop in income yields, this then also encouraged investors into a 
search for yield and into investing in riskier assets such as equities. 

B.24 This resulted in bond and equity market prices rising to historically high valuation 
levels simultaneously. This meant that both asset categories were exposed to the 
risk of a sharp downward correction and we have indeed, seen a sharp fall in equity 
values in the last quarter of 2018. This, therefore, makes both asset categories 
vulnerable to a sharp correction. It is important, therefore, that central banks only 
gradually unwind their holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the 
financial markets. It is also likely that the timeframe for central banks unwinding 
their holdings of QE debt purchases will be over several years. They need to 
balance their timing to avoid damaging economic growth by taking too rapid and/or 
too strong action, or, alternatively, letting inflation run away by taking action that 
was too slow and/or too weak. The potential for central banks to get this timing and 
strength of action wrong are now key risks. At the time of writing (January 2019), 
financial markets are very concerned that the Federal Reserve is being too 
aggressive with its policy for raising interest rates and is likely to cause a 
recession in the US economy. 

B.25 The global economy also needs to adjust to a sharp change in liquidity creation 
over the last five years, where the US has moved from boosting liquidity by QE 
purchases, to reducing its holdings of debt, (currently about $50bn per month).  In 
addition, the European Central Bank ended its QE purchases in December 2018.  

 

Page 171



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2019-2020 

Page 40 

 

Appendix C: Credit Ratings  

International long-term credit ratings 

Fitch Moody’s Standard 

& Poor’s 

Definition   Permitted 

counter-

party 

Investment Grade 

AAA Aaa AAA Highest quality/Best quality/Extremely strong Yes 

AA Aa AA Very high quality/High quality/Very strong Yes 

A A A High quality/Upper medium grade/Strong Yes* 

BBB Baa BBB Good quality/Medium grade/Adequate No 

Non-investment/speculative grade 

BB Ba BB 
Speculative/Lower medium grade/Speculative – 
Less vulnerable 

No 

B B B Highly speculative/Low grade/More vulnerable No 

CCC Caa CCC Poor quality/Currently vulnerable No 

CC Ca CC 
High default risk/Highly speculative/Currently 
highly vulnerable 

No 

C C C 
High default risk/Extremely poor/Imminent 
default 

No 

D  D In default No 

*except non UK sovereigns 

Note: Fitch Ratings and Standard and Poor’s ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of 
a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories. Moody’s append 
numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa to denote relative 
status. 

 

 

Page 172



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 6 March 2019

Pay Policy Statement

The Reason for the Decision The Pay Policy Statement sets out the 
Council’s approach to pay policy in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 
38 of the Localism Act 2011. 

Summary of options considered N/A

Recommendations That Allerdale Borough Council approve the 
Pay Policy Statement.

Financial/Resource Implications Financial implications are included in the 
report.

Legal Implications Legal implications are included in the report.

Community Safety Implications N/A 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

N/A

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

Yes

Wards Affected All 

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s Strategic 
Objectives

The statement provides transparency with 
regard to the Council’s approach to setting 
the pay of its employees. 

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis 

Lead Officer (Ian Frost, Chief Executive, 01900 702975, 
ian.frost@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 173

Agenda Item 14

mailto:ian.frost@allerdale.gov.uk


Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) Y

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers ………………………………………………………………………………

Pay Policy Statement – 2019/2020

1. Introduction and Purpose

Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the “power to 
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority thinks fit”. This 
Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the Council’s approach to pay policy in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.  

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s 
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying;

 the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined;
 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief officers’, as 

defined by the relevant legislation;
 the Chief Executive (as the Head of Paid Service) is responsible for ensuring the 

provisions set out in this statement are applied consistently throughout the Council 
and recommending any amendments to the Council.

Once approved by the Council, this policy statement will come into immediate effect and 
will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the policy for the next financial 
year being approved by 31st March each year. 

The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data Transparency 2015 
places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of publication of pay details which 
are included in the document.  The Code also requires the publication of Trade Union 
Facility Time and the annual publication of organisation structure charts which are 
contained in Appendix 1.

2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will comply 
with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation such as the Equality 
Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) 
Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Earnings) Regulations 2006.  

The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all 
pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job evaluation 

Page 174



mechanisms, which directly establish the relative levels of posts in grades according to 
the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role. 

3. Pay and Grading Structure

The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of salary points) 
as the basis for its local pay structure, which determines the salaries of its employees 
(published on the intranet). The actual salary levels for each post other than Chief 
Officers are determined by reference to the Council’s job evaluation scheme. This is a 
national scheme.

It should be noted that the National Joint Council (NJC) pay spinal column points will be 
revised with effect from the date of any updated Agreement following a National Pay 
Bargaining process. Should there be any implications for the Council’s existing grading 
structure as a consequence of the Agreement any necessary revisions will be made and 
any significant issues will be reported as appropriate.

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally negotiated 
rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with collective bargaining 
machinery.

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any posts which 
fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to ensure value for money in 
respect of the use of public expenditure, balanced against the need to recruit and retain 
employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing high quality services to 
the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services 
are required.  

New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay scale for the 
grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the best candidate. Where 
the appointment salary is above the minimum point of the pay scale this will be within the 
discretion of the appointing officer applies under the Recruitment and Selection Policy.

From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels in the 
labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills 
and capacity.  Where necessary, the Council will ensure the requirement for such is 
objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market 
comparators, using data sources available from within the local government sector and 
outside, as appropriate, in accordance with the Market Factor Supplement Policy.

Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in accordance 
with the Market Factor Supplement Procedure and the Acting up and Honoraria 
Procedure.

All employees are covered by the National Joint Council Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service except for Chief Officers who are covered by a separate National 
Joint Council Agreement for Chief Officers of Local Authorities.

Salary levels for Chief Officers were set by Council after consideration of an independent 
review which was undertaken externally by North West Employers Organisation (NWEO) 
in 2012. The determination of any new salary structure is undertaken in accordance with 

Page 175



the guidance produced by the Joint Negotiating Committees for Chief Executives and 
Chief Officers which says that when deciding the level of remuneration the following 
factors should be considered:

 The Chief Executive’s salary and that of senior staff not covered by the Chief 
Officers’ JNC;

 Any special market considerations;
 Any substantial local factors not common to authorities of similar type and size.
 Comparative salary information from other similar authorities;
 Top management structures and the size of the management team compared to 

those of other authorities of similar type and size;
 The relative job size of each post, as objectively assessed.

There is no separate provision for Chief Officers in relation to the Council’s general 
employment policies and statements. Arrangements for Chief Officers are dealt with in 
accordance with the Council’s ordinary policies. 

4. Senior Management Remuneration
Details of the senior management remuneration are included below:

Job Title Points Salary
Chief Executive 1 £104,050.20
Corporate Director** 3 £75,353.15, £77,475.78, £79,598.40
Heads of Service** 3 £47,759.04, £49,881.67, £52,004.29

** An individual’s progression through the relevant pay scale is annual increments 
subject to satisfactory performance.

Returning Officer

The designation of the Returning Officer currently sits with the Corporate Director. The 
Council is required to provide funding to the Retuning Officer to discharge statutory 
functions relating to the administration of local government elections. The Returning 
Officer will make payments to those officers who undertake specific duties in relation to 
the elections in accordance with their role. 

In respect of Borough and Parish Council elections, the fee has been increased from 
£100 to £140 per Borough Ward and contested parish. 

The number of Borough Wards has reduced from 31 to 23; however the number of 
electors and properties remains the same. The increased fee reflects this change.

Monitoring Officer and Deputy

The designation of the Monitoring Officer currently sits with the Head of Governance. The 
Monitoring Officer is paid on the normal salary for a Head of Service, with an additional 
10% annual allowance in recognition of their particular statutory responsibilities. The 
Deputy Monitoring Officer is paid an additional £1000 per annum, on top of their salary.

Page 176



Section 151 Officer and Deputy

The designation of the Section 151 Officer currently sits with the Head of Financial 
Services. The Section 151 Officer is paid on the normal salary for a Head of Service, with 
an additional 10% annual allowance in recognition of their particular statutory 
responsibilities. The Deputy 151 is paid an additional £1000 per annum on top of their 
salary.

Further details are published in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts.

5. Recruitment of Chief Officers

The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief Officers is set out 
within section 8.5 of the Constitution.  

When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all provisions 
of relevant employment law and its own equal opportunities in Recruitment & Selection, 
and Change Management Policy.  

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed Chief Officer 
will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the time of 
recruitment.  

6. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an individual to 
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The Council’s arrangements 
for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. honoraria, ex gratia, ‘acting up’) relating 
to temporary additional duties are the same for all officers and are set out in the Acting 
up, Honorarium & Secondment Policy. 

The Senior Management team receive an on-call/standby fee, where required. The same 
rate is applicable for all employees who undertake on call/standby cover.

Essential car user may be paid to the senior management team providing their role meets 
the criteria which is applicable to all employees.

In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional pay as set out below;

Post / Tier of post Payment details 
Corporate Director The designation of Returning Officer is made by Full Council 

and currently sits with the Corporate Director.

The fees paid for Returning Officer services are as follows :

In accordance with the national agreement the Returning 
Officer is entitled to receive and retain the personal fees 
arising from performing the duties of the RO, ACT, DRO or 
DARO and similar position which they perform subject to the 

Page 177



payment of pension contributions thereon, where 
appropriate.

In respect of Borough and Parish Council elections the fee 
is based on a calculation of £140 per Borough Ward and 
£140 per contested parish.

Fees for elections duties for other elections (Police & Crime 
Commissioner elections, County Council elections, National 
Referendums and European Parliamentary elections etc.) 
are paid as an additional sum at the rate prescribed by 
government as and when they arise, they are distinct from 
the process for the determination of pay for Chief Officers.

Some officers may attract a supplement  for deputy 
returning officer duties

Statutory Officers Salary supplements payable for fulfilling statutory officer 
duties (e.g. S151 / MO)

7. Bonus Payments

The Council does not operate any variable pay or bonus schemes. 

8. Pension Contributions 

Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a contribution to the 
scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable remuneration due under the 
contract of employment of that employee.  The rate of contribution is set by Actuaries 
advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and reviewed on a triennial basis in order to ensure 
the scheme is appropriately funded.  The rate to be used in the financial year 2019/2020 
is 14.5%.  

The employee contribution rates are based on actual pensionable pay as detailed in the 
table below.  These rates are published each year. At time of publication of this pay 
policy, the 2019/20 rates have not been published.

There are two sections in the scheme now – the main section and the 50/50 section.

The main section of the scheme is the section you will be placed in. In that section, you 
pay normal contributions and get the normal pension build up.

The 50/50 section was brought in as part of the 2014 scheme. You can elect for this 
option at any time, pay half your normal contributions and build up half your normal 
pension. If you have more than one employment you can elect for the 50/50 option in 
one, some or all your employments. Regardless of the section you are in, you get full life 
assurance cover.

Page 178



Contribution table 2019/2020
Band Actual Pensionable Pay for an 

employment
Contribution rate for that employment

Main Section 50/50 Section
1 Up to £13,700 5.5% 2.75%
2 £13,701 - £21,400 5.8% 2.9%
3 £21,401 - £34,700 6.5% 3.25%
4 £34,701 - £43,900 6.8% 3.4%
5 £43,901 - £61,300 8.5% 4.25%
6 £61,301 - £86,800 9.9% 4.95%
7 £86,801 - £102,200 10.5% 5.25%
8 £102,201 - £153,300 11.4% 5.7%
9 £153,301 or more 12.5% 6.25%

9. Payments on Termination

The Councils approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 
employment of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is the same as for 
all employees set out within its Pension Discretion Policy in accordance with Regulations 
5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) Regulations 2006 and Regulation 12 of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.  

10. Pay Analysis

Calculations in this document are taken using January payroll data.

Median Salary
This calculation is based on the middle number in a set of data, when the data has been 
written in ascending size order, this includes all staff within the paid services of the 
Council, including the Chief Executive. The median salary using the January 2019 payroll 
was £25,463. This is based on a staffing number of 245 and total remuneration of 
£6,859,282.92 (based on all posts at their full-time equivalent rate.)

Lowest paid employees

Using January 2019 payroll data, the lowest paid employee was on a salary of persons 
employed under a contract of £16,394 per annum, however the Council pays the Living 
Foundation Wage, which is currently £9.00 per hour. This means that the lowest paid 
employee is actually paid £17,392. 

Apprentices are appointed to Allerdale Borough Council on the Living Foundation Wage.

Pay Multiple

The ‘pay multiple’ is the ratio between the highest paid taxable earnings (£104,050.20) 
and the median earnings figure (£25,463) of the whole Council’s workforce. The Councils 
highest paid employee is the Chief Executive. Therefore, the ‘pay multiple’, of the whole 
of the Council’s workforce is 1:4 (as at January 2019)

Page 179



As part of the Council’s overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay 
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available benchmark 
information as appropriate. In addition, upon the annual review of this statement, the 
Council will also monitor any changes in the relevant ‘pay multiples’ and benchmark 
against other comparable local authorities.

11. Publication

Upon approval by the Full Council, this statement will be published on the Council’s 
website. 

12. Accountability and Decision Making

In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Officer Employment Panel and Council are responsible for decision making in relation to 
the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance arrangements in relation to 
Chief Officers of the Council.

13. Re-employment/Re-engagement of former Chief Officers 

The Council will not normally employ or engage under a contract of service Chief Officers 
who have previously received a redundancy or severance payment or who are in receipt 
of a pension under the Local Government Pension Scheme.

The Small Business, Enterprise & Employment Act 2015 makes provision requiring the 
repayment of some or all of any qualifying exit payment in qualifying circumstances.

14. Recommendations

That the Council approves the Pay Policy Statement.

Ian Frost
Chief Executive

Appendix 1 Organisational Chart

Page 180



P
age 181



P
age 182



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 6 March 2019

Recommendations Referred to Council

Council Plan 2019-2023

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Executive 
held on the 25 February 2019. It is for Council to consider its response.

Recommended

That members endorse the draft Council Plan 2019-2023 as attached at 
Appendix 1

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 183

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 184



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 25 February 2019
Council - 6 March 2019 

Council Plan 2019 - 2023

The Reason for the Decision To endorse the Council’s priorities for 2019-
2023 as set out in the Council Plan 2019-2023.

Summary of options considered Members may wish to amend the draft Council 
Plan prior to its consideration by full Council.

Recommendations 1. That members endorse the draft Council Plan 
2019-2023 as attached at Appendix 1 and 
recommend its approval to Council. 

2. That authority is delegated to the Head of 
Strategy, Policy and Performance to make 
any amendments to the draft Council Plan 
2019-2023 in consultation with the Leader 
and Deputy Leader, prior to its consideration 
by Council on 6 March 2019.  

Financial /  Resource Implications The budget setting process is an ongoing annual 
exercise that determines the financial plans for 
current and future years and is informed by the 
Council’s priorities as set out in the Council 
Plan. Information on resources allocated is 
contained in the Council Budget published 
annually.

Legal Implications The Council Plan forms part of the Council’s 
budget and policy framework and responsibility 
for it is shared between the Executive and the 
Council. The Plan once approved by Executive 
requires the approval of the full Council.

Community Safety Implications Contained in the report and the Council Plan.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The Council Plan will be delivered by service 
areas with relevant risks being managed on an 
operational level. At a corporate level the 
Council will manage the risk of not delivering the 
plan and therefore not achieving its objectives.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

In line with the Equality Act (2010), the content 
of the draft Council Plan has been assessed in 
respect of the impact on ‘Protected 
Characteristics’. An Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 185



of the draft Council Plan has been produced and 
is attached as Appendix 3. This presents an 
overview of key equality issues for the Council 
Plan. 

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The Council Plan 2019-2023 sets out the 
Council’s priorities over four years.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith
Leader 

Lead Officer Alex FitzGerald
Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and 
Information)
Tel: 01900 702719
Email : alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk

(A detailed listed of implications is 
appended to the report)

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) Y

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers…..…………………………………………………..……………………

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Council Plan is the key policy document for the Council, providing the 
framework for all Council activity. The Council Plan also provides a clear 
message to the public and our partners about the priorities for the Council over 
the next 4 years, and where the Council will focus its resources and activity.

1.2 This Council Plan will provide the policy context for the Council’s budget over the 
next 4 years. The Council faces significant challenges over the lifespan of this 
Council Plan and beyond and clarity of purpose and priorities will be essential.

Page 186

mailto:alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk


1.3 Appendix 1 presents the draft Council Plan 2019-2023. The Council Plan has 
been informed by the Council’s political aspirations, financial position, feedback 
from engagement with the public, partners and staff, other policy drivers and 
performance.

1.4 The Council Plan will sit alongside the Medium Term Financial Plan and these 
documents together will describe the Council’s priorities and the resources 
available to achieve the priorities, and the shape and culture of the workforce as 
the Council transforms to become fit for the future.

2.0 The Council Plan 2019-2023

2.1 The draft Council Plan has been informed by analysis of national policy drivers, 
the changing needs of the borough’s population, new opportunities for Allerdale, 
current performance, ongoing work across the Council and with partners to 
improve services and reduce inefficiencies, and engagement and consultation 
with the public and stakeholders.  

2.2 The process of creating the Council Plan has involved consultation with members 
and officers and given consideration to the results of the Council’s Residents 
Survey – a large scale residents’ perception survey carried out in 2018.  

2.3 The draft Council Plan sets out a vision for Allerdale and a purpose for the 
Council which focus on ensuring that our communities continue to receive great 
services from the Council whilst recognising the scale of the challenges facing 
the Council over the coming years.

2.4 To achieve the vision and purpose the draft Council Plan includes 3 priority 
themes:

 Economic opportunity and growth
 Stronger and healthier communities
 Quality places to live

2.5 An overarching theme of Transforming the Council is also presented in the draft 
Council Plan to reflect how vital it is that we make sure that the Council is making 
the best use of resources and is in a healthy financial position to be able to 
deliver the improvements and services set out in the priorities.  

2.6 It is recognised that although each of the priorities is listed as an individual area, 
there is significant inter-relationship and inter-dependencies across all of them.

2.7 Under each of the priority themes, some key activities are identified in the 
Council Plan at a high level which will provide the focus for delivery. A detailed 
Business Plan is being worked up which will provide more detailed delivery plans 
and will form the basis of performance reporting on progress in delivering against 
the Council Plan priority themes.

2.8 The Council Plan does not reflect the entirety of the Council’s activities, all of 
which are important in meeting residents’ needs and expectations.  Each service 

Page 187



area will have its own plan setting out its operational commitments and service 
specific activity.

2.9 The Council Plan will be reviewed annually and updated to reflect economic, 
social, demographic, environmental, technological and fiscal challenges and 
opportunities. 

2.10 The draft Council Plan was published for consultation with the public, partners, 
members and staff on 12 December 2018.  The consultation closed on 17 
January 2019. The draft document was made available on the Council’s website 
and paper copies available on request. A range of stakeholder groups were e-
mailed at the start of the engagement process, including voluntary sector groups, 
community interest groups, public agencies, parish and town councils.

2.11 Feedback has been received from a number of partner organisations and 
agencies, parish councils, and members of the public.  All feedback received has 
been considered and informed the final draft Council Plan.  The feedback 
received in relation to the Council priorities set out in the draft Council Plan is 
summarised in Appendix 2 which also includes a commentary where appropriate. 

3.0 Resourcing the Priorities

3.1 The Council has a limited amount of resource which it uses to deliver its 
priorities. These are a combination of human resources, financial resources and 
capital assets. The Council has a series of strategies and plans in place to 
ensure that it continues to effectively manage and develop these resources to 
ensure that the resources are used effectively against the agreed priorities.

3.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) identifies how the Council will organise 
its budgets to deliver the objectives identified in this plan. The MTFP also 
identifies sources of income, both Capital and Revenue, and key principles 
around asset management, risk and other financial concerns. The MTFP 
identifies the Council’s agreed level of general reserves i.e. balances which could 
be used to fund contingencies.

3.3 The Council’s most important resource, in terms of both expenditure and impact, 
is staff and therefore the management and development of staff is a vital activity 
which is supported by a number of policies around staff attraction, development 
and performance management.  Workforce planning, a comprehensive appraisal 
process and training and development support the continual process of ensuring 
that staff have the skills and abilities to deliver the Council Plan and that the 
organisation is always enabling staff to progress within the Council providing 
continuity of service and professional growth.

4.0 Consultation/Customer Focus

4.1 The Council Plan has been developed following initial discussions with Executive 
members, and the Senior Management Team between April and June 2018.  A 
workshop for managers took place in September 2018 and all elected members 

Page 188



were offered the opportunity to attend one of three workshop sessions to help 
shape the Plan in September 2018.

4.2 An internal consultation on the draft Plan was undertaken in October and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee were provided with an opportunity to comment 
on the draft plan through an informal Scrutiny briefing session on 30 November 
2018.

 
4.3 The draft Council Plan was published for wider consultation with the public, 

partners, members and staff on 12 December 2018.  The consultation closed on 
17 January 2019. The draft document was made available on the Council’s 
website and paper copies available on request. A range of stakeholder groups 
were e-mailed at the start of the engagement process, including voluntary sector 
groups, community interest groups, public agencies, parish and town councils.

4.4 Feedback has been received from a number of partner organisations and 
agencies, parish councils, and members of the public.  All feedback received has 
been considered and informed the final draft Council Plan.  

5.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

5.1 This is reflected in the ‘Principles’ set out in the draft Council Plan.   

6.0 Finance/Resource Implications

6.1 The budget setting process is an ongoing annual exercise that determines the 
financial plans for current and future years and is informed by the Council’s 
priorities as set out in the Council Plan. Information on resources allocated is 
contained in the Council Budget published annually.

7.0 Legal Implications and Risks

7.1 The Council Plan forms part of the Council’s budget and policy framework and 
responsibility for it is shared between the Executive and the Council. The Council 
Plan, once approved by Executive, requires the approval of the full Council.

8.0 Recommendations

8.1 That members endorse the draft Council Plan 2019-2023 and recommend its 
approval to Council. 

8.2 That authority is delegated to the Head of Strategy, Policy and Performance to 
make any amendments to the draft Council Plan 2019-2023 in consultation with 
the Leader and Deputy Leader, prior to its consideration by Council on 6 March 
2019.  

Page 189



9.0 Conclusion

9.1 The Council is committed to improving the lives of everyone in Allerdale. The 
Council does this on a day to day basis by providing a range of services.

9.2 The Council Plan sets out the framework for the Council’s activity over the next 4 
years.  In the context of unprecedented financial challenges it is vitally important 
that the Council is clear about its priorities and focus for activity.  The draft 
Council Plan, alongside the draft Medium Term Financial Plan, provides a robust 
framework for effective allocation of resource.

Alex FitzGerald
Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information)

Page 190



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 1

Council Plan 
2019 – 2023

P
age 191



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 2

Introduction 
Welcome to Allerdale Borough Council’s Council Plan for 2019 to 2023.

We have long term ambitions for our area - to make it a thriving place with a bright future - and this plan sets out our contribution over the next 
4 years towards making those ambitions a reality. We are determined to improve lives and life chances for everyone in Allerdale and this 
commitment underpins all our priorities in this plan.    

We have seen significant reductions in funding since 2010 and the next few years will see continued pressure on the Council’s finances. But, 
we are determined to do the best for our communities and not let this challenge hamper our ambitions.  Instead we will innovate, seek new 
ways of working whether through technology or collaboration, and find ways to make the money we have work better for our communities.

Driving growth is critical to maintaining and creating good quality jobs for people, in turn helping to reduce poverty and create a sustainable 
economy for the future.  Achieving growth is also vital to provide the funding that will allow the Council to deliver the high quality services that 
we know our residents expect.

Building on our previous actions we intend to embark on a substantial programme of regeneration and investment – providing new 
infrastructure for housing, leisure, business, public realm, tourism and investment opportunities. We will use our ability to secure and generate 
funding to invest significantly in the future of our district to the benefit of everyone who lives, works and visits here, contributing to the future 
sustainability of our area for years to come.

This Council Plan tells you about what we will achieve for Allerdale and sets out the things we will focus on over the next four years to deliver 
on our vision and priorities.  

P
age 192



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 3

Our vision 
Our vision is for Allerdale to be a great place to live, work and visit.  

Our longer term vision for Allerdale is that:

Allerdale is a vibrant and attractive place where people choose to come and live, visit and do business with a larger proportion of working age 
people and a growing population overall.  We have vibrant and thriving towns and villages where people are happy to live and a clean and 
green environment with a wealth of recreational opportunities for all ages and abilities, taking advantage of the natural and built environment. 
There are a wide range of suitable and affordable housing types and high quality homes that are in the right places.

Allerdale has a strong, diverse and adaptable economy with a healthy mix of businesses and no reliance on a single industry sector, and 
businesses successfully trading globally.  There are large numbers of entrepreneurs taking advantage of a flourishing business community 
creating jobs and wealth for local people. Allerdale is a well-connected area with good physical and virtual access, a range of good quality, well 
paid jobs and a high standard and good range of learning opportunities for all ages. Young people want to live in the area and have access to a 
range of careers and opportunities and more people have higher skills levels. Allerdale is a world-class tourist destination with worldwide 
attraction.

Allerdale has healthier communities with the gap in healthy life expectancy across our district narrowed and childhood obesity reduced to 
below 2018 levels.  Inequalities and poverty across our district are reduced and we see improved aspirations and life outcomes in our 
traditionally more deprived areas.  Strong and joined up public services are meeting the needs of our communities and all residents have the 
opportunity to engage in local decision making with many people participating and taking pride in their community.

P
age 193



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 4

Our purpose 
Improving lives, improving futures
Everything we do as a Council will be aimed at improving the lives of our residents both now and for the future.  Whether that is by delivering 
high quality services or acting as community leaders to work with others to improve our area.

Our priorities
 Economic opportunity 

and growth 
Stronger and healthier 

communities 
Quality places

 to live 
Allerdale’s businesses thrive and 

grow, we attract new businesses to 
the area and create quality jobs

Allerdale’s communities are healthy, 
safe, included and supported

Allerdale has attractive and welcoming 
places and spaces; and the right 

homes in the right places to meet our 
residents’ needs and support well 

planned growth

Transforming the Council 
Transforming the Council is an overarching theme that runs across all of our priorities – we have to make sure that the 

Council is making the best use of resources and in a healthy financial position, to be able to provide the quality services 
and improvements to the area set out in our priorities.

P
age 194



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 5

Our principles 
Strong community leadership
Demonstrating leadership within our communities is vital if we are to 
achieve our ambitions and we will continue to support the role of 
councillors in providing collective community leadership and 
articulating the issues and priorities in their local areas.  We also 
have a vital role as local leaders to influence and lobby at a national 
regional and county level to ensure that the needs of our 
communities and our area are recognised and supported.

Partnership and collaboration
We recognise that only through collaborating with others will we 
achieve our ambitions for our area.  Building positive partnerships 
with the people and communities we serve and our partners in the 
public, private and voluntary sectors is key to all of the ambitions set 
out in this Plan and it will be vital for us to make sure that we fulfil our 
role as local leaders able to influence and work well with others.  

Innovation and commerciality
We will constantly look for ways to do things differently and better to 
deliver savings or generate income for the Council. We need to be 
more entrepreneurial in the way we do business, looking for and 
taking advantage of opportunities.

Services and actions that reflect local need
We need to be flexible and responsive in the delivery of services. 
Allerdale is made up of distinct areas with differing issues and needs 
so we may need to adapt the way we deliver services and projects 
across those areas depending on identified need. We have some clear 
disparities between different local areas with some small areas 
experiencing considerable issues of poverty and inequality and 
addressing those inequalities will be at the heart of what we do.  We 
will also always consider the impact of our actions on the different 
needs of communities as they move through life, thinking for example 
about impacts on early years’ development or on our older residents. 

Access and fairness
People have different requirements and preferences when it comes to 
how they access our services so we will make sure we take those into 
account when we design and deliver services.   

Openness and transparency
We believe in the importance of being open and transparent in all that 
we do, providing the public with the information that they need to 
decide if we are performing well and responding to their needs.

P
age 195



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 6

Our programmes
Our programmes are a key part of our approach to support the delivery of the ambitions set out in this Plan.  To help us really focus on what 
needs to be done we have developed a series of programmes – groups of projects that support our priorities. These programmes will sit 
alongside our day to day services all of which will also contribute to achieving our priorities.

We have defined four main programmes that we will be progressing over the lifetime of this Plan:

Regeneration and Investment
This ambitious programme is about the delivery of key projects 
contributing to the physical development of the area and long term 
financial sustainability of the Council.  It contains exciting projects 
such as the new stadium in Workington - part of the Council’s 
commitment to make sport and leisure accessible to all to improve 
the health and wellbeing of local residents, as well as giving local 
businesses a boost by making our towns more attractive to 
investors. 

Maryport Regeneration 
The Council’s Business Growth Plan highlighted Maryport as key 
priority for regeneration.  This exciting scheme aims to improve the 
town’s most popular areas to increase tourism, employment 
opportunities and give a boost to the local economy. It includes key 
projects at the promenade and harbour, as well as enhancements 
to the town centre, including the areas around Curzon Street and 
Senhouse Street and linking the centre to the train station.

Transformation and Commercialisation
This major programme is fundamental to us being able to deliver the 
priorities set out in this Plan.  The projects in this programme will focus 
on the way the Council works, how to make best use of the resources 
that we have (for example, using technology to deliver improved 
customer service and more efficient services) and finding ways to 
generate more income. 

Influencing and Reputation
This programme recognises that to achieve many of the ambitions in 
this Plan we will need to successfully work with and influence key 
partners and agencies.  This programme will focus on our role as 
community leaders and improving the Council’s influence on key 
issues such as road and rail infrastructure, strategic 
housing development, health improvements and securing a nuclear 
legacy for the area. 

P
age 196



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 7

Transforming the Council
We will make sure we can carry on delivering high quality, value for money services by finding ways to do 
things differently and better, and by generating income and savings.  We will make sure we are in a healthy 
financial position so that we can deliver vital improvements to the area. 

Transforming the Council is fundamental to being able to deliver the priorities set out in this Plan.  

We have managed our finances well over the past years and have successfully made changes and savings whilst still offering high quality 
services to our residents.  However, we face a substantial financial challenge over the lifetime of this Plan as local government financing 
undergoes a fundamental change – by 2021 we expect to have no revenue support grant from Government which means that all of our income 
will have to come from council tax, business rates and other streams such as investments or service income.  

We will need to develop some innovative and collaborative approaches to continue to be able to provide the best public services we possibly 
can and provide the resource to achieve the ambitions set out in this Plan.  

What are we going to do?
As an organisation we need to look at the way the Council works to make best use of the resources that we have, and find ways to generate 
more income. Exploring creative ways in which we can deliver services for less will also be essential.  Our staff and elected members are key 
to the sustainability and success of the Council so we need to continue to support and invest in them to make sure that they can help to shape 
and change the organisation.

Through our Transformation and Commercialisation and Regeneration and Investment Programmes we will:

 Review and redesign processes to provide a better service to 
customers

 Look for better ways of working and innovative approaches to 
service delivery – this may lead to different ways of delivering 
services jointly with partners or through other organisations.

 Make the best use of technology to improve services, both 
behind the scenes and to help people access a range of 
services better

P
age 197



8
Draft Council Plan 2019-2023

 Support people to access services in different ways, to provide 
choice to people with busy lives, whether that is by accessing 
services online, on the phone or through local contact points. 

 Improve the ways we commission and procure services and goods 
and manage contracts to make sure we are getting maximum 
benefit for the Council and the area. 

 Look at how we can generate more income from our existing 
trading services or selling other services.  

 Find ways to generate income for the Council that will help to fund 
local services.  We will invest in commercial opportunities that 
support our priorities and bring money into Allerdale and the 

Council such as our recent investments at Lillyhall and Reedlands 
Road in Workington to provide business accommodation. 

 Continue to make the most of all the assets in our control, whether 
this is identifying ways we can build homes on council land or 
making the most efficient use of properties and land through our 
Asset Management Plan.  

 Continue to invest in our people to provide them with the skills they 
need, developing our commercial skills for example, as well as 
investing in them as individuals, supporting their health and 
wellbeing needs to develop a confident, healthy, productive and 
flexible workforce who are ready for change. 

Making sure that we continue to have good governance arrangements is vital if we are to be a strong organisation making sound decisions.  
We need to ensure that our elected members are well trained and well informed so that they can operate as effective community leaders able 
to build positive partnerships and relationships, work successfully with communities, and effectively influence and work with partners – we will 
therefore continue to deliver an annual councillor development programme and look for additional ways that members can be supported.   

Success measures:
 Increased satisfaction with services

 High resident satisfaction with the way the Council runs things

 An increased percentage of residents who agree the Council provides value for money

 Achievement of savings and income targets

P
age 198



9
Draft Council Plan 2019-2023

Economic opportunity and growth
We will work to support Allerdale businesses to thrive and grow, attract new businesses to the area and 
create quality jobs. 

Why is this important?
Our area is changing.  Like much of the UK our population structure 
is shifting, the proportion of working age people is getting smaller 
and the proportion of older people is getting bigger ….and it is a 
trend that is projected to continue.  The difference for us is that the 
pace of this change is faster than in many other areas of the UK.  
Over the next 20 years we are projected to see the proportion of 
people over 65 years of age increase from about one fifth to almost 
one third of our population.  Alongside this, current projections are 
that the overall numbers of people living in Allerdale will reduce. 

Without enough working age people our local economy will be 
affected – our existing businesses are likely to find it increasingly 
hard to recruit and will not see this as an area that they can stay 
and grow in; and the area will not be as attractive to new business 
as a place to invest.  

So, to continue to be a prosperous area we will need to grow – 
grow our numbers of working age people and grow our economy to 
provide jobs and opportunities for our existing and new residents.  
This is turn will help to support the range of services and facilities 
that people need and expect in their area.

Attracting new and different businesses to the area as well as 
helping those already here to grow will help us to create more 
varied work opportunities and make our local economy less reliant 
on a small number of business types.  

We want our residents to be able to get good quality jobs, so quality 
education and training provision that meets the needs of businesses 
and learners is essential.  There is an increasing demand for higher 
levels of skills and knowledge in the jobs available in our area and 
even though we are seeing good progress on improving skills levels in 
Allerdale current projections are that we will not have enough people 
with the right skills and knowledge to meet future business demand in 
our area.  So as well as attracting more skilled working age people, we 
need to make sure that our children get the opportunities, from pre-
school early years to higher education, to gain the skills and 
knowledge they need for a good quality of life.

Our location and geography increases the importance of Allerdale 
having effective connections so we also want to see improved 
infrastructure and connectivity across our area.  This will support 
businesses and residents and make it easier for visitors to enjoy the 
area – encouraging more visitors to Allerdale is also important for the 
local economy, with more money being spent locally on 
accommodation, food and drink, entertainment and shopping. 

To achieve all of this we need to work with and influence key partners 
and partnerships, education and skills organisations and other public 
service providers.

P
age 199



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 10

What are we going to do?
Support businesses to thrive, grow and invest 
We will support growth in the volume and range of jobs on offer 
through high quality business support activity, using our Local Plan 
to support sustainable growth, and investing in creating and 
growing local businesses through initiatives such as the Allerdale 
Loans Fund.  

Through our Regeneration and Investment Programme we will 
deliver ambitious projects such as the new stadium for Workington, 
providing a fantastic sporting and community facility as well as 
supporting local businesses by making the place more attractive to 
investors.

We will work hard with our partners to create the right conditions for 
growth including activity to improve connectivity and infrastructure 
across our area.  This means road and rail infrastructure, but also 
broadband and business accommodation.  We will look for 
opportunities to create and improve business accommodation so 
that there are quality places for enterprise and business to thrive.

We will continue to play our part as an employer by paying the 
Foundation Living Wage to our staff and encourage others to do the 
same including our major contractors.  We want to increase the 
amount we spend with local businesses so will be buying more 
goods and services locally where we can. 

Attract new businesses  
All of the activity set out above will help to attract new businesses to 
our area.  We will also continue to put energy into promoting the 
area as a great place to do business to help create more varied 
work opportunities and make our local economy less reliant on a 
small number of business types.  

Improve people’s skills to succeed 
We will use our influence and partnerships to ensure that unemployed 
people in Allerdale, those who currently have few employment choices, 
and young people coming into the world of work, have the skills 
training and advantages they need to access jobs and build a career.  

Develop key economic sectors such as tourism to 
create jobs
We will build on our efforts to promote the area as a fantastic place to 
visit, encouraging more people to come and see the amazing 
landscapes and heritage that we have to offer.  Parts of our district are 
in two different World Heritage Sites (the Lake District National Park 
and Hadrian’s Wall) and the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty - we want to build on the draw of these special places to 
encourage more people to explore Allerdale and all it has to offer.  

Supporting businesses, festivals, arts and sporting events will also be 
an important activity to ensure that there is a wide range of quality 
facilities and things to do for visitors to the area and our residents 
alike. 

Success measures:
 Growth in numbers of jobs in Allerdale

 Growth in numbers of businesses in Allerdale

 Increase in net domestic migration of working age people into the 
district

 Increase in proportion of working age with Level 3 and 4 
qualifications 

P
age 200



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 11

Stronger and healthier communities
We will work to make sure that our communities are healthy, safe, included and supported. 

Why is this important?

We want everyone to have the opportunity to live a healthy and 
happy life, regardless of where they live in the district.  

A person’s health is affected by a whole range of factors – lifestyles, 
environment, homes and communities are all important.  In turn 
someone’s health then impacts on their ability to work and enjoy 
life.  Many of our residents enjoy an excellent quality of life and very 
good health, but in some of our communities people’s health 
outcomes are not so good - how long you can expect to live your 
life in good health varies considerably across our district and in 
some local areas people can expect around a quarter of their lives 
to be spent in poor health. 

Like many other areas of the UK one of our key health concerns is 
obesity.  In Allerdale we are seeing a particularly worrying trend in 
our younger children where the proportion of overweight and obese 
children has been rising in recent years amongst our 4-5 year olds. 
Encouraging healthy eating and active lifestyles to reduce childhood 
obesity will therefore be a focus for the Council over the course of 
this Plan.    

In areas where we see poorer health outcomes we tend to see a 
correlation with other issues such as higher rates of unemployment, 

lower incomes, lower qualification levels and higher rates of child 
poverty.  We have higher than average levels of fuel poverty in some 
areas where incomes are low or homes are hard to heat – and this 
can ultimately impact on people’s health.

We have clear inequalities between communities within the district with 
some small areas experiencing considerable issues of poverty and 
inequality. This means that some of our communities and residents 
need a helping hand, particularly in our former industrial towns.  

Rural living can present significant challenges for low income families 
and poverty is often a more hidden issue in these areas.  So a focus 
on the health and wellbeing of our more rural communities is also 
important. 

Whilst on the whole Allerdale is a safe place to live, some of our 
communities have told us that they are experiencing increasing issues 
with anti-social behaviour.  So we will need to work with partners to 
address local community safety concerns. 

P
age 201



12
Draft Council Plan 2019-2023

What are we going to do?

Encourage healthy, active lifestyles 
With our health colleagues we will work to tackle healthy weight 
issues, promoting healthy eating and active lifestyles to try and 
reduce levels of obesity, particularly in children.  We are well 
placed to offer a range of opportunities to participate in sport, arts, 
and leisure activities to help improve health and wellbeing directly 
through our leisure centres or by supporting other events, facilities 
and activities such as cycling and walking – making the best use 
of our fantastic natural environment.  Our plans for a new 
community stadium in Workington build on the success of the 
nearby leisure centre, helping to improve access to high quality 
sport and leisure facilities for our residents.

Keep people safe and well
We will make sure that we effectively deliver our range of functions 
to keep people safe and well including: monitoring food safety, air 
and water quality; licensing; and using our powers to make Public 
Space Protection Orders.  We will continue to work hard to tackle 
fuel poverty through schemes to help people reduce their energy 
bills and make homes cheaper to heat.  We will help to prevent 
homelessness, helping those who face pressures that could tip 
them into homelessness, as well as supporting those who are 
already homeless. 

We will work with key partners such as the Police through the 
West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership and the Allerdale 
Local Focus Hub to address our communities’ community safety 
issues and concerns so people can enjoy their homes and 
neighbourhoods.

Support and engage with our communities
We have had a strong focus on addressing inequality and poverty for 
a number of years and are recommitting to tackling these issues here.  
We will continue our work with partners to address poverty - both in 
terms of helping those in urgent need through activity such as 
supporting foodbanks and food initiatives, and working on activity to 
help people longer term by improving job opportunities, skills and 
resilience.

We recognise how important it is to find ways to build confidence and 
capacity within communities. Local community groups and events run 
by local people with commitment and passion are vitally important and 
we will look for ways to support these, through advice and assistance.

We have already worked with local communities to transfer some 
important community facilities such as parks to town and parish 
councils, bringing them back under more local control, and will 
continue to look for opportunities to give local communities more 
influence over local facilities and services.  We need to maintain our 
awareness of local needs by talking to parish and town councils and 
community groups, and explore new ways to deliver services with 
them.  We will also explore ways to support our councillors more as 
community leaders. 

Success measures:
 Declining trend in overweight and obese children (Reception age)

 Increased numbers of physically active adults

 Reduced health inequalities

P
age 202



Draft Council Plan 2019-2023 13

Quality places to live
We will work to make sure that we have attractive and welcoming places and spaces; and the right homes in the right 
places to meet our residents’ needs and support well planned growth  

Why is this important?
Allerdale is a diverse district with a rich history and stunning 
landscapes making it a fantastic place to live where people can 
enjoy an excellent quality of life in a clean, green and safe 
environment.  Making sure that all of our residents can enjoy 
attractive and welcoming places to live that are clean and green is 
important and in a few places in Allerdale our residents tell us that 
their living environment is not as good as it should be. 

Alongside clean streets and spaces our residents need leisure and 
cultural facilities, access to shops, homes and services so that our 
towns and villages are vibrant and attractive places - important in 
appealing to visitors and new residents too.  

Allerdale needs the right homes in the right places to meet our 
current and future residents’ needs.  Affordable, decent housing is 
something our residents have told us is an important area of focus. 
We have significant housing affordability issues in some of our towns 
making it difficult for people to get on to the housing ladder in those 
areas - in Keswick and Cockermouth house prices are 8.7 and 5.8 

times the average household income respectively, making the 
private housing market inaccessible to many people. Our ageing 
population means that we need to plan for and encourage the 
provision of more suitable homes to meet the changing needs that 
people have throughout their lifetimes.  

If we want to encourage more working age people to move to the area 
to give it a more sustainable future we will need additional homes to 
buy and to rent. However, it is important to make sure that the right 
homes are built in the right places and that we have well planned and 
sustainable growth in terms of housing.  

The quality of housing is important both in terms of new build and 
existing properties.  We still have an estimated fifth of all properties 
that fail to meet the Decent Homes Standard so activity to improve 
standards is important, particularly in the private rented sector.  We 
also need to make sure that we are supporting residents who may be 
at risk of becoming homeless or who are homeless already.

P
age 203



14
Draft Council Plan 2019-2023

What are we going to do?
Keep places clean, green and tidy
We will maintain the high quality refuse and recycling service that 
our residents value and will continue our efforts to increase 
recycling rates.  

We will focus on improving the cleanliness of our streets and public 
places where residents have told us improvements are required, 
taking enforcement action where we need to tackle environmental 
crime.

We will continue to carry out proactive and enforcement work to 
protect and enhance our built and natural surroundings, whether 
that is dealing with eyesore properties in our towns or enhancing 
our high quality natural environment, making sure we have healthier 
natural systems and habitats.

Help towns and villages to thrive
We will help our towns and villages to thrive through activity to 
support and improve leisure and cultural facilities, access to shops 
and services as well as activity to improve the way places look and 
feel through activity such as our popular facelift schemes.  

We have committed to implementing the Maryport Regeneration 
Scheme to enhance the vitality of the town – increasing tourism and 
employment opportunities, and giving a boost to the local economy.  
This will include physical improvements to the promenade, harbour 
and town centre as well as aiming to address some of the 
underlying issues that must be influenced if the town is to become 
truly successful. 

Deliver quality homes for growth
We will use our planning policies and powers to ensure that the 
right new homes are delivered in the right places to meet existing 
and future need and support economic growth and the 
sustainability of our area.  

We want to take stronger action to ensure that new housing is of a 
good quality and that we maximise contributions from housing 
developers towards infrastructure improvements and affordable 
housing.  We will continue to work with developers to try and find 
ways to unlock development where sites have stalled.

Make sure we have suitable, affordable, decent 
homes for all
New build, conversions and bringing empty properties back into 
use all need to be part of the mix to ensure we have a good range 
and supply of homes.  We will continue to focus on providing 
affordable homes (both to buy and to rent) where they are needed 
most across the district.  The ways that we will do this include 
supporting Community Land Trusts, securing the maximum 
numbers of affordable units we can as part of new developments, 
and working closely with housing associations to make sure there 
are enough social rented properties.

We will actively work to intervene and bring forward development 
where we see gaps in provision using council land or delivery 
mechanisms as appropriate.  One of the things we are working on 
is the creation of a housing company as a vehicle for us to be able 
to do this more successfully.  

P
age 204



15
Draft Council Plan 2019-2023

To provide for the changing needs that people have through their 
lifetimes we will continue to deliver our successful grants scheme 
to enable people to stay in their own homes for longer through 
adaptations.  We will also work with partners to ensure that 
suitable housing is developed for our ageing population.    
We will work to improve the quality of housing in the private sector 
through inspection and appropriate enforcement, including the private 
rented sector. We will actively engage with private landlords to provide 
advice and information and take action against those landlords who 
don’t meet their responsibilities. 

Success measures:
 More affordable housing developed

 Improved satisfaction with cleanliness of streets and 
public places

 

P
age 205



16
Draft Council Plan 2019-2023

How will we know if we are succeeding?
This Council Plan is a high level plan setting out what we will focus on over the next 4 years and why.  A series of success measures are 
identified in the Plan which will indicate progress on the longer term outcomes we want to see.  

This plan which will inform the development of more detailed programmes and plans and allocations of staff and money. 

We will develop a Business Plan which will set out how we will work towards the priorities set out in this Plan.  The Business Plan will set out 
the key activities we will undertake along with more detailed performance measures that we will use to assess our progress.  The Business 
Plan will be refreshed annually. 

We will report progress quarterly through our Executive and make these reports available on our website www.allerdale.gov.uk

P
age 206

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/


1

Appendix 2

Draft Council Plan 2019-23

Summary of Consultation Responses

Allerdale Borough Council undertook a Budget and Priorities Consultation to provide an opportunity for the public and key 
stakeholders to review and comment on the Council’s new draft priorities, its approach to meeting the budget challenges ahead and 
proposed Council Tax and fees and charges increases for 2019/20.  The consultation was launched on 12 December 2018 and 
ended on 17 January 2019.

The consultation asked the following questions:

 Do you think the proposed priorities and areas of focus are the right ones for the council? 
 Are there any other areas of focus that you think should be priorities for the council?
 Do you have any comments about the proposed approach to Transforming the Council? (for example, do you have any 

specific ideas about how the council can save money or generate additional income to protect services)
 Should we increase Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D properties (with proportionate increases to 

properties in other council tax bands) in 2019/20? 
 Should we increase fees and charges by 3% in line with inflation? 
 Do you have any other comments to make?

The consultation was promoted in the following ways:

 Launch of the consultation on 12 December 2018 with a dedicated web page and media release
 Direct email notification to a range of stakeholders including: all Chief Executives of the Cumbria Chief Executives Group, 

Cumbria Association of Local Councils, Chamber of Commerce, a range of third sector partners
 Direct email notification to all town and parish councils
 Direct email notification to all Allerdale Borough Council elected members
 Social media was used to generate interest via Facebook and Twitter
 Posts on homepage of intranet to alert staff

P
age 207



2

People were able to respond online, by post or email.  There were 31 responses to the consultation received (all online). 
Comments were received from individuals, parish councils, and third sector partner organisations.  The consultation was not 
designed to be a statistically representative sample of public opinion, but to gauge the opinions of those who have chosen to 
participate in the process.

All the feedback received has been considered to inform the development of the draft Council Plan 2019-23.  Some responses 
raised points that related to more detailed elements of service or project delivery which will be used to inform service delivery and 
project planning.  A summary of responses is set out in the table below with proposed comments that address the points raised.   
Views relating specifically to the proposed Council Tax and fees and charges increases are referenced in the Executive and 
Council paper in respect of the 2019/20 Budget.  

Summary of feedback received in respect of draft Council 
Plan 

Comment

Summary of comments on proposed priorities and any other areas of focus:
Only 5 respondents stated that they did not think the proposed 
priorities were the right ones.

The support for the proposed priorities is welcomed.

Two respondents positively commented on the importance of 
economic development as a catalyst for improving the area.

The support for economic development is welcomed.

One respondent suggested there should be a greater focus on 
helping companies to create opportunities for young people to 
enter the labour market.

The draft Council Plan states that the Council will work with 
partners to ensure that unemployed people, those who 
currently have few employment choices, and young people 
coming into the world of work, have the skills training and 
advantages they need to access jobs and build a career.  

One respondent suggested the Council could offer more 
apprenticeships and traineeships as an employer.

The Council does offer a number of apprenticeship places each 
year and has introduced a number of traineeship posts in 
recent years.  

P
age 208



3

Summary of feedback received in respect of draft Council 
Plan 

Comment

Four respondents mentioned tourism as an important area of 
focus with the following specific areas mentioned: tourism in 
the Solway Plain; tourism in Mayrport and the importance of 
signage and image; the general availability of TICs, buses etc.

‘Developing key economic sectors such as tourism to create 
jobs’ is a key area of focus under the Economic Opportunity 
and Growth priority in the draft Council Plan.  The Council is 
committed to encouraging and supporting the tourism sector 
across the whole borough as set out in the draft Council Plan. 

One respondent felt there should be more investment in 
infrastructure.

The draft Council Plan states our intention to work with partners 
to improve connectivity and infrastructure across the borough.  

One respondent commented that the high street/main street 
should be a focus with particular reference to empty shops.

The draft Council Plan recognises that access to shops is an 
important part of making our towns attractive and vibrant places 
and sets out our commitment to support and improve our 
towns.

Four respondents felt that street cleaning should be an area of 
focus for the Council particularly in Maryport (three 
respondents).  

This reflects the results of our recent Residents Survey through 
which residents told us that ‘Cleaning streets and public places’ 
was the most important service to them and whilst 68% were 
satisfied with the cleanliness and appearance of town centres 
overall, this figure was much lower in Maryport.  The draft 
Council Plan recognises the importance of clean streets and 
public places to our residents with Keeping places clean, green 
and tidy’ a key area of focus under the Quality Places to Live 
priority.   

One respondent commented that the Council’s environmental 
and waste services were very good.

This comment is welcome and chimes with the results of our 
recent Residents Survey where 93% of respondents were 
satisfied with refuse and recycling services. 

One respondent suggested there should be more events for 
local people not just visitors.

One respondent suggested a strong cultural offer is important. 

The draft Council Plan recognises that access to leisure and 
cultural facilities and supporting festivals, arts and sporting 
events are important for healthy, active lifestyles and helping 
our towns and villages to thrive.  The Council has a successful 

P
age 209



4

Summary of feedback received in respect of draft Council 
Plan 

Comment

Festival and Events Fund which supports the development of 
festivals and community-based events that will enhance the 
arts and cultural offering in the borough. 

Four respondents gave quite detailed and specific suggestions 
relating to regeneration in Maryport including the importance of 
improving the image of places as well as physical 
infrastructure. 

These comments are very useful and will help to inform the 
ongoing work to develop detailed project plans as part of the 
Maryport Delivery Programme.  

One respondent mentioned housing, querying why any more 
housing would be required if the population of Allerdale was 
projected to decline and suggesting that the only new housing 
should be affordable.
 

The draft Council Plan sets out the rationale for the right mix of 
housing to be available to meet current and future needs.  The 
draft Council Plan recognises that affordable housing is 
important for our area and sets out our continued focus on 
providing affordable homes. 

One respondent mentioned the importance of addressing 
health inequalities and suggested mapping current provision 
and gaps with partners.

The Council is a key partner in the Allerdale Health and 
Wellbeing Forum and works closely with health partners to 
identify health inequality issues and develop plans to address 
those.  

One respondent suggested that creating opportunities to lift 
residents out of poverty should be a focus.

The draft Council Plan sets out the Council’s commitment to 
addressing inequality and poverty and sets out our continued 
approach to working with partners to address poverty.

Two respondents expressed concerns about drug misuse 
problems particularly in Workington with the suggestion that the 
Council should take the lead and collaborate on the issue (one 
respondent).

The draft Council Plan sets out our approach to working as a 
key partner through the West Cumbria Community Safety 
Partnership and the Allerdale Local Focus Hub to address our 
communities’ safety issues and concerns.

P
age 210



5

Summary of feedback received in respect of draft Council 
Plan 

Comment

Three respondents mentioned the importance of sports and 
community facilities for supporting healthy lifestyles – the lack 
of facilities was highlighted (two respondents), whilst one 
respondent suggested there should be reduced gym fees for 
those on low incomes.

The draft Council Plan recognises that access to leisure and 
sporting facilities is important for healthy, active lifestyles and 
sets out our approach to offering a range of opportunities to 
participate in sport, arts and leisure activities either directly 
through our leisure centres or by supporting other facilities and 
activities.  Our leisure centres already offer range of 
concessionary and off-peak memberships for students, seniors 
and anyone currently receiving benefits.

Two respondents mentioned footway lighting and one 
respondent mentioned rural road sweeping.
  

The issue of footway lighting is the subject of ongoing 
discussion with parish councils to find an appropriate 
sustainable future approach.

Summary of comments on Transforming the Council:
Five comments relate to the importance of greater collaboration 
with other bodies and the third sector to reduce duplication, 
save money and make sure that decisions are what the local 
community really need.  Two respondents specifically 
referenced the need to rationalise layers of local government, 
move to a unitary authority, reduce the numbers of elected 
members or reduce management layers.

The approach set out in the draft Council Plan highlights the 
importance of working collaboratively with key partners across 
the public, private and third sectors to ensure that we can 
deliver the proposed priorities.  This will include exploring: new 
ways of working; opportunities for joint working; and other 
service delivery models.
Following a Boundary Review the number of elected members 
in Allerdale will reduce from 56 to 49 in May 2019.  Discussions 
regarding any reorganisation of local government in Cumbria 
are ongoing.

One respondent suggested that decisions should be devolved 
lower down to reduce red tape.

As stated in the draft Council Plan the Council has already 
worked with local communities to transfer some important 
community facilities such as parks to town and parish councils, 
bringing them back under more local control, and will continue 
to look for opportunities to give local communities more 
influence over local facilities and services.

P
age 211



6

Summary of feedback received in respect of draft Council 
Plan 

Comment

 
One respondent suggested making better use of technology to 
make services more self-service.

The draft Council Plan sets out the Council’s approach to 
making the best use of technology to improve services and 
make more services available on-line. 

One respondent suggested additional taxation measures on 
second homes.

The Council has recently agreed to increase the Council Tax 
premium payable on empty properties in the borough to provide 
an incentive to owners to bring empty properties into 
occupation therefore increasing the availability of 
accommodation either to buy and/or rent.

Four respondents suggested changes to waste collection 
services – three respondents suggested reducing bin 
collections to fortnightly to increase recycling and save money, 
and one respondent suggested suspending garden waste 
collection in the winter months.

From our recent Residents Survey we know that 93% of 
residents are satisfied with the refuse and recycling services 
we provide.  We have recently negotiated new contracts for 
waste and recycling services, street scene services and 
grounds maintenance which has given us the opportunity to 
review delivery of those services to make sure that we are 
getting value for money in delivering services residents have 
told us are important to them.  Garden waste collection is 
already suspended through January and February.

One respondent suggested investing in functions that generate 
income through compliance or enforcement such as licencing 
and parking.

The draft Council Plan sets out the Council’s approach to 
reviewing and redesigning processes, including how to make 
services operate more commercially so that they better cover 
their costs.
 

One respondent suggested it would be better to rent out assets 
rather than sell them off.

The draft Council Plan sets out the Council’s approach to 
making the best use of assets in our control and will involve a 
mixture of approaches including repurposing, rental and sale of 
assets.

P
age 212



7

Summary of feedback received in respect of draft Council 
Plan 

Comment

One respondent suggested increasing fees by greater than 
inflation to increase income.

Fees and charges are an important source of income for the 
Council, offsetting the cost of service provision and reducing 
the amount of expenditure that needs to be met from Council 
Tax and business rates. For existing charges, the Council’s 
general policy is for levels of fees and charges should rise each 
year in line with inflation as determined as part of the budget 
planning process.  

Other comments: 
Two respondents mentioned concerns about the impact of 
council tax increases on low income households including 
pensioners. 

The Council offers a number of discounts on Council Tax to 
support those on low incomes, including the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and Single Occupier Discount. 

One respondent queried how the implications on rural areas of 
the plan had been assessed

The Council’s Equality Impact Assessment includes rurality as 
a factor.  An impact assessment has been undertaken for the 
draft Council Plan and more detailed impact assessments will 
be completed for individual projects and activities as they are 
developed.
 

Four respondents made the point that it is important for the 
Council to focus on its basic services and maintaining what 
already exists – reference to street cleaning (one respondent) 
and maintenance of specific areas of Workington (one 
respondent), concerns expressed about spending on the 
stadium instead of other things (two respondents).

The draft Council Plan recognises the importance placed on 
basic services such as street cleaning and refuse collection by 
our residents with ‘Keeping places clean, green and tidy’ a key 
area of focus under the Quality Places to Live priority.   

Two respondents expressed concerns about where funding for 
all the priorities will come from.  

The draft Council Plan 2019-23 and associate financial plans 
are being developed with an aim of ensuring the Council is in a 
healthy financial position for the future.  The approach detailed 
in the draft Council Plan ‘Transforming the Council’ recognises 
that there are financial challenges ahead and that in order to 

P
age 213



8

Summary of feedback received in respect of draft Council 
Plan 

Comment

deliver the priorities the Council will need to find ways to do 
things differently, generate income and savings. 

Three respondents commented that there was too much 
resource and attention given to different areas of the borough – 
one respondent felt Workington received too much and 
Cockermouth, Silloth, Wigton and Keswick and rural areas too 
little, one respondent suggested there was too much spending 
in Cockermouth whilst Maryport is neglected, and one 
respondent felt that all the built up areas get too much resource 
whilst the rural areas do not get enough.   

One of the principles set out in the draft Council Plan 2019-23 
(‘Services and actions that meet local needs’) recognises that 
Allerdale is made up of distinct areas with differing issues that 
may require different approaches.  The Council takes 
evidenced-based decisions about spending and resource 
allocation across the borough.  

One respondent suggests that the 3% Council Tax increase 
should go to the police instead.

The Council Tax increase referred to in this consultation related 
purely to Allerdale Borough Council’s share of the total Council 
Tax bill – the Police and Crime Commissioner has a distinct 
share of that bill and is able to propose any changes to that 
element.

 

P
age 214



$bqbrbiid.docx

Equality Impact Assessment 

Subject: Council Plan 2019 – 2023 
Service area: Strategy, Policy & Performance

The General Equality Duty 
Allerdale Borough Council, in the exercise of its functions, should: 

a) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act. 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

c) Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

Public Sector Equality Duty
The Public Sector Equality Duty (2011) covers the following nine protected 
characteristics: Age, disability, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy, maternity, and marriage and civil partnership (full definitions 
given below).

Allerdale Borough Council also includes ‘rurality’ and ‘socio-economic status’ as 
additional categories in its equality impact assessments.

Aims and Summary of the EIA 

The Council Plan is a four year plan that sets out the Council’s priorities and key 
activities. The Council Plan provides the direction and vision for Allerdale Borough 
Council, clearly stating our main priorities and aspirations for the people of Allerdale over 
the next four years. 

The purpose of this EIA is to make sure that the Council does not bring about negative 
impacts on people with protected characteristics whilst taking forward the priorities of the 
Council Plan 2019-2023.  These priorities are: 

o Economic opportunity and growth
o Stronger and healthier communities
o Quality places to live

The Council Plan also identifies an overarching theme of Transforming the Council and 
sets out the Council’s approach to securing a sustainable financial future for the 
organisation. 
 

Appendix 3

Page 215



$bqbrbiid.docx

The Council Plan drives the organisation’s policies, the decisions the Council takes, the 
approach to the delivery of services, and the use of available resources. The reduction in 
central government funding for local government (at a time of changing demand for and 
expectation of services as the population changes) will continue to be a key challenge 
facing the Council over the next four years. The challenges we face will require us to do 
things differently in the future, but we are committed to ensuring that the appropriate and 
proportionate equality considerations are made alongside any proposed changes. 

This EIA has highlighted what the Council will need to do to meet the Equality Duty as set 
out in the Equality Act (2010) when delivering the Council Plan. The EIA has done this by 
ensuring that: 

 Population data, consultation feedback and survey data are being used to 
establish priorities. 

 People protected under the Act are engaged in Council Plan consultation. 
 The Corporate Business Plan will identify lead departments for delivery of activity 

under each priority theme who will take responsibility for taking any further action 
on equalities as required. 

 The necessity for more specific Equality Impact Assessments on any service or 
policy changes or the introduction of new services is being flagged up. 

The key finding of the EIA is that the Council’s Priority Themes as set out in the Council 
Plan all meet the Public Sector Equality Duty. Further work will be required as the 
Corporate Business Plan and service plans are finalised to decide what activity will 
require specific equality impact assessments.  It is anticipated that any changes to 
services or policies or the introduction of new services or policies are likely to require 
equality impact assessments. 

Gathering information 

Type of information Findings
Demography and the 
Census 2011 

The Cumbria Observatory has developed a set of Equality 
Briefings based on the 2011 Census:
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/Population/equality.asp

These show the following trends: 

 The numbers of 0-15 year olds fell in Allerdale between 
2001-2011 (and across all of Cumbria’s districts), whilst the 
numbers of residents aged over 65 rose in Allerdale 
between 2001-2011 by 17% - a higher rate of increase 
than the national average (+11%).  The 16-64 population 
increased slightly in Allerdale between 2001-2011. 

 Allerdale (and the whole of Cumbria’s) population is ageing 
faster than most of England and the district has slightly 
above average rates of disability. This is linked to ageing, 
but also people on long term out of work benefits.

Page 216

http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/Population/equality.asp


$bqbrbiid.docx

 Cumbria’s Black and Minority Ethnic population remains 
one of the lowest in England, but has grown from 1.8% to 
3% from 2001-11. Allerdale has the smallest proportion 
(2.4%) of residents from BME groups in Cumbria and the 
second highest rate of White British residents of any 
district nationally (97.6%).

 28% of Allerdale's population is single (never been 
married) compared to 34.6% in England & Wales, 52% are 
married (46.6% in England & Wales) and 0.2% are part of 
a same-sex civil partnership (same as England & Wales).  
The number of married residents in Allerdale has fallen 
slightly between 2001 and 2011.

 75.4% of Allerdale’s population stated their religion was 
Christianity (compared to 59.3% in England and Wales), 
with 17.3% stating that they had no religion.  Other 
religions accounted for less than 1% of the population of 
Allerdale, much lower than England and Wales (8.4%).

 In the 2011 Census residents were asked if their day-to-
day activities were limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 
12 months.  10.1% in Allerdale reported that their day-to-
day activities were limited a lot, and 10.7% reported that 
their day-to-day activities we limited a little.  When 
compared to England & Wales, Allerdale has a slightly 
higher proportion of residents whose day-to-day activities 
are limited (Allerdale: 20.8%, England & Wales: 17.9%).

Engagement on the 
Council Plan 

The Council has engaged with the public and targeted groups 
on its proposed new Council Plan 2019-2023. This process 
began on 12 December 2018 and ended on 17 January 2019.

Screening for Impacts 

The information below sets out key considerations that should inform the implementation 
of each priority theme in order to ensure the delivery of the Council Plan pays due regard 
to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act. 

Council Plan Priority: Economic opportunity and growth 

Overall it is considered that this priority theme will have a positive impact on our residents 
by helping to grow the local economy and provide more and better employment 
opportunities.  In particular there should be a positive impact on low income households, 

Page 217



$bqbrbiid.docx

those with lower skills levels and aspirations, people experiencing difficulty accessing the 
housing market (often younger people and low income households), rural residents 
(through transport improvements).

In delivering this priority the following issues will need to be considered:
 Consideration of accessibility for all through the council’s planning function and 

consideration of the impacts of developments on different sections of the 
population. 

 How the Council can engage with employers to understand opportunities around 
apprenticeship schemes and how equality issues are considered in developing 
apprenticeships.

 How the Council can help to ensure that improvements in infrastructure and 
connectivity consider rurality.

 Consideration of rurality as part of the programme of support for business growth.

Council Plan Priority: Quality places to live  

Overall it is considered that this priority theme will have a positive impact on our residents 
by helping to support our towns as attractive places to live and work. In particular there 
should be a positive impact on people experiencing difficulty accessing the housing 
market (often younger people and low income households) through the provision of more 
affordable housing, as well as those in our rural communities particularly affected by 
housing affordability issues. 

In delivering this priority the following issues will need to be considered:
 How delivery of town initiatives also support our wider rural communities
 Consideration of age, gender, rurality, socio-economic status and disability in 

developing our approaches to housing provision
 How best to engage with communities in the development and delivery of town 

improvement initiatives and consider implications for age, gender, disability, socio-
economic status and rurality. 

Council Plan Priority: Stronger and healthier communities

Overall it is considered that this priority theme will have a positive impact on our residents 
and in particular on younger people, older people, those experiencing health issues, low 
income households, those experiencing fuel poverty (a particular problem in some rural 
areas), and those at risk of homelessness.  

In delivering this priority the following issues will need to be considered:
 Addressing health inequalities through the delivery of the Joint Public Health 

Strategy improvement and action plans.
 How age, gender, rurality, socio-economic status, ethnicity and disability are 

considered in the delivery of leisure delivery plans.

Page 218



$bqbrbiid.docx

 Consideration of social inclusion, disability, gender and age in developing projects 
in relation to reducing poverty and maximizing standards of living.

 Consideration of how local communities are engaged and helped to identify 
specific local issues relating to health and wellbeing
 

Overarching Theme: Transforming the Council  

Overall it is considered that this priority theme will have a positive impact on our residents 
and workforce.

In delivering this priority the following issues will need to be considered:
 Consideration of accessibility issues as services are made available online, in 

particular in terms of age and socio-economic status.
 How age, gender, rurality, socio-economic status and disability in particular are 

considered in any changes to the way services are delivered in our seven areas.
 Ensuring that changes to staffing and services pay due regard to the Equality Duty 

via Equality Impact Assessments of key functions and decisions
 Working with suppliers to understand the Equality Act and the implications of 

delivering goods and services in a rural area. 
 Ensuring that staff and members can access training on equality to support 

planning and decision making
 Ensuring that the organisation values equality, that there are strong safeguards in 

place in relation to bullying, harassment and dealing with prejudice, and that staff 
are supported around work-place sickness, stress, disabilities or dealing with 
difficulties outside their working life

Definitions of protected characteristics

Age: This refers to a person having a particular age or being within an age group (for 
example, 18-30 year olds). 

Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners 
must be treated the same as married couples on a range of legal matters. 

Disability: A person has a disability if s/he has a physical or mental impairment which 
has a substantial and long term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-
day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability; mental health; learning disability.

Page 219



$bqbrbiid.docx

Gender reassignment: This is the process of transitioning from one sex to another, 
considered a personal process rather than a medical one and it does not require 
someone to undergo medical treatment in order to be protected.

Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment 
context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 
weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding. 

Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including 
citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian, Black and White minority ethnic 
groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers. 

Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of 
religion. “Belief” includes religious and philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for 
example, Atheism). The category includes, Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, 
Buddhism, and non religious beliefs such as Humanism.

Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own 
sex, the opposite sex or to both 
sexes. 

Additional Allerdale Borough Council characteristics

Rurality: Allerdale is defined as ‘Rural - 80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent of 
our population in rural settlements and larger market towns.

Socio-economic status: This refers to a person or persons defined by their socio-
economic group or other socio-economic classifications (e.g. low income families, or 
pensioners).  

Page 220



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 6 March 2019 

Allerdale Borough Council – 
Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Reason for the Decision This is the update report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

Summary of options considered Not applicable.

Recommendations That the report be noted.

Financial /  Resource Implications There are no direct implications.

Legal / Governance Implications There are no direct implications. 

Community Safety Implications There are no direct implications. 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no direct implications.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Not required for this report.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
contributes to all Council Plan priorities. 

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Not applicable

Lead Scrutiny Member Councillor Alan Pitcher and Councillor Janet 
Farebrother (Co-Chairs) 

Lead Officer Ian Hinde
Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships)
01900 702544
ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Page 221

Agenda Item 16



Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

1.0 Portfolio Holder presentations to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1.1 The meeting held 24 January included a presentation by the Executive 
Member for Transformation focusing on customer services, the work of IT and 
the new programme and projects work, together with a presentation by the 
Executive Member for Governance and People Resources which included the 
annual review of the Community Safety Partnership which the Committee is 
responsible for scrutinising.

1.2 The Executive Member for Corporate Resources (Property and Finance) 
presented her portfolio to the Committee on 15 February.

1.3 Committee members have found these presentations very informative in 
understanding the detail of individual portfolios. 

There are two further meetings scheduled for presentations by the Executive 
Member for Economic Growth (22 March) and the Executive Member for 
Tourism and Culture (23 April).

2.0 Task Groups

2.1 The Budget Group recently met with the Executive Member for Corporate 
Resources (Property and Finance) to discuss the detail of the budget as 
presented to the Executive on 25 February. 

2.2 The group was satisfied that the work undertaken in preparing the budget is 
comprehensive and robust.

2.3 The group also discussed the option that in future the process should more 
closely monitor the budget throughout the year. The group requested that they 
meet with the portfolio holder for finance throughout the year, following the 
model of the Review Group, set up by the current portfolio holder.

3.0 Call-in

3.1 The Committee has so far held two call-in meetings during the past year. As 
these meetings have been infrequent, the Committee increases its experience 
of the process with each meeting

Page 222



3.2 The call-in heard on 30 January focused on the decision in minute no. 303 of 
the Executive meeting held 16 January 2019.

3.3 After questioning and debate, the Committee upheld the Executive decision.

4.0 Recommendations

4.1 That the report be noted.

Councillor Alan Pitcher and Councillor Janet Farebrother
Co-Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 224


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service
	9 Portfolio Holder Reports
	10 Executive Minutes
	11 Reference from Executive 25 February 2019 - Budget 2019-20 - Revenue and Capital
	Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2019/20
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendices C & D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H
	Appendix I
	Appendix J

	12 Council Tax Resolution Report 2019/20
	Appendix A
	Appendix B1
	Appendix B2
	APPENDIX B3 updated
	Appendix C

	13 Reference from Audit Committee 25 February 2019 - Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2019-20
	TMSS  Investment Strategy  MRP policy 2019-2020 - cover report
	Appendix 1 -TMSS Investment strategy  MRP policy statement 2019-2020

	14 Pay Policy Statement 2019/2020
	15 Reference from Executive 25 February 2019 - Council Plan 2019-23
	Council Plan 2019-23
	Appendix 1 for Council Plan 2019-23
	Appendix 2 for Council Plan 2019-23
	Appendix 3 for Council Plan 2019-23

	16 Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

